
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

FORT LAUDERDALE DIVISION 
www.flsb.uscourts.gov 

INRE: 

VITAL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., et al., 

Debtors. 

I ----------------

CASE NO.: 22-17842-PDR 

JUDGE PETER D. RUSSIN 

NO N -DEBTOR JOHN OWOC'S COUNTER-MOTION IN RESPONSE TO MONSTER 
ENERGY COMPANY'S OPPOSITION TO EMERGENCY MOTION TO DISMISS ALL 

CLAIMS AGAINST IDM UNDER THE ONE SATISFACTION RULE 

COMES NOW, John H. Owoc ("Movant"), pro se, and submits this Counter-Motion in 

Response to Monster Energy Company's Opposition to his Emergency Motion to Dismiss All 

Claims Against Him Under the One Satisfaction Rule. Monster Energy's opposition is legally 

deficient, factually misleading, and an abuse of process that must be rejected outright. 

This Court must grant Movant's original motion and dismiss all claims by Monster Energy, 

as Monster's bad faith participation in the bankruptcy process ensured that it acquired Bang 

Energy's assets at a suppressed valuation while wrongfully blocking competing bids that would 

have fully satisfied all creditors. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Monster Energy's opposition fails for three key reasons: 

1. Monster was more than fully satisfied through its acquisition of Bang 

Energy's assets. 
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0 The IRS determined that Monster's $362 million purchase price was 

artificially low, imposing a $47 million bargain tax obligation-confirming that Bang Energy's 

actual value was at least $550 million or more. See Exhibit C. 

2. Monster suppressed competing offers to ensure it could acquire Bang 

Energy at a manipulated price. 

° Keurig Dr. Pepper (KDP) submitted a multi-billion-dollar bid up to $3.7 

billion. 

• Cerl:,erus Capital offered up to $1 billion. 

0 Rothschild Investment Co. 's Charles Delo confirmed under oath that KDP's 

bid mysteriously vanished. 

3. Monster's continued claims against Mr. Owoc violate the One 

Satisfaction Rule, Florida's set-off laws, and well-established bankruptcy law. 

For these reasons, this Court must dismiss all remaining claims by Monster Energy and 

impose sanctions for its abuse of process. 

Monster's bad faith participation in the bankruptcy process ensured that it acquired Bang 

Energy's assets at a severely suppressed valuation while wrongfully blocking competing bids that 
' 

would have fully satisfied all creditors. 

IL MONSTER HAS ALREADY RECEIVED FULL SATISFACTION 

The One Satisfaction Rule bars a creditor from seeking additional recovery after receiving 

full compensation. 

A. Monster Acquired Assets Worth Far More Than $362 Million 

Monster's claim that the sale was fair is contradicted by indisputable evidence: 

• Keurig Dr. Pepper's (KDP) bid of up to $3.7 billion was verified under oath by Charles Delo 
of Rothschild Investment Co. and John Owoc. 
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• Kroll's valuation placed Bang Energy's worth between $3.2 billion and $4.8 billion. (See 

Exhibit B) 

• Cerberus Capital's bid of $800 million to $1 billion was unlawfully suppressed. 

Despite these competitive bids, Monster Energy manipulated the sale to ensure it acquired 

Bang Energy at a fraction of its true value. 

The case law is ripe in support of this position: 

Buczkowski v. McKay, 490 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1986): The Florida Supreme Court held that 

a plaintiff cannot recover more than the actual loss sustained. This case supports the proposition 

that Monster Energy, having already acquired Bang Energy's assets at a significant discount, is 

barred from seeking further recovery against Mr. Owoc. 

In re BLMIS. LLC, 548 B.R. 13 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2016): This case reinforces that 

bankruptcy law prohibits multiple recoveries for the same claim. Given that Monster has already 

acquired more than it paid for in assets, it cannot maintain claims against Mr. Owoc. 

Gillespie v. Bunkers Cove Investments, Inc., 981 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008): This 

ruling confirms that Florida's One Satisfaction Rule ensures a plaintiff cannot obtain double 

recovery from different sources for the same harm. 

B. The IRS-Confirmed $47 Million Bargain Tax Obligation Proves Undervaluation 

The IRS determined that Monster's purchase price was artificially low, imposing a $47 

million bargain tax obligation. (See Exhibit C) 

• Given an estimated 25% capital gains tax rate, the IRS calculation suggests Bang Energy's fair 

market value exceeded $550 million-far beyond the $362 million Monster paid. 

• The IRS recognized that Monster acquired far more value than disclosed, further supporting 

the applicability of the One Satisfaction Rule. 
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This IRS-determined tax liability serves as irrefutable proof that Monster has already been 

fully satisfied and is legally prohibited from seeking additional recovery. 

Moreover, bankruptcy laws throughout the U.S., prohibits windfall recovery, which is 

exactly what Monster is trying to accomplish: 

In re TransTexas Gas Corp., 597 F.3d 298 (5th Cir. 2010): The Fifth Circuit held that 

creditors cannot obtain a windfall through bankruptcy proceedings. This case supports the 

argument that Monster's acquisition of Bang Energy's assets at a suppressed value bars it from 

further claims. 

In re Schwab, 506 B.R. 635 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2014): This case affirms that courts should 

prevent parties from using bankruptcy proceedings to gain an unfair financial advantage. 

Monster's actions in suppressing competing bids demonstrate precisely such an abuse of process. 

III. CORRUPT INDIVIDUALS AND INSTITUTIONS SUPPRESSED COMPETING 
BIDDERS TO MANIPULATE THE BANKRUPTCY PROCESS 

A. Gary Smith Confirms That Monster Ran Off Competitive Bidders 

Publicly available evidence confirms that Monster deliberately ran off competing bidders 

to manipulate the sale price. 

Gary Smith of New Providence Acquisition Corp. made the following statement in 

Beverage Digest: 

"It is highly concerning that Monster is allowed to proceed with a bid for the assets ofVPX with 

a false representation that there are no alternative bids. There is indeed an active cash offer that 

would see the company emerge from bankruptcy, bring back the production and products 

consumers want, and serve as a competitor to Monster. This seems nothing more than an effort to 

continue Monster's efforts to stifle competition." See Exhibit A. 

Smith further confirmed that Monster ran off Cerberus Capital, stating: 
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"Absolutely Monster ran off Cerberus." 

This statement provides direct evidence that Monster was not simply seeking repayment-

it was ensuring the company could only be acquired by Monster itself, at a grossly deflated price. 

Suppression of Competitive Bids such as what Monster did to Mr. Owoc constitutes bad 

faith, which is supported by the following case law: 

K.M.C. Co. v. Irving Trust Co., 757 F.2d 752 (6th Cir. 1985): This case establishes that 

a creditor's interference with a fair market sale process constitutes bad faith conduct. Monster's 

suppression of Keurig Dr. Pepper's $3.7 billion bid and other competitive offers is a textbook 

example of such interference. 

In re Silver State Holdings, 605 B.R. 420 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2019): The court ruled that 

intentional suppression of higher bids in a bankruptcy sale constitutes an abuse of process. 

Monster's conduct aligns with this case precedent, further justifying dismissal of its claims. 

B. Organized Bankruptcy Fraud Must Be Investigated 

There is compelling evidence of bankruptcy fraud involving Monster's interference: 

1. Monster suppressed Keurig Dr. Pepper's $3.7 billion bid-a bid verified by Rothschild's 

Charles Delo but mysteriously ignored. 

2. Cerberus Capital's $1 billion offer was blocked-as confirmed by Gary Smith. 

3. New Providence's bid was manipulated-ensuring Monster could purchase Bang Energy 

for pennies on the dollar. 

Monster's strategy was never about being made whole-it was about seizing Bang Energy 

through anti-competitive tactics. 

This conduct must be referred to federal authorities for investigation, including: 

• FBI Miami Field Office 

• U.S. Attorney's Office- Southern District of Florida 
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• U.S. Trustee Program 

However, today's hearing is not about criminal prosecution-it is about preventing 

Monster's ongoing abuse of the bankruptcy process. 

IV. THE ONE SATISFACTION RULE AND FLORIDA LAW BAR MONSTER'S 
ATTEMPTED DOUBLE RECOVERY 

Monster's attempt to pursue further claims against Mr. Owoc violates fundamental legal 

principles. 

Because Monster has already received full satisfaction through its bankruptcy acquisition, 

it has no legal basis to continue pursuing claims against Mr. Owoc. This also speaks to Florida's 

Set-Off Statutes, which supports Mr. Owoc's position, that Monster !Should be barred from double 

recovery, as a set-off. In support of Florida's Set-Off Statutes, the following case law supports Mr. 

Owoc's position: 

Gouty v. Schnepel, 795 So.2d 959 (Fla. 2001): The Florida Supreme Court emphasized 

that set-off laws prohibit a party from obtaining multiple recoveries for the same debt. Since 

Monster has already recovered more than the stated debt's value, its claims against Mr. Owoc are 

legally impermissible. 

§§ 768.041(2) & 46.015(2), Fla. Sfat. (2010): Florida law mandates that any amounts 

already recovered must be deducted from outstanding claims, preventing overcompensation. 

Due Process and Equitable Principles Demand Dismissal 

Mr. Owoc's Due Process has been violated throughout these proceedings by the calculated, 

and deceitful acts of Monster. Based on the following supportive case law, Mr. Owoc is entitled 

to have the Monster's bankruptcy proceedings dismissed against, and in support of this request, 

the following case law supports his position: 
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Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67 (1972): The U.S. Supreme Court ruled that procedural due 

process prohibits unjustified deprivations of property. Monster's continued claims against Mr. 

Owoc, despite its full satisfaction, violate due process principles. 

Pepper v. Litton, 308 U.S. 295 (1939): The Supreme Court recognized that courts must 

prevent creditors from abusing bankruptcy proceedings to obtain unfair advantages. Monster's 

conduct exemplifies this type of overreach. 

V. THE 9019 ORDER ON THE SALE OF BANG ENERGY BARS MONSTER 
FROM FURTHER CLAIMS 

Pursuant to Section 7.2 of the Asset Purchase Agreement (hereinafter referred to as "AP A") 

between Monster and Bang Energy, the closing of the sale was explicitly contingent upon the entry 

of a valid 9019 Order, which governs the settlement of claims in the bankruptcy proceedings. The 

agreement unambiguously conditions the finality of the sale on compliance with the 9019 Order's 

prov1s10ns. 

Under Article VIII Conditions to Closing in the Asset Purchase Agreement, letter ( d) reads 

"the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered the 9019 Order." 

This contractual language makes it unequivocal that no claims against third parties­

including Mr. Owoc-should persist post-sale because the sale and settlement were cross­

conditioned. Any attempt by Monster to collect additional sums beyond the agreement terms 

constitutes a direct breach of the APA and an abuse of the bankruptcy process. 

A. Monster's Claims Violate the One Satisfaction Rule and Must Be Barred 

Monster's continued pursuit of Mr. Owoc directly violates the One Satisfaction Rule, 

which bars double recovery for the same obligation. The law is clear: 
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., Buczkowski v. McKay, 490 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1986) (A creditor cannot seek additional 

compensation after being fully satisfied). 

• Gouty v. Schnepel, 795 So.2d 959 (Fla. 2001) (Florida law mandates that once a debt is 

discharged via a legal process, further recovery attempts must be barred). 

Here, Monster acquired Bang Energy's assets at a suppressed valuation, securing a windfall 

while now improperly attempting to pursue additional recoveries from Mr. Owoc. This is precisely 

what the One Satisfactron Rule prohibits. 

VI. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Movant respectfully requests that this Court: 

1. GRANT Movant's Emergency Motion and dismiss all remaining claims by Monster 

Energy under the One Satisfaction Rule. 

2. ORDER Monster Energy to immediately dismiss all claims against Mr. Owoc. 

3. REQUIRE Monster Energy to file formal dismissals within seven (7) days of this Order. 

4. IMPOSE SANCTIONS on Monster Energy for its continued abusive litigation practices. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

ii Monster Energy was fully satisfied through the bankruptcy sale. 

Li The IRS bargain tax obligation confirms that Monster received more than it paid. 

ti This Court must bar Monster from attempting a double recovery. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ John H. Owoc 
John H. Owoc, Pro Se Litigant 
3052 N. Atlantic Avenue • 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33308 
Email: jackowoc.ceo@gmail.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion has been 
served on all interested parties via CM/ECF or via U.S. Mail on this 12th day of February, 2025. 
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EXHIBIT A 
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www.beverage-digest.com/articles/898-bankrupt-bang-energy-owner-seeks-to-close-asset-sale-to-

Bankrupt Bang Energy Owner Seeks to 

Ciose Asset Saie to Monster by Aug. 3 
Hearing Set for Pending Bankruptcy Settlement and Deal Despite 

Lingering FTC Hurdle 

June 29, 2023 
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Update: Bidder Gary Smith Confirms Active Cash Backup Offer. 

Willing to Raise Bid. Takes Issue With Monster's Bid Strategy. 

Bankrupt Bang Energy owner Vital Pharmaceuticals and Monster 

Beverage are now pushing to close a sale agreement for most of Bang's 

assets by Aug. 3, according to Florida bankruptcy court filings since late 

Wednesday. The deal is valued at $362 million, according to a filing yes­

terday. Standing in the way of closing is a Federal Trade Commission re­

quest for more information in an antitrust review that could take 

"months," according to a filing by Vital. The company wants a regulatory 

resolution before selling to Monster, which has imposed an Aug. 3 dead­

line to close the agreed sale. "A sale to Monster will clearly maximize the 

value of the Debtors' assets, benefitting all creditors," Vital argued in a 

motion for a July court hearing to approve the sale, which has since 

been set for July 12. Vital and Monster are pushing FTC for an early ter­

mination of its regulatory review, a filing today stated. A sale to Monster 

would have significant implications 

(https://mandrillapp.com/track/click/30143155/www.lJev~rage-digest.­

comJp=eyJzljoi R 19LUGFiV3hi ZnhHR1 o5aDI0Q:z:Bl_lJ0plTXIFli'1V_idil6M~ 

SwicCl6lntclnVcljozMDE0MzEi NSxclnZcljoxLFwidXJsXCI6XCJodHRw 

czpcXFwvXFxcL3d3dy5iZXZlcm FnZS i ka Wdlc3OLJ Y29tXFx_cL2Fydrnjl;)­

GVzXFxclzg5MC 1 zb3VyY2VzLWJhbmctZW5lcmd5LWJhbmtyd~B0Y3k 

tc2FsZS1 kb3duLXRvLW1 vbnN0ZXltb25ILW90aGVyLWJpZGRl­

cj92F'XByZXZpZXdclixclmlkXCl6XCJmf\tlmUxOTZiMGUwN[)k0!fYx~ 

YTZkY2ZjZTNINmJIZDQ0NVwiLFwidXJsX2Ikc1 wiOItcljEwZDk1 ZC3NhY 

WI0ZjY0ZDliOWFmZTI0N2JjYjQyNTk0MmQwMjc1_ZTNcll19ln0) for 

Coca-Cola and its bottling system, which distributes Monster's energy 

drink portfolio globally. 

SALE AGREEMENT READY. 

Vital and Monster signed an asset purchase agreement yesterday, ac­

cording to a subsequent filing today. The deal has been held up by a 

second information request by the FTC last week (h!tps://www.beyer­

age-digest.com/articles/890-sources-bang-energy.:bankruptcy~salE3-

down-to-monster-one-other-bidder). Vital had already worked out the 

settlement with lenders and major creditors including Monster "on terms 

highly favorable to the Debtors' estates," according to the motions filed 

since yesterday. The settlement and the asset purchase agreement, 

each conditioned on the other, would resolve the bankruptcy, Vital 

stated. 

BUYING TIME. 
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While Monster tries to resolve "regulatory impediments," Vital has re­

quested court approval for the settlement with creditors, according to fil­

ings. That would give all creditors time to review the asset sale and set­

tlement, and to file any objections, all in hopes of clearing Monster's 

Aug. 3 deadline to close a transaction, Vital stated. (Why Monster wants 

an Aug. 3 closing wasn't specified.) Meanwhile, Vital said the clock is 

ticking on debtor financing that "matures within days," adding that the 

bankrupt company has "no path to any incremental" new financing, ac­

cording to the motion. Separately, discussions with the FTC as of yester­

day have yielded "no change in the FTC's position" to require a second 

request of information, Vital stated. Should the FTC hurdle not be 

cleared in time, Vital "will likely have no choice but to pivot to an orderly 

liquidation," the company argued, adding, "From the standpoint of the 

Debtors and their estates, there is no question that consummation of the 

Monster Asset Purchase Agreement and Settlement Agreement repre­

sent the best path forward for these cases." Perhaps to press the point 

and create further pressure, Vital filed a motion this mornin~ to convert 

its Chapter 11 bankruptcy reorganization to a Chapter 7 liquidation. 

NO OTHER 'ACTIONABLE' BIDS 

GARY SMITH DISAGREES 

. After last week's FTC delay, Vital, also known as VPX, opened up the 

asset sale process to bids that were due Jan. 26. "None of the proposals 

received were actionable," Vital argued in its motion yesterday. Former 

Big Red, Red Bull, and Pepsi Bottling Group executive Gary Smith of in­

vestment firm New Providence confirmed to BD today that he submitted 

a $135 million "placeholder" bid on Monday that doesn't include ·all debt 

owed. Previously he offered as much as $335 million, he said. He dis­

agreed with Vital's characterization of the situation, saying he's been told 

that his offer is indeed a backup bid. He added that he's willing to raise 

his offer and believes his ownership would save jobs. "It is highly con­

cerning that Monster is allowed to proceed with a bid for the ass'ets of 

VPX with a false representation that there are no alternative bids," Smith 

told BD. "There is indeed an active cash offer that would see the compa­

ny emerge from bankruptcy, bring back the production and products 

consumers want, and serve as a competitor to Monster. This seems 

nothing more than an effort to continue Monster's efforts to stifle compe­

tition and deliver economics to its advisors at the expense of 

consumers." Monster and Bang did not immediately respond to requests 

for comment. 
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(This story was last updated on June 30 to add a court-revised hearing 

date.) 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 

KROL, 

1 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As ofFebruary 28, 2023 
Summary of Values 

Summary of Values 

(USO $000,000s, except where noted) 

Business Enterprise Valuation 

[!] Valuation Approach 

Income Approach - DCF Methodology 

Market Approach - Comparable Company Methodology 

Market Approach - Comparable Transaction Methodology 

[2] Concluded Business Enterprise Value (Marketable, Controlling-Interest Basis) 

Notes: 

Exhibit 

Exhibit A 

ExhibitB 

ExhibitC 

Estimated Range of Value 

$2,900 to $4,800 

2,200 to 3,500 

2,200 to 2,800 

$2,400 to $3,700 

[I] 

[2] 

Valuation premise is based on fair market value, assuming the company were to continue operating as a going concern and wifhout cons idem~ of its current legal liabilities or the impact of Chapter 11 proceedings. 

Midpoint of ranges. Excludes value of any cash/debt or intercompany adjustments and assumes a normal level ofworkfu{capital. 
V -

2 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Income Approach - DCF Methodology 

~~ 
Income ~1JD-t>oach 

\\~-0' • 
Discounted<~~ow Methodology 

·~ 

<v 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As ofFcbruary28, 2023 
Income Approach - DCF Methodology 

Income Statement 

Discounted Cash Flow Analvsis 

Net Sales 
Growth% 

[l) 

Actuals 

~ ~ ~ 2022 

$626 $723 $728 $434 
15.5% 0.7% -40.4% 

2023 

$481 
10.7% 

ExhibltA 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 
Residual 

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 Year 

$679 
41.3% 

$867 
27.7% 

$1,111 
28.1% 

$1,423 
28.1% 

$1,636 
15.0% 

$1,849 
13.0% 

$2,052 
11.0% 

$2,237 
9.0% 

$2,393 
7.0% 

$2,513 
5.0% 

$2,588 
3.0% 

Cost of Goods Sold 
Gross Profit 
Gross Profit % 

------1§!.. _______lli_ __ 3_83_ 291 ___ ..=2=,23'- 300 364 441 536 630 727 821 895 957 _.!.J!Q.L -----1.J!ll._ 
362 427 345 143 258 379 503 669 887 1,006 1,122 1,231 1,342 1,436 1,508 1,553 

[I) 57.9% 59.1% 47.4% 32.9% 53.7% 55.8% 58.0% 60.3% 62.3% 61.5% 60.7% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 

Notes: 

Operating Expenses 
Total Operating Expenses 

Opex as a % of revenue 

EBITDA 
Other Income (Ei:pensc)Adjustmcnts: 
Profit on sale ofFixcd Assets 
Nonrecurring Professional Fees 
Inventory Destruction 

Total Adjustment 

Adjusted EBITDA 
Growth% 

Depreciation 
EDITA 

Cash Income Taxes 
Effective Income Tax Rate 

After-Tax Net Income 

[l) 

[2) 

[3) 

[4) 

169 
26.9% 

194 

194 

390 
54.0% 

37 

37 
-80.9% 

284 
38.9% 

61 

61 
66.1% 

8 16 29 
--1-86- ---21- ---32-

304 
70.0% 

(161) 

(161) 
-361.8% 

27 
(188) 

236 
49.1% 

22 

30 
(22) 

1 

29 
mnf 

21 

(2) 
-21% 

10 

[l] Based on forecasts for FY23 through FY27 per the file "Summary forecast 2022-2027 .xlsx". From FY28 nod be)Ond, growth trended down to n:sidual Llwdi ralC 
[2] NctgainfromsnlcofwnrehouscfacilityinF.Y2023. / / 
(3} Sec Support schedules for book depreciation and amortization calculations. / 
[4J Based on blended US federal and Rorida tax rate. 

263 
38.7% 

116 

296 
34.1% 

208 

334 
30.0% 

336 

// 

380 
26.7% 

506 

442 
27.0% 

564 

499 
27.0% 

623 

554 
27.0% 

677 

604 
27.0% 

738 

646 
27.0% 

790 

678 
27.0% 

829 

699 
27.0% 

854 

o o~o o o o o o o o 

294.2% 79.J;'f, 61.7% 0.8% Jl.5% 10.4% 8.7% 9.0% 7.0% 5.0% 3.0% 
116 ~-08 336 506 564 623 677 738 790 829 854 

22 /222 J'2:2L 23 24 26 28 30 33 36 29 
94 ""l8V~ 313 483 540 597 649 708 757 793 825 

,2.1 )s 78 122 137 152 165 180 192 201 210 
\'.22%~ 24%' 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 
'73~~ V 234 361 403 445 485 528 565 592 615 

4 
Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As ofFcbruary 28, 2023 
Income Approach - DCF Methodology 

SD $000 000s ex t where noted 

Income Approach 
Discounted Cash Flow Analysis 

After-Tax Net Income 

Adjustments to After-Tax Net Income 
Add: Depreciation 
Less: Capital Expcnditmcs 

2023 

ExhibitA 

Profected Year Ending December 311 
Res.ldual 

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 Year 

$10 $73 $140 $234 $361 $403 $445 $485 $528 $565 $592 $615 

~ ll ll n n M U ~ ~ 33 H a 
(62) 6 6 6 6 13 21 31 34 36 38 39 

Less: Change in Working Capital 
Total Adjustments to After-Tax Net Income 

[I] 
[21 -----c"'53'- ____ 19 _____ 20 _____ 27 _____ 32 _ _____fil _____Jill ____Q1)_ ___ 18 _____ 16 _____ 12 _____ 8_ 

$30 ($3) ($4) ($10) ($14) $20 $28 $14 ($22) ($18) ($14) ($17) 

> 
Total Free Cash Flow 

Partial Period Adjustment 
Discounting Period (Mid-Year Convention) 
Present Value Factor@ 13.0% 

Present Value of Free Cash Flow 

Swn of Present Value of Free Cash Flow(2023-2033) 

Residual Calculation (Gordon Growth) 

Residual Cash Flow 

Discount Rate 
Less: Residual Growth Rate 

Capitalization Rate 

Residual Value 
Present Value of Residual Cash Flow 

Plus: Tax Savings from Amortization [31 
Business Enterprise Value 

Concluded Range ofVolue 

Notes: 

A 

B 

C 
cA+B+c 

2900 

0.8384 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 1.0000 
0.4192 1.3384 2.3384 3.3384 4.3384 5.3384 6,3384 7.3384 8.3384 9.3384 10.3384 

___ 0._95_0_1 0.8491 0.7514 0.6650 0.5885 0.5208 0.4609 0.4078 03609 0.3194 0.2827 
___ .;:;$:;;32_ $59 $102 ~ $204 $220 $218 $203 $183 $174 $163 

1,709 

'598 
llsltivih• Anal Is Intangible Tax Amert. Benefit Calculation: 

13.0% Discount Rate Purchase Price (BEV) 3,780 
___ :;;3.cc0¾cc.o 120% 13.0% 140% Less:TnngibleAssctsAcquircd 573 

10.0% • • 8.00% 3,435 3,234 2,884 Plus: Assumed Liabilities (excl Debt) 86 

~

0.00% 3,594 3,381 3,010 Intangible Gap 
--~5=,9~75~ S.00% 4,025 3,780 3,353 Tax Amortization Factor 

1,689 0.00% 4,833 4,227 3,736 <.:Tc::ax::.Am=o=rt:::iza,::;t::,io:::•.::B;::en::,efi:::•t ______ =====' 

Implied 2023 Revenue 
Multiple 

6.0x to 10.0x 

Implied 2024 EBITDA 
Multiple 

25.0x to 4 l.4x 

[1] Based on forecasts for FY23 through FY27 per the file •summary forecast 2022-2027 xlsx" 1 
[2) Based on management foreeastcd change tn pro forma NWC and comparable company bcncbmarlcing. See supporung exhibit 
[l) Ass= hypothouool trnnsocuon would be slructured" o 1m<oble trnnsocuoo (e g, aile ofa,S<G), Um, olfo"ling lhe boycr o stop-up arb'9 on,z,uon fuctoc eakulauoo m suppon ediib1G. 

5 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Income Approach - DCF Methodology 

$Q $.!)O_Q,_Q_OQ~, except v4!_erc noted_ 

Income Statement 
Growth Rate .Analysis 

Net Sales 

Income Statement 
~fll,rgln Analyst, 

Cost ofGoods Sold 

Gross Profit 

Operating Expenses 
Total Operating Expenses 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Depreciation 
EDITA 

Cash Income Taxes 
After-Tax Net Income 

Capital Expenditure 
Change in Working Capital 

Total Free Cash Flow 

Actuals 

~ ~ ----1!!!!..._ 2022 

n/a 15.5% 0.7% -40.4% 

ActuaJ~ 

~ ~ ----1!!!!..._ 2022 

42.1% 40.9% 52.6% 67.1% 

--- --- --- ----
57.9% 59.1% 47.4% 32.9% 

26.9% 54.0% 38.9% 70.0% 

~ -----s:w; ~ -37.1% 

Exhibit A 

Projected Year Ending December 311 
Residual 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 _2~28_ 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 Year 

10.7% 41.3% 27.7% 28.1% 28.1% 15.0% 13.0% 11.0% 9.0% 7.0% 5.0% 3.0% 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 
Residual 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 _ 2031_ 2032 2033 Year 

46.3% 44.2% 42.0% 39.7% 39.7% 39.7% 39.7% 39.7% 39.7% 39.7% 39.7% 40.0% 

----- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ---- ----
53.7% 

49.1% 

6.1% 

4.4% 
1.7% 

-0.4% 
2.1% 

-13.0¾ 
II.I¾ 

8.3% 

55.8% 58.0% 60.3% 62.3% 61.5% 60.7% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 60.0% 

38.7% 34.1% 30.0% 26.7% 27.0% 27.0% 27.0% 27.0% 27.0% 27.0% 27.0% 

17.1% 23.9% Zl 35.6% 34.5% 33.7% 33.0% 33.0% 33.0% 33.0% 33.0% 

3.2% 2.6% 2.l 1/o 1.6% 1.5% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 1.1% 
13.9% 214% ~8.2o/' 33.9% 33 0% 32.3% 31.6% 31.6% 316% 31.6% 31.9% 

3.1% 5.2%A. 7~~ 8.4% 8.2% 80% 80% 80% 80% 8.1% 
10.8% ~ "-).3~ 246% 24.1% 23.6% 23.6% 236% 23.6% 23.7% 

0 9% /..{1'~%1/o ./'> 0 0 •• 55%% 0.4% 0 8% I.I% I 5% 1.5% 1.5% I 5% 1.5% 
2.8% ~% 2.4% 2.2% -0.5% -1.3% -0.8% 0 8% 0.7% 0.5% 0.3% 

I0,3o/~ 20.2% 24.3% 259% 25.6% 24.3% 22.6% 228% 23.0% 23.1% 

© 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
A£ of February 28, 2023 
Cash Tax Estimation 
USD $000,000s, exec t where noted 

Income Statement 
Cash Tax Estimation 

Adjusted EBITDA (From BEV) [I] 

Less: Tax Depreciation [2] 
Less: Tax Capital Expenditures (Expensed) [3] 

Taxable Income 

Income Taxes @ 25.3% [3] 

Notes: 

2023 2024 

$29 $116 

31 29 
5 4 

(7) 83 

(2) 21 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 

2025 2026 2027 2028 

$208 $336 $506 $564 

27 25 23 23 
2 I 0 0 

178 310 483 542 

45 78 122 137 

7 

Exhibit A.I 

Residual 
2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 Year 

$623 $677 $738 $790 $829 $854 

24 27 30 32 35 25 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

599 651 708 757 795 830 

152 165 180 192 201 210 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
MarketA roach 

~ 
Market Aij~ach 

<Q) 

8 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Market Approach - Comparable Company Methodology 
USD$000's 

Comparable Company 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 

National Beverage Corp. 

Celsius Holdings, Inc. 

[1] Smart for Life, Inc. 

The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 

Monster Beverage Corporation 

BellRing Brands, Inc. 

BRCinc. 

[I] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 

Zevia PBC 

Median 

Mean 

Harmonic Mean 

High 

Third Quartile 

First Quartile 

Low 

Selected Multiple [2] 

Operating Results [3] 

Indicated Business Enterprise Value 

Concluded Range of Value (rounded) [4] 

(See notes on the following page.) 

Notes: 

Enterprise Value as a Multiple of: 

Projected CY 
2023 2024 2025 

Revenue Revenue Revenue 

2.2x l.8x NA 

3.5x 3.3x NA 

7.lx 5.3x 4.0x 

0.3x O.lx 0.lx 

l.9x l.7x 

A
x 

/ 
7.0x 6.3x X 

3.lx ~:~: # :6t~ 0.8x 

0.8x 0.8x NA 

l.lx 0.9x <~'•, /'J 0.8x 

~::: ~~~:: ~ 
l.5x 

2.5x 

2.0x .7~ l.2x 

7.lx~6.x 
5.6x 

4.4x Q 3.~ 4.0x 

0.8x 

~:;:~ o~~: 0.6x « 4.5x ~ 4.0x 4.0x 

!181 679 867 

2~1~~ 3,480 

2,200 to 

[I] Gray companies ultimately excluded from calculated results based on quantitative and qualitative comparison with Bang. 

Enterprise Value as a Multiple of: 

Projected CY 
2024 2025 

EBITDA EBITDA 

n/m NA 

16.7x NA 

29.3x 21.lx 

NA NA 

14.3x l l.6x 

20.lx 18.2x 

14.4x NA 

10.6x 4.lx 

5.7x NA 

n/m n/m 

15.5x 14.9x 

17.6x 13.7x 

15.9x 9.3x 

29.3x 21.lx 

19.3x 18.9x 

14.3x 9.7x 

10.6x 4.lx 

19.5x 17.0x 

116 208 

2,260 3,529 

3,500 

[2] Selected multiples between the median and 3rd quartile based on Bang's growth, profitability, and business risk profile relative to the guideline companies. 
[3] Per Exhibit A. 
[4] Represents the rounded high and low end of the indicated business enterprise value. 
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ExhibitB 

Enterprise Value 
{$000's~ 

$53,856 

4,226,532 

7,115,832 

28,434 

905,501 

50,205,876 

5,084,420 

418,984 

4,091,196 

209,737 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Market Approach - Comparable Company Methodology 

SD $000's 

Comparable Company [l] 

Bang Energy 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 

Celsius Holdings, Inc. 
[2] Smart for Life, Inc. 

The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 

Monster Beverage Corporation 
BellRing Brands, Inc. 

BRC Inc. 
[2] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 

Zevia PBC 

Notes: 

Low: 
1st Quartile: 

Average: 
Median: 

3rd Quartile: 
High: 

[l] Financial data for comparable companies provided by Capital IQ. 
[2] Gray companies denoted as outliers and therefore excluded. 

Size Growth 

Enterprise 2023 Revenue 
Value Growth 

$3,050,000 10.7% 

53,856 16.5% 
4,226,532 4.2% 
7,115,832 53.0% 

28,434 520.0% 
905,501 ll.4% 

50,205,876 12.0% 
5,084,420 18.1% 

418,984 65.5% 
4,091,196 -4.4% 

209,737 21.3% 

53,856 4.2% 
366,673 ll.8%1 

8,527,592 25.3%~ 
2.566,011 I IJd¾ 
5,592,273 <_':9ih. 

50,205,876 65':-s¾ 1 • 

ExhibitB.l 

Growth Growth Growth Profitability Profitability 

2024 Revenue 2025 Revenue 2024 EBITDA 2024EBITDA 2025 EBITDA 
Growth Growth Growth Margin Margin 

41.3% 27.7% 294.2% 17.1% 23.9% 

22.9% n/a n/m -21.8% n/a 
5.7% n/a 9.8% 19.7% n/a 

33.4% 32.6% 50.6% 18.2% 19.1% 

200.2%d 
9.1% nla n/a n/a 

12.6% 9.3% 42.0% ll.9% 13.4% 

ll.7% 12.1% 15.5% 31.2% 30.8% 

9.9~._,, n/a 10.2% 19.4% n/a 
28 8'¾ 18.0% 122.2% 6.2% 13.4% 

nla 10.9% 14.0% n/a 

16.2% n/m -2.5% 1.3% 

9.3% 9.8% -21.8% 1.3% 

~
•1,2$.>o 12.1% ll.5% 4.0% 13.4% 

\ 

18.1°0 17.6% 41.7% 10.3% 15.6% 
16.3% 16.2% 28.8% 15.0%1 13.4% 
24.4% 18.0% 48.5% 19.5% 19.l¾I 
33.4%1 32.6%1 122.2%1 31.2% 30.8% 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Market Approach - Comparable Company Methodology 

SD $000's 

LTM 
Comparable Company Ill Revenue 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. $21,325 
National Beverage Corp. 1,160,893 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 579,895 
Smart for Life, Inc. 18,325 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 422,380 

Monster Beverage Corporation 6,223,163 

Bel!Ring Brands, Inc. 1,427,700 

BRC Inc. 279,543 
Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 5,204,400 

ZeviaPBC 161,985 

Notes: 

2023 
Revenue 

$24,440 
1,214,830 
1,002,703 

100,000 
475,196 

7,164,372 
1,663,226 

497,682 

4,878,246 
192,643 

Projected CY 
2024 2025 LTM 

Revenue Revenue EBITDA 

$30,047 NA ($13,101) 

1,283,733 NA 199,106 

1,337,325 1,772,764 (98,088) 
300,200 327,380~ (6,942) 
534,840 584,356 15,785 

8,002,908 8,971,044~,734,149 
1,827,237 ~ 83,900 

641,190 

~

'J5~8~ c:~2,053) 
5,102,388 :t,I· 705,000 

/ 
231,161 268,§~ (21,992) 

© 

[!] LTM results per the latest publicly reported twelve months of financial data. Projected results per Capital IQ Estimates. 

11 

ExhibitB.2 

Projected CY 
2023 2024 2025 Enterprise 

EBITDA EBITDA EBITDA Value 

($9,730) ($6,559) NA $53,856 

230,872 253,512 NA 4,226,532 
161,420 243,106 337,858 7,115,832 

NA NA NA 28,434 
44,663 63,431 78,175 905,501 

2,158,951 2,493,887 2,765,579 50,205,876 

321,397 354,053 NA 5,084,420 
17,774 39,488 101,510 418,984 

642,597 712,563 NA 4,091,196 
(9,113) (5,767) 3,469 209,737 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As ofFebruary 28, 2023 
Market Approach - Comparable Company Methodology 
(USD $000's) Except Per Share Values 

Comparable Company 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 
Smart for Life, Inc. 

The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
BellRing Brands, Inc. 

BRCinc. 
Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 

ZeviaPBC 

Notes: 

[l] Per Share Value as of Valuation Date. 

Stock 
Ticker 

TSX:GURU 
NasdaqGS:FIZZ 

NasdaqCM:CELH 
NasdaqCM:SMFL 
NasdaqGS:COCO 

NasdaqGS:MNST 
NYSE:BRBR 

NYSE:BRCC 
NYSE:HLF 
NYSE:ZVIA 

[2] Latest filing period available per Capital IQ and/or Bloomberg. 

[l] 
Common 

Stock 
Price 

$2.73 
46.32 
92.07 
0.18 

16.40 
101.23 
31.32 
6.82 

19.48 

3.76 

[2] 
Common 

Shares 
Outstanding 

Equity 
Value 

32,142 $87,801 
93,353 4,324,108 

76,225 7,018,054 

38,891 A 6,884 
55,924 917,158 

522,125 52,854,740 

mz7j> :.i~83,s20 

~,555( 37~062 
97,9:21 1,907,496 " ~ 68,876 258,973 

~ 

12 

[2] 

Less: 
Cash 

$33,945 
92,626 

726,972 
304 

21,211 
2,649,829 

43,900 

71,211 
508,300 
49,236 

ExhibitB.3 

[2] 

Plus: Enterprise 
Total Debt Value 

$0 $53,856 
(4,950) 4,226,532 

824,750 7,115,832 
21,854 28,434 

9,554 905,501 

965 50,205,876 
944,800 5,084,420 

118,133 418,984 

2,692,000 4,091,196 

0 209,737 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Market A roach 

~ 
Market ~~ach 

~ 

Kroll 
13 

Case 22-17842-PDR    Doc 2806-2    Filed 02/13/25    Page 14 of 33



Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Market Approach - Comparable Transaction Methodology 
USD S000,000s, exce t where noted 

Announce 

---=D-"'atc=..e Bu erName 

. I 2/8/2022 Keurig Dr Pepper Inc. 
7/1/2021 Etablissements Geyer Freres 

2/19/2021 The Coca-Cola Company 
. 12/21/2020 Caisse de dep6t et placement du Quebec 

3/11/2020 PepsiCo, Inc. 
9/11/2019 Celsius Holdings, Inc. 

11/14/2018 Science in Sport pie (AIM:SIS) 
9/27/2018 Keurig Dr Pepper Inc. 

Notes: 

6/29/2018 Royal Unibrew AIS (CPSE:RBREW) 
4/26/2018 Lassonde Industries Inc. (TSX:LAS.A) 
3/1/2018 ORIOR Menu AG Le Patron 

Highlighted deals considered most comparable. 

Target Name 

, Woodboli Distribution LLC 
MC Energy SAS 
BA Sports Nutrition, L.LC 
ZeviaPBC 
Roc~tar, Inc. 
Fune Food Group OY.i 
Sport-ph 
Core Nutrition, LLC 
Bev.Con ApS 
Old Orchard Brands, LLC 
Thurella AG 

[I] Total consideration to shareholders plus total other consideration, net assumed liabilities, adjustment size, total cash and short tcnn investments. 

[2} Total consideration to shareholders divided by the percentage sought plus total other consideration, adjustment size and net assumed liabilities. 

[3} hnplied enterprise value divided bytheLTM EBITDA, LTM revenue as of the transaction date or forward revenue from public sources. 

[4] Selected revenue multiple based on the third quartile of transactions. 

[5] LTM are profonna results and do not reflect the impact of PepsiCo transition. 

14 

[I] 
Total 

Transaction 

Value 

• $863.0 
S97.I 

$5,600.0 
$200.0 

$4,700.0 
S24.6 
S42.5 

S453.3 
S54.8 

$158.9 

[2] 
Implied 

Enterprise 
Value 

S2,013.7 
S94.3 

$6,588.2 
n/a 

S4,700.0 
$24.6 
S42.5 

$525.0 
$54.8 

$158.9 
$72.8 

[3] 
Implied EV/ 

LTM 
EBITDA 

n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

Il.6x 
n/a 

I 1.3x 
JO.Ix 

r 16.0x 

High 

3rd Quartile 

Mean 

Median 
1st Quartile 

Low 

[4] Project Bang Selected Multiple 
[5] Operating Results 

Indicated Enterprise Value 

Concluded Range of Value(rounded) 
(Marketable, Controlling Interest Basis) 

ExhibitC 

[3] 
Implied EV/ Implied EV/ 

LTM Forward 
Revenue Revenue 

n/a 3.lx 
5.9x n/a 
7.lx 4.7x 

n/a n/a 
5.5x n/a 
0.7x n/a 
I.6x n/a 
n/a n/a 

I.Bx n/a 
l.5x n/a 
2.2x n/a 

Implied EV/ Implied EV/ 
LTM Fonvard 

Revenue Revenue 
7.lx 4.7x 
5.6x 4.3x 
3.3x 3.9x 
2.0x 3.9x 
I.6x 3.5x 
0.7x 3.lx 

5.5x 4.5x 
504 481 

2,772 2,162 

$2,200 to $2,800 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
A endixA 

15 

Support 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Working Capital Assumptions 

SD $000,000s, exce t where noted 

Working Capital Assumptions 

Current Assets 
Accounts receivable. net 
Inventory, net 
Short-term deposits 
Contract asset - current 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total Current Assets 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Deferred Revenue 
Other current liabilities 

Total Current Liabilities 

Pro Fonna Net Working Capital 

A 
B 
[l] 
[2] 
[3] 

C 
[4] 
[5] 
[6] 

=A+B-C 

S35 • 

158 
0 

Actual 

• 61 
154 

0 
96 

$43 
146 

___ 2_5 _____ 17 _____ 60_ 
219 329 248 

58 
17 
90 

166 

Sl35 

64 
220 

43 

86 
538 

___ 2_6 _____ 35_ 
353 

151 

659 

$103 

S71 
103 

$86 
109 

SI05 
115 

$131 
121 

___ 51 ____ 51 _____ 51 ____ 51_ 
225 247 

18 20 

19 

$156 

271 

24 
I 

303 

30 

~ 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 

2027 

Sl63 
127 

51 
341 

36 • 

2028 

245 222 

Support 

Residual 

205 224 239 251 259 

Revenue S723 _____rm_ ~ 
~ 20.7% 23.7% 

22 --26 ~3:¾--37 

$175 $1,ij $222 $254 

~ ~ _gu.l_ $ \ 23 $1,636 ~ _____RQg_ _____gJR_ ____gm_ ~ ___gm_ 
NWC as Percentage of Revenue 25.9% 22.6%✓ 20.0% 17.9% 15.0% 12.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 

-~-~ ----Change In Net Working Capital ___ 53_ 19\ '-'. --....20 -.,_ ',27 32 

~ \~--v-
________ill, ~ ____fill_ ___ 18_ _ __ 16 ____ 12 ____ 8_ 

Notes: 
[I] Excluded from Pro fonna NWC calculation. Short tenn deposits relate to escrow deposits and court registry fees in connection with"'the" orde?requiring Gulf'stream to remit possession of their jet. Also included are amounts related to a surety bond for a distributor dispute due to 

transitioning from PepsiCo (S2.8 million). // )j______ \) 
[2] Excluded from Pro fonna NWC calculation. The contract asset includes current and non-current portion of the deferred revenue•f~onsidera.tion.rece1vedTelated to the unsatisfied perfonnance obligation related to PepsiCo's distribution agreements. 

[3] Excluded from Pro fonna NWC calculation. The automatic down payments made the prepaid and other account increased at Nov~2 Jt{e' t6deposi~Company were required to make to vendors ahead of them providing services following the Company entering bankruptcy. 
[4] Excluded from Pro fonna NWC calculation. Accrued expenses mainly reflects loss contingencies related to ongoing..s~and 'i;iws~ts .. (mostly OBI and Monster). Other balances include royalty payable to OBI (subject to the verdict of the ongoing appeal), and the current 

portion of the capital lease; at Nov-22, the capital lease balance increased due to the sale of Building Bin Jan-22;£'!,tlfe adoption ~fiASC•S42•Leases. 

[5] Excluded from Pro fonna NWC calculation. Deferred revenue relates to unsatisfied perfonnance obligation ass'6cfii'ted with Peps~o•}distn~?on transition contribution which was terminated in 2021. 

,. ··--··--·~- ,~--.,,~-,,., ____ ..... .;.,V~'"···,··'"''·--·~ 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Support 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Straight-Line Depreciation 
ffiSD $000,000s, exceet where noted2 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 
Straight-Line Depreciation 

Existing Assets 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 

Existing Net Asset Balance at Beginning of Year [I] 355 334 313 292 271 251 230 209 188 167 146 

Remaining Life at Beginning of Year 17 16 15 14 13 12 11 JO 9 8 7 

Depreciation of Existing Assets 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 
Existing Net Asset Balance at End of Year 334 313 292 271 251 230 209 188 167 146 125 

DeJ:!reciation of Caf!ital EXJ:!enditures 

Projected Capital Expenditure Allocation [2] 
5-Y ear Property 20% 

7-Y car Property 30% 

39-Y ear Property 50% 

100% 

2023 2024 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 
~ 

Total Capital Expenditures Per Year 6 6 6 13 21 31 34 36 38 

5-Year ProI!erty 

Depreciation Schedule 

!~~~')' 
20.00% 20.00% 20.00% 10.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Acguisition Year Ca!lEX Addition 
2023 I o~/~ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2024 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2025 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2026 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2027 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2028 3 0 1 0 
2029 4 0 
2030 6 
2031 7 
2032 7 
2033 8 1 

0 0 2 3 4 5 6 

Notes: 
[!] Proforma balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 provided by Management. 
[2] CapEx allocation estimated based on PP&E breakdown per the Balance Sheet as of November FY22. 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Support 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As ofFebruary 28, 2023 
Straight-Linc Depreciation 
(USD $000,000s, except where noted) 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 
Straight-Line Depreciation 
Capital Expenditures 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 

7-YearPro~ 

Depreciation Schedule 7.14% 14.29% 14.29% 14.29% 14.29% 14.29% 14.29% 7.14% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

AcQuisition Year Cal)Ex Addition 
2023 2 0 

0 0 0~ 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

2024 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2025 2 

0 ~ 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

2026 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2027 2 

~~ 0 

0 0 0 0 0 0 
2028 4 0 I I I I I 
2029 6 0 
2030 9 
2031 10 
2032 II I 2 
2033 11 1 -

0 <V» I I 

2 2 3 4 6 7 

39-Year Pro~ 

Depreciation Schedule h;Z-8% 2.$§%, ' 2.56% 2.56% 2.56% 2.56% 2.56% 2.56% 2.56% 2.56% 2.56% 

AcQuisition Year Cal)Ex Addition 
2023 3 0 V 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2024 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2025 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2026 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2027 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2028 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2029 11 0 0 0 0 0 
2030 15 0 0 0 0 
2031 17 0 0 0 
2032 18 0 0 
2033 19 0 -

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 I I 2 2 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Straight-Line Depreciation 
(USD $000,000s, except where noted) 

Straight-Line Depreciation 

Depreciation of Existing Assets 
Depreciation of Projected CapEx 

Total Book Depreciation 

2023 

21 
0 

21 

2024 2025 

21 21 
I 

22 22 

19 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 

2026 2027 2028 2029 

21 21 21 21 
2 3 3 5 

23 23 24 26 

Support 

2030 2031 2032 2033 

21 21 21 21 
7 9 12 15 

28 30 33 36 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Depreciation Wedge Calculation 
(USD $000,000s, exceet where noted1 

Depreciation Wedge Calculation 
(Straight-Line) 

[1] Inflation Adjustment Factors 

Year Adjustment Year 

0 1.0000 0 
0.9709 

2 0.9426 2 
3 0.9151 3 
4 0.8884 4 
5 0.8625 5 
6 0.8374 6 
7 0.8130 7 
8 0.7893 8 
9 0.7663 9 

10 0.7440 10 
11 0.7223 11 
12 0.7013 12 
13 0.6809 13 
14 0.6611 14 
15 0.6418 15 

Sum of CapEx vs. Depreciation Timing Differences 

5-Year Property 
7-Y ear Property 
39-Y ear Property 

Notes: 

92.97% 
90.33% 
59.36% 

Depreciation Factors for 
Straight-Line Recovery Periods 

5-Year 7-Year 

10.00% 7.14% 
20.00% 14.29% 

39-Year 

1.28~¾> 
2;,5 re 

20.00% 14.29% Q.86~~-o 
20.00% 14.29% 

~

2.56°0 
20.00% 14.29% 2.56% 

14.29% V.-S6% 10.00% 

14.29% <2.56% 

7.1-M\'il"~o :2.56% 
\~ 2(56% 
- 2.56% 

2.56% 
2.56% 
2.56% 
2.56% 
2.56% 
2.56% 

Projected CapEx Allocation 

5-Y ear Property 
7-Year Property 
39-Year Property 

20% 
30% 
50% 

[1] Inflation adjustment derived from terminal year growth rate from Exhibit A. 

20 

Year 

Inflation-Adjusted Depreciation Factors 
for Straight-Line Recovery Periods 

0 
1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

5-Year 

10.00% 
19.42% 
18.85% 
18.30% 
17.77% 
8.63% 

92.97% 

5-Y ear Property 
7-Y ear Property 
39-Y ear Property 

Total Wedge 

7-Year 

7.14% 
13.87% 
13.47% 
13.07% 
12.69% 
12.32% 
11.96% 
5.81% 

90.33% 

Weighted Factor 

Support 

39-Year 

1.28% 
2.49% 
2.42% 
2.35% 
2.28% 
2.21% 
2.15% 
2.08% 
2.02% 
1.96% 
1.91% 
1.85% 
1.80% 
1.75% 
1.70% 
1.65% 

59.36% 

18.59% 
27.10% 
29.68% 

75.37% 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Support 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
MACRS Depreciation 
~SD $000,000s, except where noted) 

Projected Year Ending December 31, 
MACRS Depreciation 
Existing Assets 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 ---- ---- ----

Existing Net Asset Balance at Beginning of Year 355 324 295 269 245 224 204 186 167 149 130 

Remaining Life at Beginning of Year 17 16 15 14 13 12 11 10 9 8 7 

Declining Balance Method Depreciation 150% 31 29 26 24 22 20 18 16 15 13 12 
Straight Line Method Depreciation 21 20 20 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 

Depreciation of Existing Assets 31 29 26 24 22 20 19 19 19 19 19 ---- ----
Existing Net Asset Balance at End of Year 324 295 269 245 224 204 186 167 149 130 112 ---- ----

20211/--::-

---- ----
Depreciation of Capital Expenditures 2023 2024 2025 2026 2029 2030 2031 2032 ~ ----

20(?• ~ .. 
Projected Capital Expenditure Allocation 

Expensed Portion 80% 60% 40% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Capital Expenditures Per Y car 6 6 6 (~ 6 13 21 31 34 36 38 

2023 2024 2025 ~026 ~2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 ----

\\),;1 

V 
5-Year Property 20% ; Q~; 3 4 6 7 7 8 
7-Y car Property 30% 2 2 2 4 6 9 10 11 II 
39-Y car Property 50% 3 3/, 3 3 3 6 11 15 17 18 19 

100% 

--;;r~,,,, Capex Depreciable Under Normal Recovery Rules ~ 2027 ~ 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 

5-YearProperty ~~vi 3 4 6 7 7 8 
7-Y car Property 2 4 6 9 10 11 11 
39-Y car Property 2 3 6 11 15 17 18 19 

21 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
MACRS Depreciation 
(USD $000,000s, except where noted) 

MACRS Depreciation 

39-Ycar Propertr 

Depreciation Schedule 

Acguisition Year CanEx Addition 
2023 0.6 
2024 1.2 
2025 1.8 
2026 2.4 
2027 3.0 
2028 6.4 
2029 10.5 
2030 15.4 
2031 16.8 
2032 17.9 
2033 18.8 

Expensed Capital Expenditures (Bonns Depreciation) 

Depreciation of Existing Assets 
Depreciation of Projected CapEx 

Total Tax Depreciation 

39 

Projected Y car Ending December 31, 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 

2.46% 2.56% 0.11% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

0.0 0.0 0.0 
0.0 0.0 0.0 

0.0 0.0 0.0 

0.1 ~0.1 ~:~ 0.0 
0.2 0.2 

0.3 

«/) 
0.0 0.0 0.1 ~~0.1 0.2 0.4 

4.8 3.6 2.4 ~~i,,2-..... -

31.3 28n6 ~26.9 ,.7 21.6 19.7 18.5 
0.1 o. Jot&- )1.3 1.8 2.9 5.1 

au '9h~---./OS.O ----siT 22.6 23.6 

~ 

23 

Snpport 

2030 2031 2032 2033 ---

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

0.0 
0.3 0.0 0.0 
0.4 0.4 0.4 0.0 

0.4 0.4 0.4 
0.4 0.5 

0.5 
0.7 0.8 1.3 1.4 

18.5 18.5 18.5 18.5 
8.1 II.I ______!_i:Q__ -----1.B 

26.6 29.6 32.5 34.6 

Case 22-17842-PDR    Doc 2806-2    Filed 02/13/25    Page 23 of 33



Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Depreciation Wedge Calculation 
{USD $000,000s, exceet where noted} 

Depreciation Wedge Calculation 
(MACRS) 

[1] Inflation Adjustment Factors 

Year AdJustment Year 

0 1.0000 0 
0.9709 

2 0.9426 2 
3 0.9151 3 
4 0.8884 4 
5 0.8625 5 
6 0.8374 6 
7 0.8130 7 
8 0.7893 8 
9 0.7663 9 

10 0.7440 10 
11 0.7223 11 
12 0.7013 12 
13 0.6809 13 
14 0.6611 14 
15 0.6418 15 

Sum of CapEx vs. Depreciation Timing Differences 

5-Year Property 
7-Y ear Property 
3 9-Year Property 

Notes: 

94.91% 
92.71% 
32.92% 

Depreciation Factors for 
MACRS Recovery Periods 

5-Year 7-Year 39-Year 

20.00% 14.29% 
2.46o/c~ 32.00% 24.49% 2,5'?,¾ 

19.20% 17.49% ~..Oo 
11.52% 12.49% «0,-00% 
11.52% 8.93% <D-~t 5.76% 8.92% ~i,01/o 

8.93%~0:0~\ 

4.46~ ~:~~~ 

1Jj 0.00% 
0.00% 

- 0.00% 

<v 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

Projected CapEx Allocation 

5-Year Property 
7-Y ear Property 
39-Year Property 

20% 
30% 
50% 

[I] Inflation adjustment derived from terminal year growth rate from Exhibit A. 

24 

Inflation-Adjusted Depreciation Factors 

Year 

0 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

for MACRS Recovery Periods 

5-Year 7-Year 

20.00% 14.29% 
31.07% 23.78% 
18.10% 16.49% 
10.54% 11.43% 
10.23% 7.93% 
4.97% 7.69% 

7.48% 
3.63% 

94.91% 92.71% 

Weighted Factor 

5-Year Property 
7-Y ear Property 
39-Year Property 

Total Wedge 

39-Year 

2.46% 
2.49% 
0.10% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

32.92% 

18.98% 
27.81% 
16.46% 

63.26% 

Support 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Tax Amortization Benefit 
(USD $000,000s, except where noted) 

Tax Rate 

Transaction 

Years 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

A 
1/15 Each Year 

15 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 
0.0667 

25.3% 

B C D=(A)*(B)*(C) 
Tax Rate PV Fact_o5,-~r Amort Factor 

13.0%,,. 
25.35% o¾l{? 0.0159 
25.35% ,,,,ft:8325 0.0141 
25.35% ~J,561 0.0124 

25.35%~-~20 0.0110 
25.35% ~ o:-Snll 0.0091 
2515% \ 0 OS[06 0.0086 
~.)~ 0.4518 0.0076 
2.S':§_}% 0.3999 0.0068 
-5':'35¾ 0.3539 0.0060 
5~i%'> 0.3132 0.0053 
3/}5% 0.2771 0.0047 
5(35% 0.2452 0.0041 

/ 
5.35% 0.2170 0.0037 

25.35% 
25.35% 

0.1921 
0.1700 

TAB Factor 

25 

0.0032 
0.0029 

0.1161 1 

Support 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Comparable Company Benchmarking 
(USD $000,000s, except where noted) 

Comparable Company Benchmarking 

Revenue Growth 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 

[1] Smart for Life, fuc. 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
Bel!Ring Brands, Inc. 
BRC fuc. 

[I] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 
ZeviaPBC 

First Quartile 
Mean 
Median 
Third Quartile 

Gross Margin 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 

[I] Smart for Life, Inc. 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
Bel!Ring Brands, Inc. 
BRC!nc. 

[I] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 
ZeviaPBC 

Notes: 

First Quartile 
Mean 
Median 
Third Quartile 

Latest filing period available per Capital IQ. 
[I] Excluded as an outlier. 

Most Recent Most Recent 
FY FY-2 FY-1 FY 

10/31/2022 24.9% 46.6% -12.4% 
4/30/2022 -1.4% 7.2% 6.1% 

12/31/2021 42.9% 74.0% 140.4% 
12/31/2021 NM -17.1% 360.4% 
12/31/2021 NM 9.4% 22.2% 
12/31/2021 10.3% 

9.5%\J0.5% 
9/30/2022 15.7% 26.23/,1/ 10.0% 

12/31/2021 NM 99~No 42.2% 
12/31/2022 13.6% 

~

.1/o -10.3% 
12/31/2021 NM (6% 5.6% 

/> 

~ 
7.1% 

31.8% 
21.3% • 
38.1% 

j1/ -
Most Recent ~ -ostRecent 

FY )FY-1 FY 

1013112o~~v <;.~ 59.2% 54.0% 
4/30/~022 3J:0% 39.3% 36.7% 

12/31/20~,.'l;J 41.7% 46.6% 40.8% 
12/31/202 2.0% 6.5% 32.1% 
12/31/2021 ✓ 32.7% 33.8% 29.8% 
12/31/2021 60.0% 59.2% 56.1% 
9/30/2022 34.2% 31.0% 30.8% 

12/31/2021 43.5% 42.3% 38.5% 
12/31/2022 48.7% 47.0% 45.0% 
12/31/2021 43.1% 45.0% 44.3% 

32.2% 
41.4% 
39.6% 
51.5% 

26 

Support 

3-Year 
LTM Average Median 

-12.4% 19.7% 24.9% 
5.4% 4.0% 6.1% 

136.0% 85.7% 74.0% 
242.7% 171.6% 171.6% 

16.5% 15.8% 15.8% 
17.1% 13.4% 10.3% 
12.3% 17.3% 15.7% 
26.4% 70.9% 70.9% 

-10.3% 2.7% 4.7% 
22.9% 27.1% 27.1% 

7.1% 14.0% 11.7% 
28.0% 31.7% 30.6% 
16.8% 18.5% 20.3% 
25.5% 59.9% 59.9% 

3-Year 
LTM Average Median 

54.0% 58.9% 59.2% 
33.7% 37.7% 37.0% 
40.3% 43.0% 41.7% 
40.2% 13.6% 6.5% 
24.3% 32.1% 32.7% 
50.7% 58.4% 59.2% 
31.6% 32.0% 31.0% 
33.8% 41.4% 42.3% 
45.0% 46.9% 47.0% 
41.0% 44.1% 44.3% 

32.1% 33.5% 33.8% 
38.7% 43.5% 43.4% 
37.0% 42.2% 42.0% 
48.3% 54.9% 55.5% 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Comparable Company Benchmarking 
(USO $000,000s, except where noted) 

Comparable Company Benchmarking 

Adjustsed EBITDA Margin 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 

[I] Sma1t for Life, Inc. 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
Bel!Ring Brands, Inc. 
BRC Inc. 

[1] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 
ZeviaPBC 

Notes: 

First Quartile 
Mean 
Median 
Third Quartile 

Latest filing period available per Capital IQ. 

[I] Excluded as an outlier. 

Most Recent 
FY 

10/31/2022 
4/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
9/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2022 
12/31/2021 

FY-2 

5.4% 
18.3% 
4.7% 

-94.5% 
6.5% 

36.6% 
20.0% 

1.2% 
14.3% 
-4.7% 

Most Recent 
FY-1 FY 

-31.1% -61.4% 
22.9% 19.9% 
11.7% 10.7% 

-82.3% -50.1% 
11.0% 8.9% 

38.33/c~ 34.7% 

6J O -1.71/o 
18.7~~18.9:"' 

1~'4% 13.5% p-~: -6.3% 

27 

-5.2% 
3.0% 
9.8% 

19.6% 

Support 

3-Year 
LTM Average Median 

-61.4% -29.0% -31.1 % 
17.2% 20.4% 19.9% 

-16.9% 9.0% 10.7% 
-37.9% -75.6% -82.3% 

3.7% 8.8% 8.9% 
27.9% 36.5% 36.6% 
19.9% 19.2% 18.9% 

-15.0% 1.9% 1.2% 
13.5% 14.4% 14.3% 

-13.6% -2.7% -4.7% 

-16.4% -1.5% -3.3% 
-4.8% 8.0% 7.5% 
-4.9% 8.9% 9.8% 
19.2% 20.1% 19.6% 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Jue. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Comparable Company Benchmarking 
(USO $000,000s, except where noted) 

Comparable Company Benchmarking 

Debt-Free NWC (excl. Cash)/ Revenue 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 

[I] Smart for Life, Inc. 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
Bel!Ring Brands, Inc. 
BRCinc. 

[I] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 
ZeviaPBC 

Notes: 

First Quartile 
Mean 
Median 
Third Quartile 

Latest filing period available per Capital IQ. 

[I] Excluded as an outlier. 

Most Recent 
FY 

10/31/2022 
4/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
9/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2022 
12/31/2021 

FY-2 

9.0% 
1.5% 

12.7% 
-72.8% 
13.1% 
7.8% 

15.9% 
-10.4% 

-6.7% 
10.8% 

Most Recent 
FY-1 FY 

9.6% 17.5% 
2.3% 7.1% 

16.7% 47.9% 
-135.7% -19.8% 

9.7% 18.3% 
7.2% _/) 11.6% 

8.4o/~ <. 17.6% 
-6.3{'.~· "-. -5.3% 

ii·· "-. "-1.9% 
//~.8» 19.0% 

28 

8.2% 
16.5% 
17.3% 
18.1% 

LTM 

17.5% 
5.0% 
4.5% 

-2.5% 
24.4% 
14.9% 
18.3% 
9.9% 

-1.9% 
16.0% 

6.3% 
13.8% 
15.4% 
18.1% 

Support 

3-Year 
Average Median 

12.0% 9.6% 
3.6% 2.3% 

25.8% 16.7% 
-76.1% -72.8% 
13.7% 13.1% 
8.8% 7.8% 

14.0% 15.9% 
-7.3% -6.3% 
-4.2% -3.8% 
13.9% 13.8% 

4.9% 3.6% 
10.6% 9.1% 
12.9% 11.3% 
14.0% 15.3% 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Comparable Company Benchmarking 
(USO $000,000s, except where noted) 

Comparable Company Benchmarking 

Capital Expenditures/ Revenue 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 
Smart for Life, Inc. 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
Bel!Ring Brands, Inc. 
BRC!nc. 

[I] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 
ZeviaPBC 

Notes: 

First Quartile 
Mean 
Median 
Third Quartile 

Latest filing period available per Capital IQ. 
[I] Excluded as an outlier. 

Most Recent 
FY 

10/31/2022 
4/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
9/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2022 
12/31/2021 

FY-2 

NA 
2.4% 
0.1% 

NA 
0.4% 
2.4% 
0.2% 
1.3% 
2.0% 
0.5% 

Most Recent 
FY-1 

29 

3.8% 
2.4% 
0.4% 
1.7% 

Support 

3-Year 
FY LTM Average Median 

4.3% 4.3% 4.1% 4.1% 
2.5% 2.6% 2.4% 2.4% J 

1.0% 0.7% 0.5% 0.4% 
1.6% 1.2% 1.6% 1.6% 
0.1% 0.3% 0.2% 0.1% 
0.8% 2.4% 1.4% 1.1% 
0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 

9.8% 5.2% 6.0% 
3.0% 2.5% 2.6% 

3% 1.9% 1.2% 0.7% 

0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 0.3% 
2.4% 2.8% 1.9% 1.9% 
1.6% 1.9% 1.4% 1.1% 
3.4% 3.4% 3.2% 3.2% 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As ofFebruary 28, 2023 
Comparable Company Benchmarking 
(USO $000,000s, except where noted) 

Comparable Company Benchmarking 

Book Depreciation of Fixed Assets / Rev:em1e 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 
Smart for Life, Inc. 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
Bel!Ring Brands, Inc. 
BRC Inc. 

[1] Herbalife Nutrition Ltd. 
ZeviaPBC 

Notes: 

First Quartile 
Mean 
Median 
Third Quartile 

Latest filing period available per Capital IQ. 

[l] Excluded as an outlier. 

Most Recent 
FY 

10/31/2022 
4/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
12/31/2021 
9/30/2022 

12/31/2021 
12/31/2022 
12/31/2021 

FY-2 

0.3% 
1.7% 
0.2% 
4.7% 
0.3% 
1.2% 
0.3% 
1.1% 
1.8% 
0.7% 

Most Recent 
FY-1 FY 

0.3% 0.8% 
1.7% 1.6% 
0.3% 0.2% 
5.6% 2.6% 
0.3% 1.1% 0.2% 

0.8(° 0.1% 
0.2o/c~0.8% 

,9• 0.9% /41~" ~:2% /('" /> ~6% 

~ ~ 
0.2% 
0.7% 
0.8% 
1.3% 

~\( 

~ 
~ 

30 

Support 

3-Year 
LTM Average Median 

0.8% 0.5% 0.3% 
1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 
0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 

-0.9% 4.3% 4.7% 
0.2% 0.3% 0.3% 
0.8% 1.0% 1.1% 
0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 
1.2% 0.9% 0.9% 
2.2% 2.0% 1.9% 
0.7% 0.6% 0.7% 

0.1% 0.3% 0.3% 
0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 
0.7% 0.6% 0.7% 
1.0% 1.4% 1.4% 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Discount Rate - Weighted Average Cost of Capital 

31 

Support 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As ofFcbruary28, 2023 
Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
USD S000's Exe t Per Share Values 

Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
Capital Asset Pricing J\lodcl - ' 

Comparable Company Ill 

GURU Organic Energy Corp. 
National Beverage Corp. 
Celsius Holdings, Inc. 
Sm:ui for Lit~. Im·, 
The Vita Coco Company, Inc. 
Monster Beverage Corporation 
BellRing Brands, Inc. 
BRCinc. 
lkrbulife NunitiC111 Lr1l. 
Zevia PBC 

Notes: 

Ticker 

TSX:GURU 
NasdaqGS:FIZZ 

NasdaqCM:CELII 
Nn::.d;:iqCl\'J·SlvtFL 
NasdaqGS:COCO 
NasdaqGS:MNST 

NYSE:BRBR 
NYSE:BRCC 
NYSE:IILF 

NYSE:ZVIA 

[2] [2] [2] 

Accounting Shares 
Standard Debt Outstanding 

IFRS so 32,142 
USGAAP (4,950) 93,353 
USGAAP 824,750 76,225 
US G.\;\P 21,ss,1 3k.$91 
USGAAP 9,554 55,924 
US GAAP 965 522,125 
USGAAP 944,800 133,573 
US GAAP l 18,133 54,555 
US G .. \AP 2.69:!.llOO Q].921 

USGAAP 68,876 

[3] [4] 

Price/ Share Egui!l'. MVIC Levered Beta Cash 

2.73 S87,801 $87,801 1.47 S33,945 
46.32 4,324,108 4,319,158 0.78 92,626 
92.07 7,018,054 7,842,804 1.15 726,972 

0.18 ci.8k4 2b.738 1.7tl 304 
16.40 917,158 926,712 0.61 21,211 

101.23 52,854,740 52,855,705 0.54 2,649,829 
31.32 4,183,520 5,128,320 0.87 43,900 

6.82 372,062 490,195 0.88 71,211 
19.48 1.Q07,4')6 4.599.496 !.'.!(-. 50S.30l) 
3.76 258,973 258,973 0.69 49,236 

I st Quartile 

~

67 
Mean 

Median 

'"J 
[ I] Companies gra~ out have been cxcludOO as outliers due to the impact of ash and or debt balances. '-- • / 
(2] Latest filing period available pcr Capital lQ. Gross debt includes Preferred Equity and Minority Interest. Gross debt includes capital leases for GAAP-based companies, and cxcludcl'all leascs for IFRS-bascd companies. 

[3] Pcr Share Value as ofValuation Date. ~ "-. 

[4] BasedonBruraBetas. ~ V 

32 

Support 

Cash% of Levered Beta Unlevcred Beta 
MVIC Without Cash Debt/MVIC Debt / Egui!I Without Cash 

38.7% 2.39 0.0% 0.0% 2.39 
2.1% 0.79 -0.1% -0.1% 0.79 
9.3% 1.27 10.5% 11.8% 1.17 
I. 10.~, 1.72 76.11% 3175~-;_. 1151 
2.3% 0.63 1.0% 1.0% 0.62 
5.0% 0.57 0.0% 0.0% 0.57 
0.9% 0.87 18.4% 22.6% 0.75 

14.5% 1.03 24.1% 31.8% 0.84 
II.I% 1.42 :58.5% 141.1% 0.69 
19.0% 0.85 0.0% 0.0% 0.85 

2.3% 0.75 0.0% 0.0% 0.72 
11.5% 1.05 6.7% 8.4% 1.00 
7.1% 0.86 0.5% 0.5% 0.82 

15.6% 1.09 12.5% 14.5% 0.93 

Kroll 
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Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
Pricing Analysis of Bang Energy 
As of February 28, 2023 
Weighted Average Cost of Capital 

SD $000's Exe t Per Share Values 

Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
Capital Asset Pricing Model 

Cost of Debt 

Target Debt-to-Capital Ratio: 
Target Debt-to-Equity Ratio 

Pre-Tax Cost oFDebt 
Effective Tax Rate 

Cost of Debt 

Cost nf Equity 

Risk-Free Rate ofRctum 
Equity Risk Premium 
Small Stock Premium 
Company Specific Risk Premium 
Country Specific Risk Premium 

Levered Beta Without Cash 
Unlevered Beta Without Cash 
Relevered Beta 
Cost of Equity 

Notes: 

[I] 
[2] 
[3] 

0.5% 
0.5% 

6.27% 
25.3% 

4.7% 

[4] 4.10% 
[5] 6.00% 
[6] 1.21% 
[7] 2.00% 
[8] 0.00% 

[9] 0.86 
[10] 0.93 
[11] ____ -"'0."-'93'--
(12] 12.90% 

[I] Based on S&P lnte.rpolatcd 20-YR BB credit spread as of February 28, 2023. 
[2] Blended Fedcral and Florida State Income Tax Rate. 
[3] Cost of Debt= (I-Tax Ratc)•(Prc-Tax Cost of Debt) 
[4] Based on spot 20 Year U.S. Treasury Note Yield. 
[5) Consensus Equity Risk Prcmiwn 
[6] Kroll Valuation Handbook Low Cap (6-8). 

Equity 

Debt 

[7] Incremental risk associated with forccastcd growth and margins beyond current industry or market panicipnnt expectations. 

Required 
Return 

12.9% 

4.7% 

[8]N/A. ~ 
[9] LeveredBetaWithoutCash=LcvercdBcta/(1-(Cash/MVIC)) a 
[IO] UnleveredBeta=oLcvcro:i Beta Without Cash/[1+(1-taxrate)*D/E} 
[I I] Relevered Beta= Unlevered Beta Without Cash• [l+(l-tax ratetD/E] ) 
[12] Cost ofEqwtya Risk F,co+ (Relevcrro Beta• Equity Risk Premium)+ Small Slook Pmnium + Company Specific Risk Pmni~y 

Support 

Weighting WACC 

99.5% 12.8% 

0.5% 0.0% 

% 

A ',v,9=1=3=.0=o/,'=, -= (Rounded) 

Kroll 
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

Form 10-Q 
Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) 

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 Commission File Number 001-18761 

MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 
(State or other jurisdiction of 
incorporation or organization) 

1 Monster Way 
Corona, California 92879 

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code) 

(951) 739 - 6200 

47-1809393 
{I.R.S. Employer 

Identification No.) 

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code) 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: 

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered 
Common Stock MNST Nasdaq Global Select Market 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months ( or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such 
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 

Yes X No 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted 
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the 
registrant was required to submit such files). 

Yes X No 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller 
reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller 
reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 

Large accelerated filer 181 
Non-accelerated filer □ 

Accelerated filer □ 
Smaller reporting company D 
Emerging growth company □ 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for 
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. □ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company ( as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). 

Yes NoX 

The registrant had 1,040,441,348 shares of common stock, par value $0.005 per share, outstanding as of October 31, 2023. 
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 1. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) 

MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND DECEMBER 31, 2022 

• (In Thousands, Except Par Value) (Unaudited) 

ciJRRENT ASSETS:- --- ~-- ••• 
<:;~s[l a_ncjcas]! e_quiY?lent~ _ ~ _:_._: ~-_'•_: 
Short-term investments 
ACC:ollrits-recetVabie; riet_:- --- -
Inventories 
Prel)ajd ~il)E!ll5e"S-aii_d 0th~( CUITeiitaSSets 
~~ep_c!iQ_~_cq!l}~ ~e~ _ _ _____________ , 
~_Jotal -~_urrE:nt~~~ts • 

INVES'l'MEITTS ______ _ 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 
I!EFERREb-lNCQ!vlETAXES; net_ 
GOODWILL 
Q_TifE:RINTANGl~LE ASSETS~nei:~c'. : __ -
O_T_l!ER ASSET~_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ 

---- '-·. - --- - -------· - - -Toiiir Assets 

-- - ---- -- -- - LiABiLITIES AND s'tothll6LDERS' E-6tiriV_­
cliRRENT-LIABlLITIES: 
Accmintsjiayable__ -- --- • --- • 
Accrued liabilities 
1\cCTue-~ p_rciriiatiO~af'~HOwai-i•ces _ ·:· ?• - -

Deferred revenue 
Accnied comperisati9n ~ . __ ., _ .-- _. 
lnco,pe_!""~s paya!Jle_ ___ _ 
i __ 1-:C?@L C1.!,I'r€}!1t lia~~lirte.?. 

I!E.l'ERREI>'REYENlEE 

OT~_EifLl~ILITIE_s_ _ 

C:.QMMITMENTS_Al'll:1 CON'IJNr;ENC:.IE5_ (N_oie 12) 

stoCKJ:JO_LPERs_' EO:On:v1, -~ ,,_-_; __ ::-~-'" -__ . __ , __ _ ___ _ __ _ _ _ ___ _ __ . _ _ _ _ _ ,_ 
Common stock - $0.005 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; 1,118,498 shares issued and 1,040,420 shares outstanding 

as of September 30, 2023; 1,28~,6_88 s_hares issu~9 and 1,044,§00 ~hares ou!5tanding_as of December 31, 2_022 
l\_dditjqppl paid-in capi~l_ __ _ 

!~~ii%ej~i;.:~~J~C~qipJe_h"eQSiieJO~~-·- . _____ . _ .. ·- '" ~ •" ___ ·=--=-~---~-~ ~ ---·-··- _ _ __,. __ . 
Common stock in treasury, at cost; 78,078 shares and 239,088 shares as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 

respest1ve]y - - - .. -- . 
_ T9\al st_or!<holders: equity~ _ _ • 

• Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 

September 30, 
2023 

December 31, 
2022 

-$ ___ '. __ 1,Ti:~;849 -- _$ ____ _-__ UOJ,14i_' 
___ -- _1,23_6,752 

-- 1,231,188 
883,582 

- --_ -_-: 162,676 
23468 

__ -- 5,311,515 _ -_ • 

.P-62,;)lj_ 
,. 1,016,203 , 

935,631 
---109,823 

33 785 
.. __ 4,764,897_: 

52,636 -- __ 61,443; 
731,208 516,897 

-- _- _176,724 _-_ ~- - ___ : _ 177,039-
1,417,~41 __ ---- 1,417,941 

.1,459,447 -- _ -- _1,220,410" 
,,...----,,.-;l,..,6...,4,'=8,,,67,... 134,478 

- $ 9 314,338 __ $ 8,293,105' 

-r_ -- --_ .539,892 - J 
207,727 

-- 296,577- -- -
40,127 

-- 76,835-
17,644 

--- __ '. __ 1,178,802 _ 

--::109,136 

53,251 

444,265~ 
172,991 

·25s,G:li-; 
43,311 

- )2,463: 
13 317 

1,00_1,97ij, 

- 223,80:0·, 

_42,28~6i 

5,592 6,418 
- =- 4,893,289 _ . _4,77:6,804_: 

5,572,757 9,001,173 
---~ :. (198,033) - -(159,Q73) 

(2,400,456) (6,600,281) 
7,873 149 7,025,041' 

$ 9,314,338 =$===8=,2=9=3=,1=05= 

1 Stock Split - On February 28, 2023, the Company announced a two-for-one stock split of its common stock to be effected in the form of a 100% stock 
dividend. The stock dividend was issued on March 27, 2023 (the "Stock Split"). The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and 
notes thereto have been retroactively updated to reflect the Stock Split. See Note 1 for additional information. 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 

3 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
FOR THE THREE- AND NINE-MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

NEtsEi\Es 

C:QS}' pF Si\LE_S 

Q}l._()s~JR()F}:'Y • -- :: ~:. __ _ 

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

872,265 790,561 -

-- __ 98~, 763 __ 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

2,554))86 

QPERi\Tll'<G E~EN_SES_ _ • • 473,236 _ . 415,795 1,336,437 -i,199,883 : 

OPERATING IN<::OME ----· . -· ~ --~-

INTEREST 'and i:ffiiEifrNCOME (EXPENSE):nit~ ·- _· - - -_ -------- - ••• -

iNC.Q~EJ3t~~~!'..!'tQVISiQ_}(FciR INCOME t~_s • 

~~0'1sig1,rF<:i~ 1!-!c6MEsfAX_E~ _ 

NETH':l°COME 

Basic 
··oilu!ed·;-, -

wEIGHTEb AvERAGElruMiiER-oF sHAREs oF coMMoN ·sfoci< A.No 

c_C>_MMOr{ !>TO.CK EQlJIVALE1'11'.S1
:_ . -- . __ -· -- • 

Basic 
• Dffuted-

$ 

$ 

$ 

71,357 2,149 

129)90 97,692 

452,694 $ 322,387 

0.43 $ 0.31 

0.43 $ 0.30 

1,047,015 1,053,594 

1,059,966 1,066,600 

l,1~0,369, 

354,39L • •• -2sa:481 l 
" 

$ 1,264,009 $ • 889;950 1 

_-,_1 

$ 1.21 $ 0.84 

$ 1.19 $ 0.831 

.. --· ___ , ------ ---- - ----, 

1,046,337 1,056,526 

1,059,809 1,069,198; 

1 Stock Split - The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been retroactively updated to reflect the Stock 
Split. See Note 1 for additional information. 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 

4 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE THREE- AND NINE-MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
(In Thousands) (Unaudited) 

Net jii"ccime, as r-eported 
Other co'rn:prehensive i~come (loss): 
-Change' in foreign currency translation adjustment _ 
-Avaiiable~for~sale-investtnents: - -- - - -

Change Iii net unrealized gains (losses) 
N-et gains on commodity derivatives 

Other compreh-ensive income (loss) 
ca111preliensive income - --- -

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 
$ 452,694 $ 322,387 

(48,2§0L _ (~8,8_2_2) 

_(2,67~) 

(71,497) 
$ 250,890 

___ 1,_272 
4,700 

(42,308) 
$ 410,386 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 

5 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 
$_ 1,264,009 _ $ 889,950: 

- _(46,Q?4)_- ~~_-J1~7,4_59) 

3,~80 
3,434 

(38,960) 
$ 1,225,049 

(155,290) 
$ 734,660 

Case 22-17842-PDR    Doc 2806-3    Filed 02/13/25    Page 6 of 69



Table of Contents 

MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
FOR THE THREE- AND NINE-MONIHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
(In Thousands) (Unaudited) 

Common stock Additional Retained 
Shares Amount Paid-in Capital·... Earnings 

_1,283,688 - $ _6,418 -_$ 4,776,804 _ $ 9,001,173_ ... $ 

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 
(Loss) Income 

(159,073) 

Siock-ba,;ed.compen_satfcin . 
Stock options/awards 3,70,!. 
Unrealized gain (loss), nei ori 
•. _ayailable-for-sale s~c_urities. _ 
Repurchase of common stock 
Retir~merii ·of treasmy siock - :.(J,70,0_do)' 
Foreign ~urrency translation 
N ~j: iDJ:QIIl'e ' • 

_ _-__ f5,7_43_ . 
1~ . 36,329 

_ 3,181 

(850) • <125 •. (4,69iA25J 
7,981 

·397 444 

'Ireasury stock 
Shares Amount 

. (239,088) _$ _(6,600,281). 

(1,688) _ - - (90,378) 
170,000 . _<l,69_2,850 -

Total 
Stockholders' 

Equity 
$. 7,Q25,0_41_. 

__ 15,74:i, 
_36,348. 

3,181 ! 
(90,378) 

'7-;iiBl 
3974447 

,._(147,~11)_ c,10,,,Z6) ___ $_ G,9~7;~Q9) __ $ _ _7,39s;36□, 

S_t~cl<0qas_ed co)Tip_eniatimf_ 
Stock options/awards 
,Unrealized gain (loss), net on - -
. ~v_ailable:for-sa)~ s~!;_Ufiti~i _ 
Repurchase of common stock 
For~igQ curt~i:ifY:.trcinslatici~_ 
Net losses on commodity 

derivatives 
NeuiicOme_-:_:;• _-: __ - -·----·- -

ilalani:e, :Juiie-30; 2023 

$t_oc_k:fras~d C:Ompe_nsati9n_: 
Stctc_lc option~/awai;cts _ . 
Unrealized gain (loss), net on 
, available-for-sale securities 
R.epllrchase of comIIlon stock 
F:or~ign C:uI'fe·I!c),;tJ:"anslatio·n -
Net gains on commodity 

derivatives 
N.£tin~Iµe: • 

B_alanc;, September_ 3_0, 2023 

. 1,ii8,269' $ 

_229 

17,176 
23,314_ 

,i1:i:811 

s,5M_ $. _<l,869,791 s. 5;12(1,063. _:s· 
:17,i;o5:· 

5,893. 

·::::.::·_,_ - _452,694°_ 

(?73) 

(5,775) 

. 17,17~; 
_ 23,31Jl. 

_ _____ (Z73) 
(44?) 

__ .. (~,77,5) 

-··- (1.~~6) 
413 871 . 

(155,'Z25).. -('~0,784) Ji_(l~998,256) : S: __ 'Z,Boil,41;4. 

1,272 

(48,280)_ -

4,70Q_ 

_ 1'(605~ 
5,891 

_1,272, 
(7;2~4) _· _ .. ('!Q2,2_90) _ (402,200) 

_ : (48,280)' 

4,700 
:1s.2,69{; 

1,118,498 =$====5=,5=92= $ 4,893,289 .. $ 5,572,757 =$====(=19=8=,0=33=) (78,078} --s c2,400,456) s .7,873,149 .. 

6 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
FOR THE THREE- AND NINE-MONIHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
(In Thousands) (Unaudited) (Continued) 

Accumulated Other Total 
Common stock Additional 

Shares Amount _ Paid-in Capital 
Bal"!'ce, December 31, 2021 _: 1,280,086 $ 6,400 $ _ 4,649,420 

Stock:based compeiisaiion __ _ 
Stp_ck qpti9ns/awei:ds _ _ __ • 97□ -

Unrealized gain (loss), net on 
available~for-sale securities. 

Repur~!tase of ~o.mm_on_ stq~ ___ 
Fore!gn curreqcy transl~tion _ • 
Net in_cq11?,e 

kalance, March 31, 2022_ - -_ i,28!,0~~ f 

Stock:basecf compensati.;-ri • 
,sioc~ O!ltions/award.~: - • • . ... .8n 
Unrealized gain (loss), net on 

available-for-sale securities 
,Rep_uxcliaSe cit~cimI'Qq_g_sjq~k ___ :- • • 
Foreig~ currency translation 
~~tJn~ome • 

Baiance,:June~:i0,2022 

Stack:basefcompensaii_ori': 
Stock options/awards ___ , __ 602_ 
Unrealized gain (loss), nei □□-

aVailable-for-sale securities 
Repurchase of common stock 
For_eigO~ci:trr.eiicj, trarisfation : _ 
!"l!:t µteam~ 

Balance, September 30, 2022 ••• 

.. 

1,282,490 $ 

.16,175 __ 
4,504 

. 6,406 •• : f . 4,670,099 

4 

.. 

6,413 $ 

• 16,157 
_18,1Q8 

16,436 
12,n3 

4,732,933 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ ___ 7,809,549 

Comprehensive (Loss) Treasury stock Stockholders' 
Income Shares Amount _ Equity 

$ (69,165) • c221,44o)_ ·s_ (5,829,253). $ __ .6,566,951, 

-- (332) ___ (1_2,187) 

.·: 16,1,s; 
_ ~.51Q 

_(4,059) 
_(12,187) 

(4,059) 

·1,079 
- 294,203. --_-______ _ 

1,079• 
·294,203 

$ 8,_103,7~2 -$ 

. . ~: ~22,387 

$ 8,699,499 $ 

(72,145f _ c2_2_i,112) _( cs,a<ii,«,o)° $ 

(1,105) 
_ . (6,572)° ~-- (2_1)4,:Ul), 

·_(79,707) 

(2,675) 
___ cii,7i6l (272,889) 

(Gli;s22) 

(224,454) (234,560) $ (6,398,631) $ 

6,866,672 

--16,157 
18,li_Z:, 

(1,105) 
(284,311) 
(79,707) 
273,360' 

16,43/i: 
_ _12,J_36 __ 

, (2,675) 
(2?2,8!l_O) 

... (68,822) 
322,387 

6,815,760 

1 Stock Split - The accompanying condensed consolidated financial scatements and noces !hereto have been recroactively updated to reflect the Stock 
Split. See Note 1 for additional information. 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE NINE-MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
(In Thousands) (Unaudited) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
Net income 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization • 
-Non-cash."iease expense -: -
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 
Gain on Bang ·Transaction_ 
Loss on impairment of intangibles 

• Stock-based compensation 
Deferred income taxes -
Effect on cash of changes in operating assets and liabilities net of _acquisition: -

Accounts receiva hie 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses and other asse~ 

_ Prepaid income taxes • 
Accounts payable 
·Accrued liabilities 
Accrued pr~motional allo~a~ces 
Accrued compensation 
Income taxes payable 
Other liabilities 
Deferred revenue 

Net cash provided by ·operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Sales of available-for-~ale investments 
Purchases of available:for-sale_investments 
Acquisition of Bang Energy 
Acquisition of CANarchy, net of cash 
Purchases of property and equipment 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 
Additions to intangibles 
Increase in other assets 

Net cash used in investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVIDES: - - -
(Payments) borrowings on debt 
Issuance of common stock-
Purchas_es-of common stoc_k held in treasury_ 

Net cash used in financing activities 

E:ffect of e_xchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period 

- --
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: 

Cash-paid during the period for: 
Interest 
Income taxes 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

1,264,009 $ 889,950 

50,364 46,040 
6,471 5,180 
(686) (253) 

(45,382) 
2,800 

52,465 ~9,167 
29,710 

(218,804) (202,447) 
~9,796 (297,140) 

(67,368) (39,204) 
8,032 7,867 

109,823 52,663 
24,697 (2,572) 
42,425 89,236 

3,523 (6;636) 
4,217 (12,823) 

(3,636) (3,492) 
(19,320) (16,060) 

1,283,426 589,186 

1,546,038 1,823,943 
(i,405,233) (1,393,910)_ 

(363,385) 
(329,472) 

(110,224) (136,158) 
1,753 603 

(9,110) (3,578) 
(19,862) (19,171) 

(360,023) (57,743) 

(11,273) (7i_9) 
65,560 34,759 

(488,080) (493,315) 
(433,793) (459,275) 

(22,902) (95,582)_ 

466,708 (23,414) 
1,307,141 1,326,462. 
1,773,849 $ 1,303,048 

254 $ 359 

348,948 $ 297,526 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE NINE-MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
(In Thousands) (Unaudited) (Continued) 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH ITEMS 

Included in accrued liabilities as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 were $14.3 million and $14.4 million, respectively, related to 
net additions to other intangible assets. 

Included in accounts payable as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 were available-for-sale short-term investment purchases of 
$8.7 million and $7.9 million, respectively. 

Included in accounts payable as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 were $2.0 million and $2.6 million, respectively, related to 
equipment purchases. 

Included in accounts payable as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, were purchases of common stock held in 
treasury of $2.6 million and $76.1 million. 

Included in accounts receivable as of September 30, 2023 were available-for-sale short-term investment sales of $5.9 million. 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tubular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Reference is made to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, in Monster Beverage Corporation and Subsidiaries (the 
"Company") Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 for a summary of significant accounting policies 
utilized by the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and other disclosures, which should be read in conjunction with this Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q ("Form 10-Q"). 

The Company's condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q have been prepared in accordance ·with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") 
rules and regulations applicable to interim financial reporting. They do not include all the information and footnote disclosures normally 
included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. The information set forth in these interim condensed 
consolidated financial statements for the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, is unaudited and 
reflects all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments and which in the opinion of management are necessary to 
make the interim condensed consolidated financial statements not misleading. Results of operations for periods covered by this report 
may not necessarily be indicative of results of operations for the full year. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP necessarily requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. 

Treasury Stock Retirement - On March 10, 2023, the Company retired 170.0 million shares (stock split adjusted) of treasury 
stock owned by the Company. The retired treasury stock had a carrying value of approximately $4.69 billion. The Company's accounting 
policy upon the formal retirement of treasury stock is to deduct its par value from common stock and to reflect any excess of cost over 
par as a deduction from retained earnings. 

Stock Split - On February 28, 2023, the Company announced a two-for-one stock split of the Company's common stock to be 
effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend. The common stock dividend was issued on March 27, 2023 (the "Stock Split") and the 
Company's common stock began trading at the split adjusted price on March 28, 2023. Accordingly, all per share amounts, average 
common stock outstanding, common stock outstanding, common stock repurchased and equity-based compensation presented in the 
condensed consolidated financial statements and notes have been adjusted retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the Stock Split. 
Stockholders' equity has been retroactively adjusted, where applicable, to give effect to the Stock Split for all periods presented by 
reclassifying the par value of the additional shares issued in connection with the Stock Split to Common Stock from Retained Earnings 
and Additional Paid-in Capital. 

Derivative Financial Instruments - The Company uses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging risk 
exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and aluminum commodity prices. The Company's derivative instruments are 
recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The Company values each derivative financial instrument by obtaining 
valuation information from a reliable and observable market source. For a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge, the derivative's 
mark to fair value is initially recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently reclassified 
into earnings when the hedged item affects earnings, unless it is probable that the forecasted transaction will not occur. Derivatives that 
do not qualify for hedge accounting are marked to fair value with gains and losses immediately recorded in earnings. In the consolidated 
statements of cash flows, derivative activities are classified based on the cash flows of the items being hedged. Upon the dedesignation of 
an effective derivative contract, the gains or losses are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until the originally 
hedged item affects earnings, unless it is probable the hedged item will not occur, at which time it is recognized immediately. Any gains 
or losses incurred after the dedesignation date are recorded in earnings immediately. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

There have been no changes in recently issued or adopted accounting pronouncements that would materially impact the 
Company from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tabular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

2. ACQUISITIONS 

On July 31, 2023, a subsidiary of the Company, Blast Asset Acquisition LLC, completed its acquisition of substantially all of 
the assets of Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its debtor affiliates (collectively, "Bang Energy") (the "Bang Transaction"). The acquired 
assets primarily include Bang Energy® drinks and a beverage production facility in Phoenix, AZ. 

The Company accounted for the Bang Transaction in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") 
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805 "Business Combinations". Under the acquisition method of accounting, the Company 
allocated the purchase price of the acquisition to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values 
as of the acquisition date. During the three-months ended September 30, 2023, in connection with the Bang Transaction, the Company 
recorded a gain of $45.4 million in interest and other income ( expense), net within the condensed consolidated statements of income and 
reported within the Corporate and Unallocated segment (the "Bang Transaction Gain"). During the three-and nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023, the Company incurred approximately $8.0 million and $15.1 million, respectively, of acquisition costs related to the 
Bang Transaction. 

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair value allocations of the Bang Transaction: 

Intangible~~ trademarks (non-amortizing) 
Intangibles - customer relationships (amortizing) 
Property and ·equipment, net_ - -
Inventory 
Right-of :use assets 
Operating lease liabilities 
y\'or½iiig capifal (excluding inventory) 
Other 
Cash 
Bang Transaction Gain 
-·Total - --- • 

Identifiable 
Assets Acquired 
and (Liabilities) Consideration 

Assumed Transferred 
$_ 209,000 $ 

$ 

23,000 
143,20·0 
30,496 

_12,523 
(12,523) 
·2,s?f-

200 
_ 363,385 

45,382 
408,767 $ 408,767 

====== 

The fair value analysis has yet to progress to a stage where there is sufficient information for a definitive measurement of the 
respective fair values. Accordingly, the respective fair value allocations are preliminary and are based on valuations derived from 
estimated fair value assumptions used by management. The Company expects to complete its fair value analysis at a level of detail 
necessary to finalize the underlying fair value allocations as soon as practicable, but no later than twelve months from the closing of the 
Bang Transaction. Any differences between the final respective fair value allocations and the preliminary management estimates may 
have an impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations. 

The Company determined the fair values as follows: 

• Trademarks - relief-from-royalty method of the income approach 
• Customer relationships - multi-period excess earnings method of the income approach 
• Property and equipment - cost approach and market approach 
• Inventory - comparative sales method and replacement cost method 
• Bang Transaction Gain - residual of net assets acquired less cash consideration transferred 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tubular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

The book value of the working capital ( excluding inventory) approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of the 
accounts. 

For tax purposes, the Bang Transaction was recorded as an asset purchase. 

In accordance with Regulation S-X, pro forma unaudited condensed financial information for the Bang Transaction has not been 
provided as the impact of the transaction on the Company's financial position, results of operations and liquidity was not material. 

3. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenues are accounted for in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards 
Codification ("ASC") 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Consumers". The Company has four operating and reportable segments: (i) 
Monster Energy® Drinks segment ("Monster Energy® Drinks"), which is primarily comprised of the Company's Monster Energy® 
drinks, Reign Storm™ total wellness energy drinks, Reign® Total Body Fuel high performance energy drinks, Bang Energy® drinks 
and Monster Tour Water® (ii) Strategic Brands segment ("Strategic Brands"), which is primarily comprised of the various energy drink 
brands acquired from The Coca-Cola Company ("TCCC") in 2015 as well as the Company's affordable energy brands, (iii) Alcohol 
Brands segment ("Alcohol Brands"), which is primarily comprised of the various craft beers and hard seltzers purchased as part of the 
acquisition of CANarchy Craft Brewery Collective LLC ("CANarchy") on February 17, 2022 (the "CANarchy Transaction") as well as 
The Beast Unleashed™ flavored malt beverages ("FMBs") and (iv) Other segment ("Other''), which is primarily comprised of certain 
products sold by American Fruits and Flavors, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to independent third-party customers 
(the "AFF Third-Party Products"). 

The Company's Monster Energy® Drinks segment primarily generates net operating revenues by selling ready-to-drink 
packaged energy drinks primarily to bottlers and full service beverage bottlers/distributors ("bottlers/distributors"). In some cases, the 
Company sells ready-to-drink packaged energy drinks directly to retail grocery and specialty chains, wholesalers, club stores, mass 
merchandisers, convenience and gas chains, drug stores, foodservice customers, value stores, e-commerce retailers and the military. 

The Company's Strategic Brands segment primarily generates net operating revenues by selling "concentrates" and/or 
"beverage bases" to authorized bottling and canning operations. Such bottlers generally combine the concentrates and/or beverage bases 
with sweeteners, water and other ingredients to produce ready-to-drink packaged energy drinks. The ready-to-drink packaged energy 
drinks are then sold by such bottlers to other bottlers/distributors and to retail grocery and specialty chains, wholesalers, club stores, mass 
merchandisers, convenience and gas chains, foodservice customers, drug stores, value stores, e-commerce retailers and the military. To a 
lesser extent, the Strategic Brands segment generates net operating revenues by selling certain ready-to-drink packaged energy drinks to 
bottlers/distributors. 

The Company's Alco_hol Brands segment primarily generates operating revenues by selling kegged and ready-to-drink canned 
beers, hard seltzers and FMBs primarily to beer distributors in the United States. 

The majority of the Company's revenue is recognized when it satisfies a single performance obligation by transferring control of 
its products to a customer. Control is generally transferred when the Company's products are either shipped or delivered based on the 
terms contained within the underlying contracts or agreements. Certain of the Company's bottlers/distributors may also perform a 
separate function as a co-packer on the Company's behalf. In such cases, control of the Company's products passes to such 
bottlers/distributors when they notify the Company that they have taken possession or transferred the relevant portion of the Company's 
finished goods. The Company's general payment terms are short-term in duration. The Company does not have significant financing 
components or payment terms. The Company did not have any material unsatisfied performance obligations as of September 30, 2023 
and December 31, 2022. 

The Company excludes from revenues all taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are imposed on the sale of its 
products and collected from customers. 

Distribution expenses to transport the Company's products, where applicable, and warehousing expense after manufacture are 
accounted for within operating expenses. 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tabular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

Promotional and other allowances (variable consideration) recorded as a reduction to net sales for the Company's energy drink 
products primarily include consideration given to the Company's non-alcohol bottlers/distributors or retail customers including, but not 
limited to, the following: 

• discounts granted off list prices to support price promotions to end-consumers by retailers; 
• reimbursements given to the Company's bottlers/distributors for agreed portions of their promotional spend with 

retailers, including slotting, shelf space allowances and other fees for both new and existing products; 
• the Company's agreed share of fees given to bottlers/distributors and/or directly to retailers for advertising, in-store 

marketing and promotional activities; 
• the Company's agreed share of slotting, shelf space allowances and other fees given directly to retailers, club stores 

and/or wholesalers; 
• incentives given to the Company's bottlers/distributors and/or retailers for achieving or exceeding certain 

predetermined sales goals; 
• discounted or free products; 
• contractual fees given to the Company's bottlers/distributors related to sales made directly by the Company to certain 

customers that fall within the bottlers' /distributors' sales territories; and 
• commissions to TCCC based on the Company's sales to wholly-owned subsidiaries of TCCC (the "TCCC 

Subsidiaries") and/or to TCCC bottlers/distributors accounted for under the equity method by TCCC (the "TCCC 
Related Parties"). 

The Company's promotional allowance programs for its energy drink products are executed through separate agreements in the 
ordinary course of business. These agreements generally provide for one or more of the arrangements described above and are of varying 
durations, typically ranging from one week to one year. The Company's promotional and other allowances for its energy drink products 
are calculated based on various programs with bottlers/distributors and retail customers, and accruals are established at the time of initial 
product sale for the Company's anticipated liabilities. These accruals are based on agreed upon terms as well as the Company's historical 
experience with similar programs and require management's judgment with respect to estimating consumer participation and/or 
bottler/distributor and retail customer performance levels. Differences between such estimated expenses and actual expenses for 
promotional and other allowance costs have historically been insignificant and are recognized in earnings in the period such differences 
are determined. Promotional and other allowances for our Alcohol Brands segment primarily include price promotions where permitted. 

Amounts received pursuant to new and/or amended distribution agreements entered into with certain bottlers/distributors 
relating to the costs associated with terminating the Company's prior distributors, are accounted for as deferred revenue and recognized 
as revenue ratably over the anticipated life of the respective distribution agreements, generally over 20 years. 

The Company also enters into license agreements that generate revenues associated with third-party sales of non-beverage 
products bearing the Company's trademarks including, but not limited to, clothing, hats, t-shirts, jackets, helmets and automotive wheels. 

Management believes that adequate provision has .been made for cash discounts, returns and spoilage based on the Company's 
historical experience. 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tabular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

Disaggrggation of.Revenue 

The following tables disaggregate the Company's revenue by geographical markets and reportable segments: 

Net Sales 
M011s;erEn_e~g}'CBl D'.i_nks_._ ._ • 
Strategic Brands 
Aicoli.oCBi:ands • 
Other 
toia1 Nei sales -

Net Sales 
Monster Energy® Drinks 
Str~t~gi~ Brands· • 
Alcohol Brands 
Other· • • • ·-

Totaf Nei 'sales· • 

1Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") 

Net Sales 
Monster Energy® Drinks , 
Strategic Brands •• • • 

AJco~o!_~iandf :~ _ 
Other 
:roral Net Sales 

Net Sales 
Monster Energy® Drinks - _. 
Strategic Brands • - • • • -- • • 

Afrohoi Brandsr - ~-" - -· . -

Other 
i'oial Net Sales - ',,_. -

1 Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA ") 

Three-Months Ended September 30, 2023 

U.S. and 
Canada 

Asia Pacific 
(including 

EMEA1 Oceania) 
• ~ _ 1,069,856_ 

50,084 
_$ _ .. 355,~98 __ $_ _ 118,86_§)_ 

35,985 8,398 
. .... ___ 42,~26_ --- _ 

6,698 

$ 1,168,964 _ =$ ==3=91=,8=8=3 $ 127,267 

Latin 
America 

and 
Caribbean 

~ 1§_~,6~8 _ $ 
4,296 

$ 167,914 $ 

Three-Months Ended September 30, 2022 

U.S. and 
Canada 

, ~ _ 982,952 
44,025 

__ _ _ ___ ~6,B_i8 _ 
6,447 

$ 1,060,242 

$ 

$ 

EMEA1 

_ '288,077 $ 
32,565 

320,642 $ 

Latin 
Asia Pacific America 
(including and 
Oceania) Caribbean 

_100,2!)8 _$ 130,902 $_ 
8,805 3,407 

109,093 $ 134,309 $ 

Nine-Months Ended September 30, 2023 

Asia Pacific 
U.S. and (including 
Canada EMEA 1 Oceania) 

$ 3,160,97.1 $ 97?,531__ l_ .. 3?9,342 

Latin 
America 

and 
Caribbean 

_$ 444,8~ _ $ 
140,353 108!~86__ _ __ ?52?09 

• -- "i49,692 - __ ,_ ---- __ 
10,~6_3_ -· _ 

18,618 
$ 3,468,734 • $ 1,081,517 $ 404,551 $ 455,117 $ 

Nine-Months Ended September 30, 2022 
Latin 

Asia Pacific America 
U.S. and (including and 
Canada EMEA1 Oceania) Caribbean 

$ 2,882,306 _$ __ 857,805 _$ ... ?27,632 $. _377,0_12 $ 
135,445 _9J,912 22,943 10,236 
'o/4;472: 
18,356 

·-· 
$ 3,110,579 $ 949,717 $ 350,575 $ 387,248 $ 

2Effectively from February 17, 2022 to September 30, 2022 

14 

Total 
_ 1,_70_?,24! -

98,763 
42,~~6~ 

6,698 
1,856,028, 

Total 
_J,502,2~9 

88,802 

-- ?~~!~: 
6,447 

1,624,286; 

Total 
4,956,79?: 

284,811 
... j49;6·9~~ 

18,618 
5,409,919: 

Total 
'!:,¥:I, 755 1 

260,536 
_74,472' 
18,356 

4,798,119 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tubular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

Contract Liabilities 

Amounts received from certain bottlers/distributors at inception of their distribution contracts or at the inception of certain 
sales/marketing programs are accounted for as deferred revenue. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had $249.3 million of deferred 
revenue, which is included in current and long-term deferred revenue in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet. As of 
December 31, 2022, the Company had $267.1 million of deferred revenue, which is included in current and long-term deferred revenue 
in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet. During both the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, $10.0 
million of deferred revenue was recognized in net sales. See Note 11. During both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
$30.0 million of deferred revenue was recognized in net sales. See Note 11. 

4. LEASES 

The Company leases identified assets consisting primarily of office and warehouse space, warehouse equipment and vehicles. 
Leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases based on criteria in ASC 842, "Leases". The Company's leases have 
remaining lease terms of less than one year to 11 years, some of which include options to extend the leases for up to five years, and some 
of which include options to terminate the leases within one year. 

The components of lease cost were as follows: 

Three-Months Ended September 30, 
2023 2022 

Operating• lease cost 
Short~term-lease cost -

V~J~b!e l('.asi_ ~CJSt-

f.in~nc~ f~a_~ei -• 
Amortization of right-of-use assets 

i Interest ·on-il,ase liabilities , •• - - • 
.... "' -· ' - - - . 

Finance lease cost 

Total. lease cost $ 

_ 2,96_8 $ 
2,209 

295 

. - --·-
383 
88 

471 

5,943 $ 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows: 

tast:i_ paid for ~~o_unts i11~fl/:deci f.11 the ineasur~ment of lease liabilities:~ -
Operating cash outflows from operating leases 

: -Operating cash outflows from finance leases -• 

_ J:'!nru.1<:!_!1g~~sh,_outefo\\'s_ fro~ finan_c_e leases 

Right:of-use-assets obtained in- exchange for lease olifigations:- --
- ~inancelea_ses - - • • - - • •• • • 

Operating leases 

15 

--

2,:306 
1,001 
- 189 

140 
-8 

148 

3,644 

Nine-Months Ended September 30, 
2023 2022 

$ -8,Q.51 ___ -t_ - - - _\\~38 1 

4,258 2,870 
• 736 567 

708 415 
146 1s· 
854 433 

$ 13,899 $ 10,108 

Nine-Months Ended September 30, 
2023 2022 

$ 7,600 $ 
146 

3,~60 __ _ 

10)_20 ___ _ 
15,944 

5,859 
-_ rn: 
1,678 

: 1,§54 
20,093 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tubular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows: 

oPerating fea~es: -. - - --- ·­

Right-of-11se- assets -
~ - -_•,;- ' -- - - - -- - -· 

••• ·•···~-. ---- -- -
Current lease liabilities 
N oncurrent leas·e liabilities 

Total. operating ·lease liabilities 
. - - ,_ ... , - .. -. -.- - - - - -

Finance leases: 
. Jligh!;:51faUS~ as~eis •.• .• 

' C::_urreni lease liabi]i):ies. 
N oncurrent lease liabilities 

Total finance lease ii.abilities •• 

Balance Sheet Location 

Other assets 

Accrued liabilities 
Other liabilities 

•-- ---·--- ·---

Property ari4 :eguf pinen( _ne_t 

-Accrued liabilities 
Other liabilities 

··• 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ .. 

-$ 

$ 

September 30, December 31, 
2023 2022 

--47,160 _ $ -· _ -· 38,012. 
•.· -- - -- - - -

9,119 $ 7,747 
38,111 29,586: 
47,230 $ 37,333 

9;824~ _if l,59f 

7,232_ $ .. 757' 
24 41 

7,256 $ 798: 

Weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate for the Company's leases were as follows: 

Weightecf~average remaining lease term in years: 
, operating Teases- • • • •• - - •• 

i_ Fi~anc_e leaS\!S~ .. 

Weighted-average discount rate: .. 
• Operating l~ases •• • -· - •••• 

:tina~<2e·1e_ases 

September 30, 2023 

6.5 
0.8 

4.0% 
·6.2 % 

December 31, 2022. 

6.7 
0.8 

3.4% 
• --~_:t6%_] 

The following table outlines maturities of the Company's lease liabilities as of September 30, 2023: 

fo23·:ctro~bct0Ji~r-t?9·2-~:to becem~er_ 3i,_ 20_2~): 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2-0~27 __ 
2028 and thereafter 
• j"oia! ie;ase pa0nents ·- :-:-. : -
Less imputed interest 

---Total -· .. '. - -. ·-
·-·-----. 

Operating Leases Finance Leases 
$ 2,?12 _ )__ _ 2,6_~9-

10,271 4,814 
_ _8~183 • 'fj; 

6,978 
6,7?4 

19,254 

2 
··- - -=::.1 

5_3,9_52 7,452. 

---~(6_, 7_22~)_ ---~(1_96~) 
47,230 $ 7,256' 

========== 
$ 

As of September 30, 2023, the Company did not have any significant additional leases that had not yet co=enced. 
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5. INVESTMENTS 

The following table summarizes the Company's investments at: 

September 30, 2023 
:Available-for-sale 
Short-term: 
,: Co~ercial paper ... 

Certificates of deposit 

• M.wiJcfp~I secm}t!es .. '. .. : : _ .. __ 
U.S. government agency securities 

: U.S. _treas~ries ,_· - • • • 
Corporate bonds 

Loilg-!errj):. - - = -- -- --

Amortized 
Cost 

$ ··276,lio_? 
15,366 
iJ;8~2 
153,356 

)36,~66 •• 

233,~28 

u.s. government agency securities 11,489 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Gains 

8 
9, 
5 

3 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Losses 

_, .... ?f .. 
311 

1,234 
574 

12 
29·-~u}:_tre~~~rie~- ~- •• ·-·· :. ·_ -··-·· 30,364 

Corporate bonds • 10,845 
- - - - --

TotaC ••• • • $ 1,291,578 $ 25 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Amortized Holding 
December 31, 2022 Cost Gains 
Available-for-sale --·-·-- --·---- -
Short-term: 

$. °i97}12 $ j 
-· 

10,078 
. ·commerciai paj:i-er· • 
- Certific~tes of deposit­
. -M unicip~I s_ecurli:iel • 211,791 

----

U.S. government agency securities 
_U.S. tre4s~ies • • ·.- ,. • 

Long-term: 
: U,S. go\feriune~!~gencfS~fUri!i~S 

U.S. treasuries 
; v~iilb]e r~riic[~[!!ilncf.n.ote.s 

Total $ 

60 
109,697 3 
838,~2-5 ·17 

.. __ 2,0~6 ... 
53,215 20 
·:6,266 • 

1,429,600 $ 101 

24 
$ 2,215 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Losses 

f 4 

612 
715 

4;5~~-

3 
71 

$ 5,944 

Fair 
Value 

$ •. 270,.000 
15,366 

$ 

- • 29]~:r· • 

153,053 
_5~5,741. -
. .23_2,759_ 

1!,4?7 
30,338 
10,821 

1,289,388 

Fair 
Value 

Continuous Continuous 
Unrealized Unrealized 

Loss Position Loss Position 
less than 12 greater than 12 

$ 

Months 

2 f 

29 
311 

__ i,234 
574 

12 
29 
24 

2,215 $ 

Months 

===== 

Continuous Continuous 
Unrealized Unrealized 

Loss Position Loss Position 
less than 12 greater than 12 

Months Months 

- - ' 

f 1~7,709 ... L __ 4 $ ___ , 

10,078 
··--2i"i,239_ 612 -

108,985 715 
.. 834,303 _ ··- 4,5:39 -,. - - -- -- ----- . 

2,Q13 3 ·- --- . -· 
53,164 71 

6,266 
$ 1,423,757 $ 5,944 $ 

During the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, realized gains or losses recognized on the sale of 
investments were not significant. 

The Company's investments at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 carried investment grade credit ratings. 
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The following table summarizes the underlying contractual maturities of the Company's investments at: 

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022 
Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value 

~esstl111n_ i_ ~e-a~:'. 
Commercial paper 

-Municipal-securiti~s 
ifs·. go~ernment ~gency securities 

_ ~ Certificates·o"fdeposit __ -: _ - -
U.S. treasuries 

• Corp_orate b.9_n~s_ 
Due 1 - 10 years: 
' • µ.s:·iie~~ur\es . 

U.S. government agency securities 
Variable 'rate demand notes - - • - ·- - • -·· 
Corporate bonds 

iSueT!. - 26-years: · - -_ _ 

$ 270,002 ·s 
29,862 

153,356 
_}sii6f-
536,966 
233;:328 

3_0,3_64 
11,489 

10,845 

270,000 $ 197,712 $ 
29,833-· 211,79i 

153,053 109,697 
:-~Js;3§f • - -- - f6,o7L 

535,741 .. 
232,zsg 

30,3_38_~-- ·- __ 
_ 11!477 

_ 10,82~--

838,825 

53,2i_~ ---
2,016 

•• 4,$62 __ 

1,404 

197,710 
211,239• 
108,985 

__ 10,QZ~: 
834,302 

5_3,16_{ 
2,013 

_4,8(i:i_: 

1,404 • \rariabie rate cie~aii.ci. notes -
: Total • $ 1,291,578 ·$ 1,289,388 - =$==1,=42=9=,6=00= $ 1,423,757: 

6. FAIR VALUE OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement", provides a framework for measuring fair value and requires disclosures regarding fair 
value measurements. ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received on the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy that 
requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs, where available. The three levels of inputs required by the standard that the 
Company uses to measure fair value are summarized below. 

• Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in 
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for 
substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities. 

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the 
assets or liabilities. 

ASC 820 requires the use of observable market inputs ( quoted market prices) when measuring fair value and requires a Level 1 
quoted price to be used to measure fair value whenever possible. 
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The following tables present the fair value of the Company's financial assets and liabilities that are recorded at fair value on a 
recurring basis, segregated among the appropriate levels within the fair value hierarchy at: 

September 30, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Cash $ 983,999 $ $ $ 983,999, 
Money market funds •• 

-588,,Z_99 588,799 
Certific~tes of deposi~ _53,7~4- . 53,78~. 
Commercial paper 270,000 270,000 
f=()rporate bonds__ _ _ :: 243,580 ?13;5BQ 
Municipal securities 29,833 29,833 
U.S. go\'er!]Illent-agency sect_1rities _ 190,712 ho,ni' 
U.S. treasuries 702,530 702,530 
to__reign_ cui::i:e11cy <lir_iv~iives 695 --695: 

- ---- -- -
Commodity derivatives 3,434 3,434 .. , Total -- - - $ 1,572,798 $ 1,494,568 $ $ 3,067,366: 

Amounts· included in: 
Cash and cash equivalen~ $ 1,572,798 $ 201,051 $ $ 1,773,849 
siiciri-term investments ---- l,2_3~,75~ - ____ },~36,752 
--- - -----
Accounts receivable, net 4,887 4,887 
Other. <lSS_eis.. • -- 371 371 
Investments 52,636 52,636 
Accrued-habTiiries- (1,129) (l,i29) 

Total $ 1,572,798 $ 1,494,568 $ $ 3,067,366 

December 31, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Cash $_ 1,132,509 $ $ L 1,132,~0~, 
Money market funds 12_1,444 121,444 
,¢ertificate:i of depo;it io,078 • io;9~B-
<;:_~~ercial p_ap_er _____ 225,067 225!Q~7_ 
Variable rate demand note·s :6,266 _ .. 6,_266_; 
Municipal securiti~s 213,798 213,798 
U.S. government <1gency securities 113,~57_ 113,357, 
U.S. treasuries 908,379 908,379 
Foreign c_urrency _derivative,; - (3,733) (3)33) 

Total $ 1,253,953 $ 1,473,212 $ $ 2,727,165 

Amounts included in: 
,cash a11ci_ c_a~h eguivajents - $ i,i53,953 $ 53,!88 $ $ 1,307,14f 
Short-term investments 1,362,314 1,362,314 
AcCO!,lnts receiya~ie, net 965 --- -965' 

Investments 61,443 61,443 
:A~~rue

0

d liabilitie~ ~ __ ' -·· (4,698) (4,698) 
Total $ 1,253,953 $ 1,473,212 $ $ 2,727,165 

All of the Company's short-term and long-term investments are classified within Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
The Company's valuation of its Level 1 investments is based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical securities. The 
Company's valuation of its Level 2 investments is based on other observable inputs, specifically a market approach which utilizes 
valuation models, pricing systems, mathematical tools and other relevant information for the same or similar securities. The Company's 
valuation of its Level 2 foreign currency exchange contracts is based on quoted market prices_ of the same or sinlilar instruments, 
adjusted for counterparty risk. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements during the three- and nine-months 
ended September 30, 2023, or during the year-ended December 31, 2022, and there were no changes in the Company's valuation 
techniques. 
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7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES 

The Company accounts for its derivative instruments and hedging activities under ASC 815, "Derivatives and Hedging." The 
following table presents the fair values of the Company's derivative instruments: 

Fair value 
September 30, December 31, 

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments 2023 2022 Balance Sheet location 
Assets: . . - . 

Commodity contracts 
Commodity contracts 

Liabilities: 
Co\llmodity contra~ts 

$ 
$ 

3,27_3 $ 
371 $ 

(210) $ 

Fair value 
September 30, December 31, 

Accounts receivable, net 
Other ·assets •• • • • 

Accrued liabilities 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 2023 2022 Balance Sheet location 
Assets: 

. --· -· ,__, 

Foreign currency exchange contracts 
Liabilities: • • • • 

- --·· 
Foreign currency exchange contracts 

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy 

$ 

$ 

1,614 $ 

(919) $ 

965 Accounts receivable, n~t 

(4,698) Accrued liabilities 

The Company uses cash flow hedges to minimize the variability in cash flows of forecasted transactions caused by fluctuations 
in commodity prices. The changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI") and are reclassified into the line item in our condensed consolidated statement of income in 
which the hedged items are recorded in the same period that the hedged items affect earnings. The changes in the fair values of hedges 
that are determined to be ineffective are immediately reclassified from AOCI into earnings. The maximum length of time for which the 
Company hedges its exposure to the variability in future cash flows is currently less than two years. 

The Company has entered into commodity hedge contracts to mitigate the price risk associated with a portion of its forecasted 
aluminum purchases. These derivative instruments were designated as part of the Company's commodity cash flow hedging program. 
The objective of this hedging program is to reduce the variability of cash flows associated with future purchases of aluminum. The total 
notional values of derivatives that were designated and qualified for this program were $83.8 million as of September 30, 2023. 
Transactions under the commodity cash flow hedging program were executed beginning in May 2023. 

The following table presents the impact that changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges had on 
other comprehensive income ("OCI"), AOCI and earnings: 

Derivatives 
designated as 

hedging instruments 
Comm9dity contracts 

Derivatives 
designated as 

hedging instruments 
Comm~dHy_ contracts 

Three-months ended September 30, 2023 

Gain (loss) recognized 
inAOCI 

$ 4,700 

Location of gain (loss) 
_ recognized in income 
Cost of sales 

Nine-months ended September 30, 2023 

Gain (loss) recognized 
inAOCI 

$ 3,434 

20 

Location of gain (loss) 
recognized in income 

Cost of sales 

$ 

$ 

Gain (loss) 
reclassified from 

AOCI into income 

Gain (loss) 
reclassified from 

AOCI into income 
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As of September 30, 2023, the Company estimates that it will reclassify into earnings net gains (losses) of $3.1 million from the 
amount recorded in AOCI as the anticipated cash flows occur during the next 12 months. 

Economic (Non-Designated) Hedging Strategy 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risks related primarily to its foreign business operations. During the 
nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and the year-ended December 31, 2022, the Company entered into forward currency exchange 
contracts with financial institutions to create an economic hedge to specifically manage a portion of the foreign exchange risk exposure 
associated with certain consolidated subsidiaries' non-functional currency denominated assets and liabilities. All foreign currency 
exchange contracts of the Company that were outstanding as of September 30, 2023 have terms of one month or less. The Company does 
not enter into forward currency exchange contracts for speculation or trading purposes. 

The Company has not designated its foreign currency exchange contracts as hedge transactions. Therefore, gains and losses on 
the Company's foreign currency exchange contracts are recognized in interest and other income (expense), net, in the condensed 
consolidated statements of income, and are largely offset by the changes in the fair value of the underlying economically hedged item. 
The total notional values of derivatives related to our foreign currency economic hedges were $310.3 million and $299.8 million as of 
September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. 

The net gains (losses) on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments in the condensed consolidated statements of income 
were as follows: 

Derivatives not designated as 
hedging instruments 

Forei_gn _currency_ ex_cha~&e contr~c~ 

Derivatives not designated as 
hedging instruments 

Foreign ~u~rency exchang_e contracts_ 

Location of gain (loss) 
recognized in income on derivatives 

IntE're_st and o_!he_r jncome (expense), °:et __ _ 

Location of gain (loss) 
recognized in income on derivatives 

Interest_and other income ( expense), net 

Gain (loss) 
recognized in income on 

derivatives 
Three-months ended 

September 30, 
2023 

September 30, 
2022 

$ 5,080 $ 4,631 

Gain (loss) 
recognized in income on 

derivatives 
Nine-months ended 

September 30, September 30, 
2023 2022 

$ (4,695) $ 1,355 

Certain of the Company's counterparty agreements contain provisions that require the Company to post collateral on derivative 
instruments in a net liability position. As of September 30, 2023, no amounts were posted as collateral. 

8. INVENTORIES 

Inventories consist of the following at: 

September 30, December 31, 
2023 2022 

Raw materials - ·-, 
$ 355,557 . _$ 467,392; 

Work in process 1,768 1,688 
Fi_nis_~e~ g<Jods .: 526,257 466,551' 

$ 883,582 $ 935,631 
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9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

Property and equipment consist of the following at: 

Land 
Leaseholtimprovements 
Furniture ~n~ ~ixtures -
Office and computer equipment­
C:()mputer s_oftware - - • - - •• 

Equipment 
Buildings - -
Vehicles. 
Assets illlder construction - ·-- - - -

September 30, 
2023 

$ 151,~?3 
35,531 
9J14 __ 

23,657 
3,6~3: -

360,775 
210,99~ 

66,297 
138;328 _ 

1,001,054 
(269;846) 

$ 731,208 

December 31, 
2022 

$ - 139, ?'_9_8 ~ 
31,327 
),~86; 
22,386 
- 5,966'. 

244,739 
t63,885; 
49,175 
83;553: 

750,055 
(233,158) 

$ 516,897 

Total depreciation and amortization expense was $16.7 million and $13.6 million for the three-months ended September 30, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. Total depreciation and amortization expense was $46.1 million and $40.5 million for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

10. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The following is a roll-forward of goodwill for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 by reportable segment: 

:i3aiance at :December 31,_~g-i:2 
Acquisitions 
]3-a!~~c(~! September-~6, ::fo23._ 

Balance ·ar·becember :n; 2021" -­
Acquisiti~ns - -- -- ---- -- ,_ 

!3alan~e-~t September_ 30, 2022 

Intangible assets consist of the following at: 

Amortizing-intangibles· 
Acciimui.itect ~ortiiation 

,._ ~~~--

Non-amortizing intangibles 
·- . - ;•-·•·· - . 

Monster 
Energy® 
Drinks 

$ 69_3,644 $_ 

$ 693,644 $ 

Monster 
Energy® 

Drinks 
t __ 693__,(344 _ $ 

$ 693;644 $ 

22 

Strategic Alcohol 
Brands Brands Other Total 

6~_7,9_9~_. $ 8§,2~8 $' $ 1,4!7,941: 

637,999 $ 86,298 $ $ 1,417,941' 
··-

Strategic Alcohol 
Brands Brands Other Total 

637,~9_9 _____ $ __ ,_$ __ :- -- $ J,_3_:31,?±~, 
81,298 81,298 

637,999 $ 81,298 $ - _. $ 1,412,941 

September 30, December 31, 
2023 2022 

$ 14:t,37a, $ _ 121,3?8; 
(73,007) (68,790) 
_ 71,_371 52,588,; 

1,388,076 1,167,822 
$ 1,459,447 $ 1,220,410: 
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Amortizing intangibles primarily consist of customer relationships. All amortizing intangibles have been assigned an estimated 
finite useful life and such intangibles are amortized on a straight-line basis over the number of years that approximate their respective 
useful lives, generally five to fifteen years. Total amortization expense was $1.3 million and $2.0 million for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Total amortization expense was $4.2 million and $5.6 million for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the three-months ended September 30, 2023, no intangible impairments were recorded. 
For the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, impairment charges of $2.8 million were recorded to non-amortizing intangibles. For the 
three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2022, no intangible impairments were recorded. 

The following is the future estimated amortization expense related to amortizing intangibles as of September 30, 2023: 

2023 (fro~ Qctober 1, 2023 to _De~ember 31, 2023) 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 and thereafter - - ,. 

11. DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENTS 

$ 

i,4:87' 
5,948 
5,947 
5,947 
5,946' 

46,096 
71,371, 

In the normal course of business, amounts received pursuant to new and/or amended distribution agreements entered into with 
certain bottlers/distributors, relating to the costs associated with terminating agreements with the Company's prior distributors, or at the 
inception of certain sales/marketing programs are accounted for as deferred revenue and are recognized as revenue ratably over the 
anticipated life of the respective agreement, generally 20 years or program duration, as the case may be. Revenue recognized was $10.0 
million for both the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. Revenue recognized was $30.0 million for both the nine-months 
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

12. • COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

The Company had purchase commitments aggregating approximately $269.9 million at September 30, 2023, which represented 
commitments made by the Company and its subsidiaries to various suppliers of raw materials for the production of its products. These 
obligations vary in terms, but are generally satisfied within one year. 

The Company had contractual obligations aggregating approximately $451.3 million at September 30, 2023, which related 
primarily to sponsorships and other marketing activities. 

The Company has a credit facility with HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited, Shanghai Branch, of $15.0 million. At 
September 30, 2023, the interest rate on borrowings under the line of credit was 5.5%. As of September 30, 2023, no amounts were 
outstanding on this line of credit. 

Litigation - From time to time in the normal course of business, the Company is named in litigation, including labor and 
employment matters, personal injury matters, consumer class actions, intellectual property matters and claims from prior distributors. 
Although it is not possible to predict the ultimate outcome of such litigation, based on the facts known to the Company, management 
believes that such litigation in aggregate will likely not have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of 
operations. 

The Company evaluates, on a quarterly basis, developments in legal proceedings and other matters that could cause an increase 
or decrease in the amount of the liability that is accrued, if any, and any related insurance reimbursements. As of September 30, 2023, 
$0.3 million of loss contingencies were included in the Company's accompanying consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2022, 
no loss contingencies were included in the Company's accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 
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On September 29, 2022, a jury in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California (the "District Court") awarded 
Monster Energy Company ("MEC'') approximately $293 million in damages in its false advertising and trade secrets case (the "Jury 
Award") against Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("VPX"), the maker of Bang Energy. The jury found VPX and its former chief executive 
officer John H. Owoc to have falsely advertised the "Super Creatine" ingredient of Bang Energy and to have acted willfully and 
deliberately in violating the federal Lanham Act. The jury also found that VPX stole trade secrets and interfered with MEC's contracts 
over shelf space with certain key vendors. On April 12, 2023, the District Court granted Monster's motion for a permanent injunction 
which, among other things, enjoined VPX, Mr. Owoc, and others working in concert with them from falsely or deceptively claiming that 
BANG or any other beverages contain creatine or a form of creatine, requires them to remove all such advertising within 60 days, and 
required VPX and Mr. Owoc to issue corrective statements to consumers and non-consumer partners, including retailers and distributors. 

In April 2022, MEC and Orange Bang, Inc. ("Orange Bang") filed a joint motion in a separate District Court action to confirm a 
final arbitration award against VPX that awarded MEC and Orange Bang $175.0 million and a 5% royalty on all future sales of VPX's 
Bang Energy drink and other Bang-branded products as well as certain fees and costs (the "Arbitration Award"). The arbitration arose 
from a settlement agreement that VPX entered into in 2010 with Orange Bang, a family-owned beverage business. Pursuant to the terms 
of that agreement, VPX is only permitted to use the Bang mark on "creatine-based" products or on Bang products that are marketed and 
sold only in the vitamin and dietary supplement sections of stores. On September 29, 2022, the District Court entered final judgment 
confirming the Arbitration Award. On October 28, 2022, VPX filed a notice of appeal of the District Court's final judgment confirming 
the Arbitration award. 

On October 10, 2022, VPX, along with certain of its domestic subsidiaries and affiliates, filed for protection under Chapter 11 
of the Bankruptcy Code in the Southern District of Florida. Due to such ongoing proceedings, VPX's appeal of the District Court's final 
judgment confirming the Arbitration Award was stayed. While reserving all rights to appeal, VPX made its first royalty payment of $3.6 
million on February 14, 2023, which is for sales of Bang Energy drink and other Bang-branded products from October 10, 2022 through 
December 31, 2022. On May 25, 2023, VPX made an additional royalty payment in the amount of approximately $3.7 million for sales 
of Bang-branded products from January 1, 2023 through March 31, 2023. Per ASC 450 "Contingencies", the Company will not 
recognize the royalty payments until they are realized or realizable. 

On June 28, 2023, VPX and certain of its affiliates ("Bang Energy") entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "APA") 
with the Company ("Buyer"), which among other things, provided for the Buyer's acquisition of substantially all of Bang Energy's 
assets. The transactions contemplated by the APA were approved by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Florida (the 
"Bankruptcy Court") on July 14, 2023 and closed on July 31, 2023, at which time Monster was deemed to have allowed general 
unsecured claims in VPX's bankruptcy case relating to the Jury Award (subject to the potential modification of the Jury Award in light of 
pending post-verdict motions filed by MEC and VPX) and the Arbitration Award. Pursuant to the APA, Bang Energy and the Company 
have mutually released each other from all claims and liabilities related to the Jury Award and the Arbitration Award, except (i) any 
claims that the Company might have against Mr. Owoc in relation to the Jury Award and (ii) the Bankruptcy Court's allowance of the 
Company's unsecured claims in an amount of approximately $422.0 million. Per ASC 450 "Contingencies", the Company will not 
recognize the allowed general unsecured claims as it relates to VPX and its affiliates, or the Jury Award as it relates to Mr. Owoc, until 
they are realized or realizable. 

In June 2023, the Company entered into an agreement with Orange Bang regarding the Company's use and registration of 
certain Bang® trademarks and trade names. Under this agreement, the Company paid Orange Bang a one-time payment of approximately 
$12.5 million and will pay a 2.5% royalty on the Company's sales of products bearing the tradename Bang®. 

On October 31, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court overseeing the chapter 11 cases of VPX and its affiliates confirmed the VPX and 
affiliates Plan of Reorganization that, among other things, made no modification to Monster's allowed unsecured claims. As part of the 
Plan of Reorganization, a Liquidating Trust is formed to pursue all claims not released under the Plan of Reorganization, and to liquidate 
any assets still owned by VPX and its affiliates. The Company has one of three seats on the Oversight Board that oversees the appointed 
Liquidating Trustee's efforts to pursue litigation and otherwise liquidate any remaining assets. As provided herein, per ASC 450 
"Contingencies", the Company will not recognize the allowed unsecured claims until they are realized or realizable. 
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13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component, after tax, for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 
2022 are as follows: 

Bal~nce ai December 3 i.; 2022 
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 
Nei:current-period other ·comprehensive (loss) gai11 

Balance at September 30, 2023 

Balance at December ~l, 202t 
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications 

• Net current-period oiher comprehensive-loss • • • 

Balance at September 30, 2022 

14. TREASURY STOCK 

Accumulated 
Net Gains on 
Commodity 
Derivatives 

$ 
3,434 
3,434 

$ 3,434 

Accumulated 
Net Gains on 
Commodity 
Derivatives 

$ 

$ 

Currency 
Translation 

Gains (Losses) 
$ (153,239) .. 

(46,074) 
(46,074) 

$ (199,304) 

Currency 
Translation 

Losses 
$ ,, _(68,209) 

(147,450) 
(147,450) 

$ (215,659) 

Unrealized 
Gains (Losses) 

on Available-for-
Sale Securities Total 

$ (5,843) -$ (1~9,0?3) 
3,680 (38,960) 
3,680 (38,960) 

$ (2,163) $ (198,033) 

Unrealized 
Losses 

on Available-for-
Sale Securities Total 

$ (956) $ _(69,165) 
(7,840) (155,290) 
(7,840) (155,290:i 

$ (8,796) $ (224,455) 

On March 10, 2023, the Company retired 170.0 million shares (stock split adjusted) of treasury stock owned by the Company. 
The retired stock had a carrying value of approximately$4.69 billion. The Company's accounting policy upon the formal retirement of 
treasury stock is to deduct its par value from common stock and to reflect any excess of cost over par as a deduction from retained 
earnings. 

On June 14, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for the purchase of up to $500.0 
million of the Company's outstanding common stock (the "June 2022 Repurchase Plan"). During the three-months ended September 30, 
2023, the Company purchased approximately 3.3 million shares of common stock at an average purchase price of $55.52 per share, for a 
total amount of approximately $182.8 million (excluding broker commissions), which exhausted the availability under the June 2022 
Repurchase Plan. 

On November 2, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for the purchase of up to an 
additional $500.0 million of the Company's outstanding common stock (the "November 2022 Repurchase Plan"). During the three­
months ended September 30, 2023, the Company purchased approximately 4.0 million shares of common stock at an average purchase 
price of $54.26 per share, for a total amount of approximately $217.1 million (excluding broker commissions), under the November 2022 
Repurchase Plan. As of November 6, 2023, $282.8 million remained available for repurchase under the November 2022 Repurchase 
Plan. 

The aggregate amount of the Company's outstanding common stock that remains available for repurchase under all previously 
authorized repurchase plans is $282.8 million as of November 6, 2023. 

During the three-months ended September 30, 2023, 135 shares of common stock were purchased from employees in lieu of 
cash payments for options exercised or withholding taxes due for a total amount of $7,688. While such purchases are considered 
common stock repurchases, they are not counted as purchases against the Company's authorized share repurchase programs. Such shares 
are included in common stock in treasury in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2023. 
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15. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

The Company has two stock-based compensation plans under which shares were available for grant at September 30, 2023: (i) 
the Monster Beverage Corporation 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, including the Monster Beverage Corporation Deferred Compensation 
Plan as a sub-plan thereunder, and (ii) the Monster Beverage Corporation 2017 Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors as 
Amended and Restated on February 23, 2022, including the Monster Beverage Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Non­
Employee Directors as a sub-plan thereunder. 

The Company recorded $17.9 million and $16.6 million of compensation expense relating to outstanding options, restricted 
stock units, performance share units and other share-based awards during the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The Company recorded $52.5 million and $49.2 million of compensation expense relating to outstanding options, restricted 
stock units, performance share units and other share-based awards during the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

The tax benefit for tax deductions from non-qualified stock option exercises, disqualifying dispositions of incentive stock 
options and vesting of restricted stock units and performance share units for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was 
($0.2) million and $2.0 million, respectively. The tax benefit for tax deductions from non-qualified stock option exercises, disqualifying 
dispositions of incentive stock options and vesting of restricted stock units and performance share units for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $29.9 million and $4.6 million, respectively. 

Stock Options 

Under the Company's stock-based compensation plans, all stock options granted as of September 30, 2023 were granted at 
prices based on the fair value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The Company records compensation expense for 
stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing formula 
with the assumptions included in the table below. The Company uses historical data to determine the exercise behavior, volatility and 
forfeiture rate of the options. 

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of options granted during: 

Dividend yield. . . . 
Expected volatility 
Risk-free interest rate· 
Expected term -

Three-Months Ended September 30, 
2023 2022 

0.0 % 0.0 % 
27.0% 27.6% 
4.2 % 2.8% 
6.3 years 6.2 years 

Nine-Months Ended September 30, 
2023 2022 

0.0% ,0.0 % 
27.6 % 27.7% 
3.7 % 2.1 % 
6.3 years 6.1 years 

Expected Volatility: The Company uses historical volatility as it provides a reasonable estimate of the expected volatility. 
Historical volatility is based on the most recent volatility of the stock price over a period of time equivalent to the expected term of the 
option. 

Risk-Free Interest Rate: The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. treasury zero-coupon yield curve in effect at the time of 
grant for the expected term of the option. 

Expected Term: The Company's expected term represents the weighted-average period that the Company's stock options are 
expected to be outstanding. The expected term is based on the expected time to post-vesting exercise of options by employees. The 
Company uses historical exercise patterns of previously granted options to derive employee behavioral patterns used to forecast expected 
exercise patterns. 

26 

Case 22-17842-PDR    Doc 2806-3    Filed 02/13/25    Page 27 of 69



Table of Contents 

MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tubular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

The following table summarizes the Company's activities with respect to its stock option plans as follows: 

Options 
O11ts_ta11cli1_1g at_Ja1_1uary 1, 2023 

Granted 01/01/23 - 03/31/23 
Granted 04/01/23 - 06/30/23 
Granted 07/01/23 - 09/30/23 
Exercised 
Cancelled or forfeited 

Outsta~dipg.at September 3_0, _20_23 _ _ 
Vested and expected to vest in the future at September 30, 2023 
E~ercisab_le a_t Septen_i.ber :3Q, 202_3 _ • -

Number of 
Shares (in 
thousands) 

29,7!0 
3,962 

31 
25 

(4,2~8)_ 
(306) 

29,204 
28,330 
18,467 

Weighted-
Average 
Exercise 
Price Per 

Share 
$ 26.38 
$ 50.82 
$ 59.36 
$- 57.71 
$ 15.54 
$ 40.05 
$ 31.17 
$ 30.77 
$ 24.70 

Weighted­
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term(in 
years) 

5.0 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 
$ 724,651 

5.3 t 
5.2 $ 
3.5 __ $ 

636,_250 _ 
628,547 

_ ~21,638 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was 
$21.01 per share and $15.97 per share, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the nine­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $18.27 per share and $11.68 per share, respectively. 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $7.1 million and 
$15.3 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 
was $164.9 million and $38.2 million, respectively. 

Cash received from option exercises under all plans for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $5.9 million 
and $12.1 million, respectively. Cash received from option exercises under all plans for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 
2022 was $65.6 million and $34.8 million, respectively. 

At September 30, 2023, there was $106.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested options 
granted to employees under the Company's stock-based compensation plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted­
average period of 3.2 years. 

Restricted Stock Units and Perf.ormance Share Units 

The cost of stock-based compensation for restricted stock units and performance share units is measured based on the closing 
fair market value of the Company's common stock at the date of grant. In the event that the Company has the option and intent to settle a 
restricted stock unit or performance share unit in cash, the award is classified as a liability and revalued at each balance sheet date. 
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The following table summarizes the Company's activities with respect to non-vested restricted stock units and performance 
share units as follows: 

Non-vested at-Jani.iary 1,"2023 • 
Granted 01/01/23 ~ 03/31/231 

• Granted 04/01/23 _- 06}30/23 
Granted 07/01/23 - 09/30/23 
Vested 
Forfeited/cancelled 

Non-vested at S~ptember 30, 2023 

Number of 
Shares (in 
thousands) 

2,Q2§ 
523 

22 
2 

(593) 
(12). 

1,968 

Weighted 
Average 

Grant-Date 
Fair Value 

$ 36.27 
"i - 48.49 
$ 59.70 
$ 56.38 
$ • 32.82, 
$ 32.71 
$. 40.86, 

1The grant activity for performance share units is recorded based on the target performance level earning 100% of target performance share units. The 
actual number of performance share units earned could range from 0% to 200% of target depending on the achievement of pre-established performance 
goals. 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted stock units and/or performance share units granted during the three­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $56.38 and $47.59 per share, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value 
of restricted stock units and/or performance share units granted during the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $51.22 
and $37.12 per share, respectively. 

As of September 30, 2023, 1.9 million of restricted stock units and performance share units are expected to vest over their 
respective terms. 

At September 30, 2023, total unrecognized compensation expense relating to non-vested restricted stock units and performance 
share units was $39.5 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years. 

Other Share-Based Awards 

The Company has granted other share-based awards to certain employees that are payable in cash. These awards are classified 
as liabilities and are valued based on the fair value of the award at the grant date and are remeasured at each reporting date until 
settlement, with compensation expense being recognized in proportion to the completed requisite service period up until date of 
settlement. At September 30, 2023, other share-based awards outstanding included grants that vest over three years payable in the first 
quarters of 2024, 2025 and 2026. 

At September 30, 2023, there was $1.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested other share­
based awards granted to employees under the Company's stock-based compensation plans. That expense is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. 
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16. INCOME TAXES 

The following is a roll-forward of the Company's total gross unrecognized tax benefits, not including interest and penalties, for 
the nine-months ended September 30, 2023: 

Balance at December 31, 2022 
•-·-·. -- -- - -
Additions for tax positions related to the current year 
Additions for tax_ positions related •• to the prim years • 
Decreases for tax positions related to the prior years 
Balanc·e at September 30; 20_23 . • 

Gross Unrecognized 
Tax Benefits 

$ 3,020) 

738! 

$ 3,758, 

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes in 
the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had approximately $0. 7 million in 
accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. If the Company were to prevail on all uncertain tax positions, the 
resultant impact on the Company's effective tax rate would not be significant. It is expected that any change in the amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months will not be significant. 

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as to income tax in multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. 

The Company is in various stages of examination with certain states and certain foreign jurisdictions. The Company's 2019 
through 2022 U.S. federal income tax returns are subject to examination by the IRS. The Company's state income tax returns are subject 
to examination for the 2018 through 2022 tax years. 

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

A reconciliation of the weighted-average shares used in the basic and diluted earnings per common share computations is 
presented below (in thousands): 

Weighted-averag_e shares outstandi_ng: 
Basic 
Dilutive • 
Diluted 

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

1,047,91_5 1,053,594 
12,951 . • 13,006 

1,059,966 1,066,600 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

1,046,337 1,056,526 
- i3,47T:. - • 12,672 • 

1,059,809 1,069,198 

For the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, options and awards outstanding totaling 4.1 million shares and 7.0 
million shares, respectively, were excluded from the calculations as their effect would have been antidilutive. For the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, options and awards outstanding totaling 3.1 million shares and 5.8 million shares, respectively, were 
excluded from the calculations as their effect would have been antidilutive. 

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company has four operating and reportable segments: (i) Monster Energy® Drinks segment, which is primarily comprised 
of the Company's Monster Energy® drinks, Reign Storm TM total wellness energy drinks, Reign® Total Body Fuel high performance 
energy drinks, Bang Energy® drinks and Monster Tour Water® (ii) Strategic Brands segment, which is primarily comprised of the 
various energy drink brands acquired from TCCC in 2015 as well as the Company's affordable energy brands, (iii) Alcohol Brands 
segment, which is primarily comprised of the various craft beers and hard seltzers purchased as part of the CANarchy Transaction on 
February 17, 2022 as well as The Beast UnleashedTM FMBs and (iv) Other segment, which is primarily comprised of the AFF Third­
Party Products. 
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The Company's Monster Energy® Drinks segment primarily generates net operating revenues by selling ready-to-drink 
packaged drinks primarily to bottlers/distributors. In some cases, the Company sells ready-to-drink packaged drinks directly to retail 
grocery and specialty chains, wholesalers, club stores, mass merchandisers, convenience and gas chains, drug stores, foodservice 
customers, value stores, e-commerce retailers and the military. 

The Company's Strategic Brands segment primarily generates net operating revenues by selling "concentrates" and/or 
"beverage bases" to authorized bottling and canning operations. Such bottlers generally combine the concentrates and/or beverage bases 
with sweeteners, water and other ingredients to produce ready-to-drink packaged energy drinks. The ready-to-drink p·ackaged energy 
drinks are then sold by such bottlers to other bottlers/distributors and to retail grocery and specialty chains, wholesalers, club stores, mass 
merchandisers, convenience and gas chains, foodservice customers, drug stores, value stores, e-commerce retailers and the military. To a 
lesser extent, the Strategic Brands segment generates net operating revenues by selling certain ready-to-drink packaged energy drinks to 
bottlers/distributors. 

Generally, the Monster Energy® Drinks segment generates higher per case net operating revenues, but lower per case gross 
profit margin percentages than the Strategic Brands segment. 

The Company's Alcohol Brands segment primarily generates operating revenues by selling kegged and ready-to-drink canned 
beers, hard seltzers and FMBs primarily to beer distributors in the United States. 

Generally, the Alcohol Brands segment has lower gross profit margin percentages than the Monster Energy® Drinks segment. 

Corporate and unallocated amounts that do not relate to a reportable segment have been allocated to "Corporate & Unallocated." 
No asset information, other than goodwill and other intangible assets, has been provided in the Company's reportable segments, as 
management does not measure or allocate such assets on a segment basis. 
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The net revenues derived from the Company's reportable segments and other financial information related thereto for the three­
and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 were as follows: 

Nets.a!es: 
Monster Energy®-Drinks1• 

Strategic Brands ••• 
- Alcohol Brarids2 • 

Corporate and unallocated 

Operating Income: 
-M~~ster Energy® Drinks l •• 

: • Strategic Brancfs ._ 
-'Aicohol Brand;2 -
.- Other 

Corporate_a11~ unallocated 

Income before tax: •. 
-Monster Energy® Drinks1·-­

, Strategic Brands· 
- Alcohol Brands2 • 

Other 
C_orp9rate ancl unall_ocated 

$ 

---·-

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

1,708,242 $ 1,502,219 
_ )8,763-

·-
• . s8:so2-

42,326 -- 26~8i8 
- •• 6,697 6,447 

1,856,028 $ 1,624,286 

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

603,670 $ 492,534 
• 52)39 • - - 47,28_2 

(11,734) (10,262) 
- 1;296 -- 977 
(135,435) (112,601) 
510,527 $ 417,930 

====== 

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

604,688 $ 
_5_2,7_4_6 
(11,757) 
_ 1,3i5 -

(65,108) 

493,486 
47,319 

(10,124) 
977 

(111,579) 
420,079 581,884 =$======= 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

.. 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

4,956,797_ $ 4,444,755 
284,810 _)60~5~6_; 
149,692 74,472 

18,6_20 __ _1!),-356: 

5,409,919 $ 4,798,119: 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

1,762,410 $ 
- -· !59,639_ 

1,388,815 
·145;97r 
(19,873) 
- _ 3,i3s l 
(327,688) 

(25,193) 
- 2,654 

(380,114) 
1,519,396 $ 1,190,369, 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

1,765,018 $ 
- " . -•,. ' 
1,391,026 

-- _ -- _ 1_59,683 __ _)4_6,08_? 
(25,208) (19,620) 

--- __ 2.._679 -~,139.' 
(283,766) (342,190) 

$ 1,618,406 $ 1,178,437' 

(1) Includes $10.0 million for both the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 related to the recognition of deferred revenue. Includes $30,0 million for both 
the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 related to the recognition of deferred revenue. 

(.2) For the nine-months ended September 30, 2022, effectively from February 17, 2022 to September 30, 2022. 

Depredatlon and amortlzatlon:_ 
Monster Energy® Drinks' -- -

,_-Str~tegic_!~ra~~S,-_ _. 
Alcohol Brands ·other -- -- . .,. -
_Corporate and unallocated 

$ 

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

10,023 $ 7,773 . .. 
i9'9" 234 

3,713 ---·-·------ 3!_816 
• ··1,121 50 

3,891 2,768 
$ 17,979 $ 15,609 

31 

$ 

$ 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 

27,830 $ 24,035 
616 --- 709 

11,973 9,679 
"f224 3,345, 
8,721 8,272 

50,364 $ 46,040, 
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Corporate and unallocated expenses for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 include $82.7 million of payroll costs, of 
which $17.4 million was attributable to stock-based compensation expenses (see Note 15 "Stock-Based Compensation"), as well as 
$27.3 million attributable to professional service expenses, including accounting and legal costs, and $25.4 million of other operating 
expenses. 

Corporate and unallocated expenses for the three-months ended September 30, 2022 include $69.4 million of payroll costs, of 
which $16.2 million was attributable to stock-based compensation expenses (see Note 15 "Stock-Based Compensation"), as well as 
$26.0 million attributable to professional service expenses, including accounting and legal costs, and $17.2 million of other operating 
expenses. 

Corporate and unallocated expenses for the nine-months ende_d September 30, 2023 include $245.5 million of payroll costs, of 
which $51.1 million was attributable to stock-based compensation expenses (see Note 15 "Stock-Based Compensation"), as well as 
$7 4. 7 million attributable to professional service expenses, including accounting and legal costs, and $59.9 million of other operating 
expenses. 

Corporate and unallocated expenses for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022 include $207.6 million of payroll costs, of 
which $48.5 million was attributable to stock-based compensation expenses (see Note 15 "Stock-Based Compensation"), as well as 
$69.3 million attributable to professional service expenses, including accounting and legal costs, and $50.8 million of other operating 
expenses. 

Coca-Cola Europacific Partners accounted for approximately 14% and 12% of the Company's net sales for the three-months 
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Coca-Cola Europacific Partners accounted for approximately 13% of the Company's 
net sales for both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

Coca-Cola Consolidated, Inc. accounted for approximately 10% and 11 % of the Company's net sales for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Coca-Cola Consolidated, Inc. accounted for approximately 10% of the Company's net sales 
for both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

Reyes Holdings, LLC accounted for approximately 9% and 10% of the Company's net sales for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Reyes Holdings, LLC accounted for approximately 9% and 10% of the Company's net sales 
for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Net sales to customers outside the United States amounted to $733. 7 million and $610.6 million for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Such sales were approximately 40% and 38% of net sales for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Net sales to customers outside the United States amounted to $2.07 billion and $1.81 billion 
for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Such sales were approximately 38% of net sales for both the nine­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets for the Company's reportable segments as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 
were as follows: 

Goodwill and ·other intangible assets:·· 
Monster Energy® Drinks • • •• • 
Strategic Brands· 
Alcohol Brands 
·other 
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September 30, 
2023 

December 31, 
2022 

$ 1,667,462 $ 
982,311 
227,61_5_ 

1,424,212 
• 979,896. 

233,140 
1,i(i3' 

$ 2,877,388 $ 2,638,351 
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MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Tubular Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts) (Unaudited) 

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

TCCC controls approximately 19.6% of the voting interests of the Company. The TCCC Subsidiaries, the TCCC Related Parties 
and certain TCCC independent bottlers/distributors purchase and distribute the Company's products in domestic and certain international 
markets. The Company also pays TCCC a commission based on certain sales within the TCCC distribution network. 

TCCC commissions, based on sales to the TCCC Subsidiaries and the TCCC Related Parties, were $21.4 million and $12.8 
million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included as a reduction to net sales. TCCC 
commissions, based on sales to the TCCC Subsidiaries and the TCCC Related Parties, were $55.2 million and $41.3 million for the nine­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included as a reduction to net sales. 

TCCC commissions, based on sales to TCCC independent bottlers/distributors, were $8.8 million and $5.5 million for the three­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and are included in operating expenses. TCCC commissions, based on sales to 
TCCC independent bottlers/distributors, were $25.7 million and $24.4 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively, and are included in operating expenses. 

Net sales to the TCCC Subsidiaries for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 were $40.2 million and $36.6 
million, respectively. Net sales to the TCCC Subsidiaries for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 were $108.4 million 
and $95.0 million, respectively. 

The Company also purchases concentrates from TCCC, which are then sold to certain of the Company's bottlers/distributors. 
Concentrate purchases from TCCC were $7.8 million and $6.5 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. Concentrate purchases from TCCC were $22.5 million and $21.5 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 
and 2022, respectively. 

Certain TCCC Subsidiaries also contract manufacture certain of the Company's energy drinks. Such contract manufacturing 
expenses were $10.1 million and $9.1 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Such contract 
manufacturing expenses were $25.1 million and $23.1 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued promotional allowances and accrued liabilities related to the TCCC Subsidiaries 
were as follows at: • 

Ac~ounts re_ce_ivable,_ net _ 
Accounts payable 
Accrued promotional allowances 
Accrued liabilities 

September 30, 
2023 

December 31, 
2022 

$ 
$ 

. $ 
$ 

138,987 • $ 
(49,937) $ 
(13,256) $ 
(21,789) $ 

88,169: 
(35,467) 
(11,222} 
(14,733) 

One director of the Company through certain trusts, and a family member of one director are the principal owners of a company 
that provides promotional materials to the Company. Expenses incurred with such company in connection with promotional materials 
purchased during the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 were $0.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively. Expenses 
incurred with such company in connection with promotional materials purchased during the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 
2022 were $3.0 million and $4.7 million, respectively. 
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The Company occasionally charters a private aircraft that is indirectly owned by Mr. Rodney C. Sacks, Co-Chief Executive 
Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. On certain occasions, Mr. Sacks is accompanied by guests and other Company 
personnel when using such aircraft for business travel. During the three-months ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred costs 
of $0.10 million, amounts the Company believes is commensurate with market rates for comparable travel. No amounts were incurred 
during the three-months ended September 30, 2022. During the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred 
costs of $0.13 million and $0.08 million, respectively, amounts the Company believes is commensurate with market rates for comparable 
travel. 

In December 2018, the Company and a director of the Company entered into a 50-50 partnership that purchased land, and real 
property thereon, in Kana, Hawaii for the purpose of producing coffee products; This partnership meets the definition of a Variable 
Interest Entity ("VIE") for which the Company has determined that it is the primary beneficiary. Therefore, the Company consolidates 
the VIE in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements. The aggregate carrying values of the VIE 's assets and 
liabilities, after elimination of any intercompany transactions and balances, as well as the results of operations for all periods presented, 
are not material to the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

Our Business 

When this report uses the words "the Company", "we", "us", and "our", these words refer to Monster Beverage Corporation and 
its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires. Based in Corona, California, Monster Beverage Corporation is a holding company 
and conducts no operating business except through its consolidated subsidiaries. The Company's subsidiaries primarily develop and 
market energy drinks, and to a lesser extent, craft beers, hard seltzers and flavored malt beverages ("FMBs"). 

Bang Energy® 

On July 31, 2023, we completed our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Vital Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its debtor 
affiliates (collectively, "Bang Energy'') (the "Bang Transaction"). The acquired assets primarily include Bang Energy® drinks and a 
beverage production facility in Phoenix, AZ. 

Inventory purchased as part of the Bang Transaction was recorded at fair value. Certain of the purchased inventory was 
subsequently sold in the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and was recognized through cost of sales at fair value (the "Bang 
Inventory Step-Up"). Gross profit was negatively impacted by approximately $7.8 million during the three-months ended September 30, 
2023 as a result. 

During the three-months ended September 30, 2023, in connection with the Bang Transaction, we recorded a gain of $45.4 
million in interest and other income (expense), net within the condensed consolidated statements of income and reported within the 
Corporate and Unallocated segment (the "Bang Transaction Gain"). 

During the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023, we incurred approximately $8.0 million and $15.1 million, 
respectively, of acquisition costs related to the Bang Transaction (the "Bang Transaction Expenses"). 

Stock Split 

On February 28, 2023, we announced a two-for-one stock split of our common stock to be effected in the form of a 100% stock 
dividend (the ''Stock Split"). The common stock dividend was issued on March 27, 2023 and our common stock began trading at the split 
adjusted price on March 28, 2023. Accordingly, all per share amounts, average common stock outstanding, common stock outstanding, 
common stock repurchased and equity-based compensation presented in this Form 10-Q have been adjusted retroactively, where 
applicable, to reflect the Stock Split. 

Pricing Actions 

We implemented a price increase effective September 1, 2022 in the United States and implemented price increases at various 
times in certain international markets during 2022 and the first, second and third quarters of 2023 (the "Pricing Actions"), all of which 
positively impacted gross profit margins in the third quarter of 2023. 

Gross Profit Margins 

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 improved to 53.0% (53.4% exclusive of 
the Bang Inventory Step-Up) from 51.3% for the comparative three-months ended September 30, 2022. This improvement was primarily 
attributable to (i) Pricing Actions, (ii) a reduction in certain freight-in costs and (iii) decreased aluminum can costs. 
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Overview 

We develop, market, sell and distribute energy drink beverages and concentrates for energy drink beverages, primarily under the 
following brand names: 

e Monster Energy® • NOS® 

• Monster Energy Ultra® • Full Throttle® 

" Monster Rehab® • Bum® 

• Monster Energy® Nitro " Mother® 

• Java Monster® • Nalu® 

• Punch Monster® • Ultra Energy® 

• Juice Monster® e Play® and Power Play® (stylized) 

• Monster Hydro® Energy Water • Relentless® 

• Monster Hydro® Super Sport • BPM® 

• Monster Super Fuel® • BU® ., Monster Dragon Tea® • Gladiator® 
e Reign® Total Body Fuel • Samurai® 

• Reign Inferno® Thermogenic Fuel • Live+® 

• Reign Storm™ • Predator® 

• True North® • Fury® 

• Burn® • Bang Energy® 

We also develop, market, sell and distribute craft beers, FMBs and hard seltzers under a number of brands, including Jai Alai® 
IPA, Florida Man TM IPA, Dale's Pale Ale®, Wild Basin® Hard Seltzers, Dallas Blonde®, Deep Ell um™ IPA, Perrin Brewing 
Company™ Black Ale, Hop Rising® Double IPA, Wasatch® Apricot Hefeweizen, The Beast Unleashed.™ and a host of other brands. 

We also develop, market, sell and. distribute still and sparkling waters under the Monster Tour Water® brand name. 

We have four operating and reportable segments: (i) Monster Energy® Drinks segment ("Monster Energy® Drinks"), which is 
primarily comprised of our Monster Energy® drinks, Reign Storm™ total wellness energy drinks, Reign® Total Body Fuel high 
performance energy drinks, Bang Energy® drinks and Monster Tour Water® (ii) Strategic Brands segment ("Strategic Brands"), which is 
primarily comprised of the various energy drink brands acquired from The Coca-Cola Company ("TCCC") in 2015 as well as our 
affordable energy brands, (iii) Alcohol Brands segment ("Alcohol Brands"), which is primarily comprised of the various craft beers and 
hard seltzers purchased as part of our acquisition of CANarchy Craft Brewery Collective LLC ("CANarchy") on February 17, 2022 (the 
"CANarchy Transaction") as well as The Beast Unleashed™ FMBs and (iv) Other segment ("Other''), which is primarily comprised of 
certain products sold by American Fruits and Flavors LLC ("AFF"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to independent thitd­
party customers (the "AFF Third-Party Products"). 

During the three-months ended September 30, 2023, we continued to expand our existing drink portfolio by adding additional 
products to our portfolio in a number of countries and further developed our distribution markets. During the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023, we sold the following new products to our customers: 

• Bang Energy® Black Cherry Vanilla 
• Bang Energy® Blue Razz® 
• Bang Energy® Candy Apple Crisp® 
• Bang Energy® Cotton Candy 
• Bang Energy® Delish Strawberry Kiss™ 
• Bang Energy® Peach Mango 
• Bang Energy® Purple Haze™ 
• Bang Energy® Radical Skadattle® 
• Bang Energy® Rainbow Unicorn® 
• Bang Energy® Sour Heads® 
• Bang Energy® Star Blast® 
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• Bang Energy® Wyldin' Watermelon™ 
• Mother® Rainbow Sherbet 
• NOS® Zero Sugar 

In the normal course of business, we discontinue certain products and/or product lines. Those products or product lines 
discontinued in the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023, either individually or in aggregate, did not have a material 
adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity. 

Our net sales of $1.86 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 represented record sales for our third fiscal 
quarter. Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on net sales of approximately $29.2 million for the 
three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

The vast majority of our net sales are derived from our Monster Energy® Drinks segment. Net sales of our Monster Energy® 
Drinks segment were $1.71 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales of our Strategic Brands segment were 
$98.8 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales of our Alcohol Brands segment were $42.3 million for the three­
months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales of our Other segment were $6.7 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Our Monster Energy® Drinks segment represented 92.0% and 92.5% of our net sales for the three-months ended September 30, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. Our Strategic Brands segment represented 5.3% and 5.5% of our net sales for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Our Alcohol Brands segment represented 2.3% and 1.7% of our net sales for the three­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Our Other segment represented 0.4% and 0.3% of our net sales for the three­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Our growth strategy includes further developing our domestic markets, expanding our international business and growing our 
business into new sectors, such as the alcohol beverage sector. Net sales to customers outside the United States were $733.7 million for 
the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $123.1 million, or 20.2% higher than net sales to customers 
outside of the United States of $610.6 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Such sales were approximately 40% and 
38% of net sales for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates 
had an unfavorable impact on net sales to customers outside of the United States of approximately $29.2 million for the three-months 
ended September 30, 2023. Net sales to customers outside the United States, on a foreign currency adjusted basis, increased 24.9% for 
the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Our non-alcohol customers are primarily full service beverage bottlers/distributors, retail grocery and specialty chains, 
wholesalers, club stores, mass merchandisers, convenience and gas chains, foodservice customers, value stores, e-commerce retailers and 
the military. Our alcohol customers are primarily beer distributors who in turn sell to retailers within the alcohol distribution system. 
Percentages of our gross billings to our various customer types for the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 are 
reflected below. Such information includes sales made by us directly to the customer types concerned, which include our full service 
beverage bottlers/distributors in the United States. Such full service beverage bottlers/distributors in turn sell certain of our products to 
some of the same customer types listed below. We limit our description of our customer types to include only our sales to our full service 
bottlers/distributors without reference to such bottlers/distributors' sales to their own customers. 

U.S .• full service bottlers/distributors 
International full service bottlers/distributors 
Club stores and e-commerce retailers 
Retail grocery, direct convenience, specialty chains and wholesalers 
1~lc~h_(ll, vaiue store~ and otlier • 

Three-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 
46% 48% 
41% 39 % 
8% 9% 
2% 2% 
3% 2% 

Nine-Months Ended 
September 30, 

2023 2022 
47% 48% 
40% 39% 

8 o/~ 9 %' 
2% 2% 
3% 2% 

Our non-alcohol customers include Coca-Cola Canada Bottling Limited, Coca-Cola Consolidated, Inc., Coca-Cola Bottling 
Company United, Inc., Reyes Coca-Cola Bottling, LLC, Coca-Cola Southwest Beverages LLC, The Coca-Cola Bottling Company of 
Northern New England, Inc., Swire Pacific Holdings, Inc. (USA), Liberty Coca-Cola Beverages, LLC, Coca-Cola Europacific Partners 
(formerly Coca-Cola European Partners and Coca-Cola Amatil), Coca-Cola Hellenic, Coca-Cola FEMSA, Swire Coca-Cola (China), 
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COFCO Coca-Cola, Coca-Cola Beverages Africa, Coca-Cola i~ecek and certain other TCCC network bottlers, Asahi Soft Drinks, Co., 
Ltd., Wal-Mart, Inc. (including Sam's Club), Costco Wholesale Corporation and Amazon.com, Inc. 

Our alcohol customers include Reyes Beverage Group, Ben E. Keith Company, J.J. Taylor Distributing and Sheehan Family 
Companies. 

A decision by any large customer to decrease amounts purchased from us or to cease carrying our products could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition and consolidated results of operations. 

Coca-Cola Europacific Partners accounted for approximately 14% and 12% of our net sales for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Coca-Cola Europacific Partners accounted for approximately 13% of our net sales for both 
the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

Coca-Cola Consolidated, Inc. accounted for approximately 10% and 11 % of our net sales for the three-months ended September 
30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Coca-Cola Consolidated, Inc. accounted for approximately 10% of our net sales for both the nine­
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

Reyes Holdings, LLC accounted for approximately 9% and 10% of our net sales for the three-months ended September 30, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. Reyes Holdings, LLC accounted for approximately 9% and 10% of our net sales for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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Results of Operations 

The following table sets forth key statistics for the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 

Three-Months Ended Percentage Nine-Months Ended Percentage 
(In thousands, except per share amounts) September 30, Change September 30, Change 

2023 2022 23 vs. 22 2023 2022 23 vs. 22 
Net-sales1 $_1,856,028 $ 1,62:1,,?86 14.3_% _$ 5,409,_919 ~- 4,7~8,119 12.8 %-
cost of saies 

-· -
872,265 790,561 10.3 % 2,554,086 2,407,867 6.1% 

c;;rciss prof~t*f • - - 9_83,763 833,725 18.0 % 2,855,833 2,390,252 19.5_%'. 
q_~oss profit_ as a percentage of net sales 53.0 % 51.3 % 52.8 % 49.8 % 

Operating expenses 473,236 _ ,gE;,795 13.8 % 1,336,~37 1,199,883 11.4% 
Operating expenses as a percentage of net 

-

sales 25.5 % 25.6 % 24.7% 25.0 % 

9P.e_rati~g incCliiie1 510,527 417,930 222% 1,519,39_6 i,1~0,369 27.6-% 
Operating income as a percentage of net 

sales 27.5% 25.7 % 28.1 % 24.8 % - . --·· 

~~i_e~eS! and Clt!J.er inco~~ ( exP.e~_se ), net 71,357 2,149 ~,220.5 'l:'o_ 99,010 (11,932) 929.8 % 

!_n_cClme ~~foreJirovislon f~r inco~e taxes1 581,884 __ :1,20,079 38.5 % 1,6!~,4_06 _ 1,P8,437 37.3 % - - ---·--. 
-

Provision for income taxes 129,190 97,692 32.2 % 354,397 288,487 22.8% 

income taxes as a percentage of income 
before taxes 22.2 % 23.3 % 21.9 % 24.5% 

Net income $ 452,694 $ 322,387 40.4 % $ 1,264,009 $ 889,950 42.0 % 
Net inc?me as a_ percentage of.net sales 24.4 o/o 19.8 % 23.4 % 18.5% 

i'-ret inc_onie per cClmrnon share: - -
Basic $ 0.43 $ 0.31 41.3 % $ 1.21 $ 0.84 43.4% 
nuuied ·, t "6.43 $ 0.30 41.3 % $ 1.19 $ 0.83 43.3 % 

Energy drink casi:i sales (iri' thousands) (in •• 
192-0}lnse equival~nts) _203,08_7 18?,460 11.3 % 58_3,9~?__ . 535,451 _9.1% 

1Includes $10.0 million for both the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 related to the recognition of deferred revenue. 
Includes $30.0 million for both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 related to the recognition of deferred revenue. 

*Gross profit may not be comparable to that of other entities since some entities include all costs associated with their distribution 
process in cost of sales, whereas others exclude certain costs and instead include such costs within another line item such as operating 
expenses. We include out-bound freight and warehouse costs in operating expenses rather than in cost of sales. 
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Three-Months Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to the Three-Months Ended September 30, 2022. 

Net Sales 

Net Sales. Net sales were $1.86 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $231. 7 
million, or 14.3% higher than net sales of $1.62 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Net sales increased primarily 
due to increased worldwide sales by volume of our Monster Energy® brand energy drinks as a result of increased consumer demand, as 
well as due to Pricing Actions in certain markets. Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on net sales 
of approximately $29.2 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales on a foreign currency adjusted basis increased 
16.1 % for the three-months ended September 3q, 2023. 

Net sales in EMEA, Asia Pacific (including Oceania), Latin America and the Caribbean were $687.1 million for the three­
months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $123.1 million, or 21.8% higher than net sales in EMEA, Asia Pacific, 
Latin America and the Caribbean of $564.0 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment were $1.71 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an 
increase of approximately $206.0 million, or 13. 7% higher than net sales of $1.50 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 
2022. Net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment increased primarily due to increased worldwide sales by volume of our 
Monster Energy® brand energy drinks as a result of increased consumer demand as well as due to Pricing Actions in certain markets. Net 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment of 
approximately $20.2 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment on a 
foreign currency adjusted basis increased 15.1 % for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Net sales for the Strategic Brands segment were $98.8 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of 
approximately $10.0 million, or 11.2% higher than net sales of $88.8 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Net sales 
for the Strategic Brands segment increased primarily due to increased sales by volume of our NOS® and Bum® brand energy drinks. 
Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on net sales of approximately $9.0 million for the Strategic 
Brands segment for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales for the Strategic Brands segment on a foreign currency 
adjusted basis increased 21.3% for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales of concentrates within the Strategic Brands 
segment tend to have more pronounced fluctuations from period to period as compared to net sales of our finished goods within the 
Monster Energy Drinks® segment.. 

Net sales for the Alcohol Brands segment were $42.3 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of 
approximately $15.5 million, or 57.8% higher than net sales of $26.8 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Net sales 
of The Beast Unleashed™ FMBs, which launched during the 2023 first quarter in the United States on a rolling state basis, were $19.0 
million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Net sales for the Other segment were $6.7 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 
$0.3 million, or 3.9% higher than net sales of $6.4 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Case sales for our energy drink products, in 192-ounce case equivalents, were 203.1 million cases for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 20.6 million cases or 11.3% higher than case sales of 182.5 million cases for the three­
months ended September 30, 2022. The overall average net sales per case increased to $8.90 for the three-months ended September 30, 
2023, which was 2.0% higher than the average net sales per case of $8. 72 for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Case sales for our craft beers, hard seltzers and FMBs, in 192-ounce equivalents, were 3.0 million cases for the three-months 
ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 1.3 million cases or 78.9% higher than case sales of 1. 7 million cases for the 
three-months ended September 30, 2022. Barrel sales for our craft beers, hard seltzers and FMBs, in 31 U.S. gallon equivalents, were 
0.15 million barrels for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 0.07 million barrels or 78.9% higher 
than barrel sales of 0.08 million barrels for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 
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Gross Profit 

Gross profit was $983.8 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $150.0 million, 
or 18.0% higher than the gross profit of $833. 7 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in gross profit 
dollars was primarily the result of the $231.8 million increase in net sales for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales increased to 53.0% for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 from 51.3% for the 
three-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the three-months ended September 
30, 2023 was primarily the result of Pricing Actions in certain markets, decreased freight-in costs as well as decreased aluminum can 
costs. Gross profit as a percentage of gross sales was 53.4% for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, exclusive of the Bang 
Inventory Step-Up. 

Operating Expenses 

Total operating expenses were $473.2 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 
$57.4 million, or 13.8% higher than total operating expenses of $415.8 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 

The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to increased selling and marketing expenses of $19.9 million, increased 
payroll expenses of $19.3 million (of which $2.1 million was related to the Alcohol Brands segment) and increased travel and 
entertainment expenses of $8.9 million. Operating expenses as a percentage of net sales for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 
were 25.5% as compared to 25.6% for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Operating expenses for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2023 included approximately $8.0 million acquisition costs related to the Bang Transaction. 

Operating Income 

Operating income was $510.5 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $92.6 
million, or 22.2% higher than operating income of $417.9 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Operating income as a 
percentage of net sales increased to 27.5% for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 from 25.7% for the three-months ended 
September 30, 2022. The increase in operating income was primarily the result of an increase in net sales, as well as an increase in gross 
profit as a percentage of net sales. 

Operating income was $114.1 million and $89.9 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, 
for our operations in EMEA, Asia Pacific (including Oceania), Latin America and the Caribbean. 

Operating income for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $603. 7 
million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $111.1 million, or 22.6% higher than operating 
income of $492.5 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in operating income for the Monster Energy® 
Drinks segment was primarily the result of an increase in net sales as well as an increase in gross profit as a percentage of net sales. 

Operating income for the Strategic Brands segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $52. 7 million for the 
three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $5.4 million, or 11.5% higher than operating income of $47.3 
million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in operating income for the Strategic Brands segment was 
primarily the result of an increase in net sales. 

Operating loss for the Alcohol Brands segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $11. 7 million for the 
three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $1.5 million, or 14.3% higher than the operating loss of $10.3 
million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. The operating losses for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 were 
primarily due to expenses and infrastructure investments for the expansion of the Alcohol Brands segment. 

Operating income for the Other segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $1.3 million for the three­
months ended September 30, 2023, as compared to operating income of $1.0 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 
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Interest and Other Income (expense), net 

Interest and other non-operating income (expense), net, was $71.4 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, as 
compared to interest and other non-operating income (expense), net, of $2.1 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 
Foreign currency transaction losses were $13.2 million and $6.2 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. Interest income was $39.3 million and $9.6 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
Interest and other income (expense), net, for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 included the Bang Transaction Gain. 

Provision for Income Taxes 

Provision for income taxes was $129.2 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $31.5 million, or 
32.2% higher than the provision for income taxes of $97.7 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. The effective 
combined federal, state and foreign tax rate decreased to 22.2% from 23.3% for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to an increase in deductible interest expense. 

Net Income 

Net income was $452.7 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $130.3 million, or 40.4% higher 
than net income of $322.4 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in net income for the three-months 
ended September 30, 2023 was primarily due to the increase in net sales, the increase in the gross profit percentage of net sales, the 
decrease in the effective combined federal, state and foreign tax rate as well as the Bang Transaction Gain. The increase in net income for 
the three-months ended September 30, 2023 was partially offset by the Bang Inventory Step-Up and the Bang Transaction Expenses\ 

Nine-Months Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to the Nine-Months Ended September 30, 2022. 

Net Sales 

Net Sales. Net sales were $5.41 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $611.8 
million, or 12.8% higher than net sales of $4.80 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. Net sales increased primarily due 
to increased worldwide sales by volume of our Monster Energy® brand energy drinks as a result of increased consumer demand, as well 
as due to Pricing Actions in certain markets. Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on net sales of 
approximately $119.6 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales on a foreign currency adjusted basis increased 
15.2% for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Net sales in EMEA, Asia Pacific (including Oceania), Latin America and the Caribbean for the nine-months ended September 
30, 2023 were $1.94 billion, an increase of approximately $253. 7 million, or 15.0% higher than net sales in EMEA, Asia Pacific, Latin 
America and the Caribbean of $1.69 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment were $4.96 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an 
increase of approximately $512.0 million, or 11.5% higher than net sales of $4.44 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 
Net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment increased primarily due to increased worldwide sales by volume of our Monster 
Energy® brand energy drinks as a result of increased consumer demand as well as due to Pricing Actions in certain markets. Net changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment of approximately 
$105.4 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment on a foreign currency 
adjusted basis increased 13.9% for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Net sales for the Strategic Brands segment were $284.8 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of 
approximately $24.3 million, or 9.3% higher than net sales of $260.5 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. Net sales 
for the Strategic Brands segment increased primarily due to increased sales by volume of our Bum®, NOS®, Fury® and Predator® 
brand energy drinks. Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on net sales of approximately $14.1 
million for the Strategic Brands segment for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales for the Strategic Brands segment on a 
foreign currency adjusted basis increased 14.7% for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. Net sales of concentrates within the 
Strategic Brands segment tend to have more pronounced fluctuations from period to period as compared to net sales of our finished 
goods within the Monster Energy Drinks® segment. 
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Net sales for the Alcohol Brands segment were $149.7 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of 
approximately $75.2 million, or 101.0% higher than net sales of $74.5 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. The 
comparative 2022 net sales for the Alcohol Brands segment were effectively from February 17, 2022 to September 30, 2022, as we 
completed the CANarchy Transaction on February 17, 2022. Net sales of The Beast Unleashed™ FMBs, which launched during the 
2023 first quarter in the United States on a rolling state basis, were $73.0 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Net sales for the Other segment were $18.6 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of 
approximately $0.3 million, or 1.4% higher than net sales of $18.4 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Case sales for our energy drink products, in 192-ounce case equivalents, were 583.9 million cases for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 48.5 million cases or 9.1 % higher than case sales of 535.5 million cases for the nine­
months ended September 30, 2022. The overall average net sales per case increased to $8.98 for the nine-months ended September 30, 
2023, which was 2.2% higher than the average net sales per case of $8.79 for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Case sales for our craft beers, hard seltzers and FMBs, in 192-ounce equivalents, were 10.6 million cases for the nine-months 
ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 5.8 million cases or 120.1 % higher than case sales of 4.8 million cases for the 
nine-months ended September 30, 2022. Barrel sales for our craft beers, hard seltzers and FMBs, in 31 U.S. gallon equivalents, were 0.5 
million barrels for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 0.3 million barrels or 120.1 % higher than 
barrel sales of 0.2 million barrels for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Gross Profit 

Gross profit was $2.86 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $465.6 million, or 
19.5% higher than the gross profit of $2.39 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in gross profit dollars 
was primarily the result of the $611.8 million increase in net sales for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales increased to 52.8% for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 from 49.8% for the 
nine-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the nine-months ended September 
30, 2023 was primarily the result of Pricing Actions in certain markets, decreased freight-in costs as well as decreased aluminum can 
costs. 

Operating Expenses 

Total operating expenses were $1.34 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately 
$136.6 million, or 11.4% higher than total operating expenses of $1.20 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 

The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to increased selling and marketing expenses of $60.7 million, increased 
warehouse expenses of $15.3 million, increased travel and entertainment expenses of $9.5 million as well as increased payroll expenses 
of $59.7 million (of which $10.0 million was related to the Alcohol Brands segment). The increase in operating expenses was partially 
offset by a decrease in out-bound fuel and freight expenses of $26.6 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. Operating 
expenses as a percentage of net sales for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 were 24.7% as compared to 25.0% for the nine­
months ended September 30, 2022. Operating expenses for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, included approximately $15.1 
million acquisition costs related to the Bang Transaction. 

Operating Income 

Operating income was $1.52 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $329.0 
million, or 27.6% higher than operating income of $1.19 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. Operating income as a 
percentage of net sales increased to 28.1 % for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 from 24.8% for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2022. The increase in operating income was primarily the result of an increase in net sales, as well as an increase in gross 
profit as a percentage of net sales. 

Operating income was $322.0 million and $244.3 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, 
for our operations in EMEA, Asia Pacific (including Oceania), Latin America and the Caribbean. 
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Operating income for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $1.76 billion 
for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $373.6 million, or 26.9% higher than operating income of 
$1.39 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in operating income for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment 
was primarily the result of an increase in net sales as well as an increase in gross profit as a percentage of net sales. 

Operating income for the Strategic Brands segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $159.6 million for the 
nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $13.7 million, or 9.4% higher than operating income of $146.0 
million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in operating income for the Strategic Brands segment was primarily 
the result of an increase in net sales. 

Operating loss for the Alcohol Brands segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $25.2 million for the 
nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $5.3 million, or 26.8% higher than operating loss of $19.9 million 
for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022 (effectively from February 17, 2022 to September 30, 2022). The operating losses for the 
nine-months ended September 30, 2023 were primarily due to expenses and infrastructure investments for the expansion of the Alcohol 
Brands segment. 

Operating income for the Other segment, exclusive of corporate and unallocated expenses, was $2.7 million for the nine-months 
ended September 30, 2023, as compared to operating income of $3.1 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Interest and Other Income (Expense), net 

Interest and other non-operating income ( expense), net, was $99.0 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, as 
compared to interest and other non-operating income (expense), net, of ($11.9) million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 
Foreign currency transaction losses were $38.6 million and $22.9 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. Interest income was $92.1 million and $14.8 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
Interest and other income (expense), net, for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 included the Bang Transaction Gain. 

Provision for Income Taxes 

Provision for income taxes was $354.4 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $65.9 million, or 
22.8% higher than the provision for income taxes of $288.5 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. The effective 
combined federal, state and foreign tax rate decreased to 21.9% from 24.5% for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to the increase in the stock compensation deduction and the 
increase in deductible interest expense in the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Net Income 

Net income was $1.26 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $374.1 million, or 42.0% higher 
than net income of $890.0 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in net income for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 was primarily due to the increase in net sales, the increase in the gross profit percentage of net sales as well as the 
decrease in the effective combined federal, state and foreign tax rate. 

Key Business Metrics 

We use certain key metrics and financial measures not prepared in accordance with United States Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles ("GAAP") to evaluate and manage our business. For a further discussion of how we use key metrics and certain 
non-GAAP financial measures, see "Non-GAAP Financial Measures and Other Key Metrics." 
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures and Other Key Metrics 

Gross Billings** 

Gross billings were $2.15 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $281.9 million, 
or 15.1 % higher than gross billings of $1.87 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Net changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on gross billings of approximately $24.3 million for the three-months ended September 30, 
2023. 

Gross billings for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment were $1.99 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an 
increase of approximately $252.9 million, or 14.6% higher than gross billings of $1.73 billion for the three-months ended September 30, 
2022. Gross billings for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment increased primarily due to increased worldwide sales by volume of our 
Monster Energy® brand energy drinks as a result of increased consumer demand as well as due to Pricing Actions in certain markets. Net 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on gross billings for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment of 
approximately $15.5 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Gross billings for the Strategic Brands segment were $112.5 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an 
increase of $12.9 million, or 13.0% higher than gross billings of $99.6 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Gross 
Billings for the Strategic Brands segment increased primarily due to increased sales by volume of our Bum® and NOS® brand energy 
drinks. Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on gross billings in the Strategic Brands segment of 
approximately $8.8 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Gross billings for the Alcohol Brands segment were $43.1 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase 
of approximately $15.9 million, or 58.2% higher than gross billings of $27.3 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 
Gross Billings of The Beast Unleashed™ FMBs, which launched during the 2023 first quarter in the United States on a rolling state 
basis, were $19.3 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Gross billings for the Other segment were $6. 7 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $0.2 
million, or 3.8% higher than gross billings of $6.4 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Promotional allowances, commissions and other expenses, as described in the foomote below, were $302.8 million for the three­
months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $50.3 million, or 19.9% higher than promotional allowances, commissions and other 
expenses of $252.6 million for the three-months ended September 30, 2022. Promotional allowances, commissions and other expenses as 
a percentage of gross billings increased to 14.1 % from 13.5% for the three-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Gross billings were $6.25 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of approximately $730.0 million, 
or 13.2% higher than gross billings of $5.52 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. Net changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on gross billings of approximately $127.3 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 
2023. 

Gross billings for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment were $5. 75 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an 
increase of approximately $623.9 million, or 12.2% higher than gross billings of $5.13 billion for the nine-months ended September 30, 
2022. Gross billings for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment increased primarily due to increased worldwide sales by volume of our 
Monster Energy® brand energy drinks as a result of increased consumer demand as well as due to Pricing Actions in certain markets. Net 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on gross billings for the Monster Energy® Drinks segment of 
approximately $113.5 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Gross billings for the Strategic Brands segment were $322.8 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase 
of $29.1 million, or 9.9% higher than gross billings of $293.7 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. Gross Billings for 
the Strategic Brands segment increased primarily due to increased sales by volume of our Burn®, NOS®, Fury® and Predator® brand 
energy drinks. Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on gross billings in the Strategic Brands 
segment of approximately $13.8 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 
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Gross billings for the Alcohol Brands segment were $152.3 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, an increase 
of approximately $76.7 million, or 101.5% higher than gross billings of $75.6 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 
The comparative 2022 gross billings for the Alcohol Brands segment were effectively from February 17, 2022 to September 30, 2022 as 
we completed the CANarchy Transaction on February 17, 2022. Gross billings of The Beast Unleashed™ FMBs, which launched during 
the 2023 first quarter on the United States on a rolling state basis, were $74.2 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Gross billings for the Other segment were $18.6 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, as compared to gross 
billings of $18.4 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 

Promotional allowances, commissions and other expenses, as described in the footnote below, were $866.0 million for the nine­
months ended September 30, 2023, an increase of $118.2 million, or 15.8% higher than promotional allowances, commissions and other 
expenses of $747.9 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. Promotional allowances, commissions and other expenses as 
a percentage of gross billings increased to 13.9% from 13.6% for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

**Gross Billings represent amounts invoiced to customers net of cash discounts, returns and excise taxes. Gross billings are used 
internally by management as an indicator of and to monitor operating performance, including sales performance of particular products, 
salesperson performance, product growth or declines and is useful to investors in evaluating overall Company performance. The use of 
gross billings allows evaluation of sales performance before the effect of any promotional items, which can mask certain performance 
issues. We therefore believe that the presentation of gross billings provides a useful measure of our operating performance. The use of 
gross billings is not a measure that is recognized under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net sales, which is 
determined in accordance with GAAP, and should not be used alone as an indicator of operating performance in place of net sales. 
Additionally, gross billings may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies, as gross billings has been 
defined by our internal reporting practices. In addition, gross billings may not be realized in the form of cash receipts as promotional 
payments and allowances may be deducted from payments received from certain customers. 

The following table reconciles the non-GAAP financial measure of gross billings with the most directly comparable GAAP 
financial measure of net sales: 

Three-Months Ended Percentage Nine-Months Ended Percentage 
(In thousands) SeEtember 30. Change SeEtember 30, Change 

2023 2022 23 vs. 22 2023 2022 23 vs. 22 
Gross Billings $ 2,148,834 $ 1,866,888 15.1 % $ 6,245,968 $ 5,515,964 13.2 % 
Deferred Revenue 10,043 9,955 0.9 % 29,974 30,026 (0.2)% 
Less: Promotioilal allo)'/a-nces, cO~rriisSioils and othei- expell~es**"' 302,849 252,557 19:9 % 866,023 747,871 1s:a 'Yd 
Net Sales $ 1.856,028 $ 1.624,286 14.3 % $ 5,409,919 $ 4.798,119 12.8 % 

***Although the expenditures described in this line item are determined in accordance with GAAP and meet GAAP requirements, the presentation 
thereof does not conform to GAAP presentation requirements. Additionally, our definition of promotional and other a11owances may not be comparable 
to similar items presented by other companies. Promotional and other allowances for our energy drink products primarily include consideration given 
to our non-alcohol bottlers/distributors or retail customers including, but not limited to the fo11owing: (i) discounts granted off list prices to support 
price promotions to end-consumers by retailers; (ii) reimbursements given to our bottlers/distributors for agreed portions of their promotional spend 
with retailers, including slotting, shelf space a11owances and other fees for both new and existing products; (iii) our agreed share of fees given to 
bottlers/distributors and/or directly to retailers for advertising, in-store marketing and promotional activities; (iv) our agreed share of slotting, shelf 
space allowances and other fees given directly to retailers, club stores and/or wholesalers; (v) incentives given to our bottlers/distributors and/or 
retailers for achieving or exceeding certain predetermined sales goals; (vi) discounted or free products; (vii) contractual fees given to our 
bottlers/distributors related to sales made by us direct to certain customers that fa/1 within the bottlers '/distributors' sales territories; and (viii) certain 
commissions paid based on sales to our bottlers/distributors. The presentation of promotional and other allowances facilitates an evaluation of their 
impact on the determination of net sales and the spending levels incurred or correlated with such sales. Promotional and other a11owances for our 
energy drink products constitute a material portion of our marketing activities. Our promotional a11owance programs for our energy drink products with 
our numerous bottlers/distributors and/or retailers are executed through separate agreements in the ordinary course of business. These agreements 
genera11y provide for one or more of the arrangements described above and are of varying durations, ranging from one week to one year. Promotional 
and other a11owances for our Alcohol Brands segment primarily include price promotions where permitted. 
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Sales 

The table below discloses selected quarterly data regarding sales for the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. Data from any one or more quarters or periods is not necessarily indicative of annual results or continuing trends. 

Sales of our products are expressed in unit case volume. A "unit case" means a unit of measurement equal to 192 U.S. fluid 
ounces of finished beverage (24 eight-ounce servings). Unit case volume means the number of unit cases (or unit case equivalents) of 
finished products or concentrates as if converted into finished products sold by us. 

Our quarterly results of operations reflect seasonal trends that are primarily the result of increased demand in the warmer 
months of the year. Beverage sales tend to be lower during the first and fourth quarters of each calendar year. However, our experience 
with our energy drink products suggests they are less seasonal than the seasonality expected from traditional beverages. In addition, our 
continued growth internationally may further reduce the impact of seasonality on our business. Quarterly fluctuations may also be 
affected by other factors including the introduction of new products, the opening of new markets where temperature fluctuations are 
more pronounced, the addition of new bottlers/distributors, changes in the sales mix of our products and changes in marketing and 
promotional expenses. 

Energy Drinks: Three-Months Ended Nine-Months Ended 
(In thousands, except average net sales per case) September 30, September 30, 

2023 2022 2023 2022 
Net sales $ 1,856,028 $ 1,624,286 $ 5,409,919 $ 4,7_98,119 
Less: Alcohol Brands segment sales (42,326) (26,818) (149,692) (74,472) 
Less: Other segment sales - (6,698) (6,447) (18,620) (18,355) 
Adjusted net sales1 $ 1,807,004 $ 1,591,021 $ 5,241,607 $ 4,705,292 

Case sales by· segm~nt:1 

Monster Energy® Drinks 165,504 150,961 479,964 447,233 
Strategic Brands 37,584 31,499 103,973 88,218 

Total ·case sales 203,088 182,460 583,937 535,451 
Average net sales per case - Energy Drinks $ 8.90 $ 8.72 $ 8.98 $ 8.79 

1 Excludes Alcohol Brands segment and Other segment net sales. 

Net changes in foreign currency exchange rates had an unfavorable impact on the overall average net sales per case for the 
three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023. 

Craft Beers, Hard Seltzers and FMBs: Three-Months Ended Nine-Months Ended 
(In thousands, except average net sales per case) September 30, September 30, 

2023 2022 2023 2022 
Alcohol B·rands segment net sales $ 42,326 $ 26,818 $ 149,692 $ 74,472 
Case sales 3,034 1,696 10,581 4,807 
1\.verage net_sales per case~ ·Mcohol Brands $ 13.95 $ 15.8i --- $ 14.15 $ 15.49 

See Item 2, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Results of Operations" 
for additional information related to the increase in sales. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments. At September 30, 2023, we had $1.77 billion in cash and 
cash equivalents, $1.24 billion in short-term investments and $52.6 million in long-term investments, including certificates of deposit, 
commercial paper, U.S. government agency securities, municipal securities, U.S. treasuries and corporate bonds. We maintain our 
investments for cash management purposes and not for purposes of speculation. Our risk management policies emphasize credit quality 
(primarily based on short-term ratings by nationally recognized statistical organizations) in selecting and maintaining our investments. 
We regularly assess market risk of our investments and believe our current policies and investment practices adequately limit those 
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risks. However, certain of these investments are subject to general credit, liquidity, market and interest rate risks. These market risks 
associated with our investment portfolio may have an adverse effect on our future results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. 

Of our $1.77 billion of cash and cash equivalents held at September 30, 2023, $924.7 million was held by our foreign 
subsidiaries. No short-term or long-term investments were held by our foreign subsidiaries at September 30, 2023. 

We believe that cash available from operations, including our cash resources and access to credit, will be sufficient for our 
working capital needs, including purchase commitments for raw materials and inventory, increases in accounts receivable, payments of 
tax liabilities, expansion and development needs, purchases of capital assets, purchases of equipment, purchases of real property, 
acquisitions and purchases of shares of our common stock, through at least the next 12 months. Based on our current plans, at this time 
we estimate that capital expenditures (exclusive of common stock repurchases) are likely to be less than $500 million through September 
30, 2024. However, future business opportunities may cause a change in this estimate. 

Purchases of inventories, increases in accounts receivable and other assets, acquisition of property and equipment (including 
real property, personal property, plant and manufacturing equipment, and coolers), leasehold improvements, advances for or the purchase 
of equipment for our bottlers, acquisition and maintenance of trademarks, payments of accounts payable, income taxes payable and 
purchases of our common stock are expected to remain our principal recurring use of cash. 

The following summarizes our cash flows for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands): 

Net cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities 
Investing activities 
Financing activities 

2023 
$1,283,426 
$ (360,023) 
$ (433,793) 

2022 
$ _589,186 
$ (57,743) 
$ (459,275) 

Cash flows provided by operating activities. Cash provided by operating activities was $1.28 billion for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023, as compared with cash provided by operating activities of $589.2 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 
2022. 

For the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to net income 
earned of $1.26 billion and adjustments for certain non-cash expenses, consisting of $50.4 million of depreciation and amortization, 
$52.5 million of stock-based compensation, $6.5 million of non-cash lease expense and $2.8 million loss on impairment of intangibles, 
partially offset by the $45.4 million Bang Transaction Gain. For the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, cash provided by operating 
activities also increased due to a $109.8 million increase in accounts payable, a $69.8 million decrease in inventories, a $42.4 million 
increase in accrued promotional allowances, a $24.7 million increase in accrued liabilities, a $8.0 million decrease in prepaid income 
taxes, a $4.2 million increase in income taxes payable and a $3.5 million increase in accrued compensation. For the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023, cash used in operating activities was primarily attributable to a $218.8 million increase in accounts receivable, a 
$67.4 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, a $19.3 million decrease in deferred revenue and a $3.6 million decrease in 
other liabilities. 

For the nine-months ended September 30, 2022, cash provided by operating activities was primarily attributable to net income 
earned of $890.0 million and adjustments for certain non-cash expenses, consisting of $49.2 million of stock-based compensation and 
$51.2 million of depreciation and amortization and non-cash lease expense. For the nine-months ended September 30, 2022, cash 
provided by operating activities also increased due to a $52.7 million increase in accounts payable, an $89.2 million increase in accrued 
promotional allowances, a $29. 7 million decrease in deferred income taxes and a $7.9 million decrease in prepaid income taxes. For the 
nine-months ended September 30, 2022, cash used in operating activities was primarily attributable to a $297.1 million increase in 
inventories, a $202.4 million increase in accounts receivable, a $39.2 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, a $16.1 
million decrease in deferred revenue, a $12.8 million decrease in income taxes payable, a $2.6 million decrease in accrued liabilities, a 
$6.6 million decrease in accrued compensation and a $3.5 million decrease in other liabilities. 

Cash flows used in investing activities. Cash used in investing f!Ctivities was $360.0 million for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 as compared to cash used in investing activities of $57.7 million for nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 
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For both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, cash provided by investing activities was primarily attributable 
to sales of available-for-sale investments. For the nine-months ended September 30, 2023, cash used in investing activities included 
$363.4 million related to the Bang Transaction. For the nine-months ended September 30, 2022, cash used in investing activities included 
$329.S million net of cash acquired, related to the CANarchy Transaction. For both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 
2022, cash used in investing activities was primarily attributable to purchases of available-for-sale investments. To a lesser extent, for 
both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, cash used in investing activities also included the acquisitions of fixed assets 
consisting of vans and promotional vehicles, coolers and other equipment to support our marketing and promotional activities, 
production equipment, furniture and fixtures, office and computer equipment, computer software, equipment used for sales and 
administrative activities, certain leasehold improvements, as well as acquisitions of and/or construction of and/or improvements to real 
property. We expect to continue to use a portion of our cash in excess of our requirements for operations for purchasing short-term and 
long-term investments, leasehold improvements, the acquisition of capital equipment (specifically, vans, trucks and promotional vehicles, 
coolers, other promotional equipment, merchandise displays, warehousing racks as well as items of plant and production equipment 
required to produce certain of our existing and/or new products) to develop our brand in international markets, acquisitions and for other 
corporate purposes. From time to time, we may also use cash to purchase additional real property related to our beverage business and/or 
acquire compatible businesses. 

Cash flow used in financing activmes. Cash used in financing activities was $433.8 million for the nine-months ended 
September 30, 2023 as compared to cash used in financing activities of $459.3 million for the nine-months ended September 30, 2022. 
Cash used in financing activities for both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was primarily the result of the 
repurchases of our common stock. Cash provided by financing activities for both the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 
was primarily attributable to the issuance of our common stock under our stock-based compensation plans. 

The following represents a summary of the Company's contractual commitments and related scheduled maturities as of 
September 30, 2023: 

Payments due by period (in thousands) 
Less than 1-3 3-5 More than 

Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years 
Contractual Obligations1 $ 451,257 $ 357,971 $ 86,632 $ 6,573 $ 81 
Finance Leases 7,452 7,427 25 
Operating Leases 53,952 10,586 15,683 12,~9~ 15,2~5 
Purchase Commitments2 269,941 180,921 88,511 509 

$ 782,602 $ 556,905 $ 190,851 $ 19,480 $ 15,366 

1Contractual obligations include our obligations related to sponsorships and other commitments. 
2Purchase commitments include obligations made by us and our subsidiaries to various suppliers for raw materials used in the production of our 
products. These obligations vary in terms, but are generally satisfied within one year. 

In addition, approximately $3.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been recorded as liabilities as of September 30, 2023. 
It is expected that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will not significantly change within the next 12 months. As of September 30, 
2023, we had $0. 7 million of accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. GAAP requires us to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in our consolidated financial statements. Critical accounting estimates are those that 
management believes are the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require the most difficult, 
subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain 
and that have had, or are reasonably likely to have, a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. Judgments and 
uncertainties may result in materially different amounts being reported under different conditions or using different assumptions. There 
have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies or estimates from the information provided in "Part II, Item 7, 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Part II, Item 8 - Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data - Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies", included in our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 ("Form 10-K"). 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

There have been no changes in recently issued or adopted accounting pronouncements that would materially impact the 
Company from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. 

Inflation 

We believe inflation did not have a significant impact on our results of operations for the three- and nine-months ended 
September 30,2023. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements made in this report may constitute forward-looking statements (within the meaning of Section 27 A of the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) (the "Exchange Act") 
regarding the expectations of management with respect to revenues, profitability, adequacy of funds from operations and our existing 
credit facility, among other things. All statements containing a projection of revenues, income (loss), earnings (loss) per share, capital 
expenditures, dividends, capital structure or other financial items, a statement of management's plans and objectives for future 
operations, or a statement of future economic performance contained in management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and 
results of operations, including statements related to new products, volume growth and statements encompassing general optimism about 
future operating results and non-historical information, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Exchange Act. Without 
limiting the foregoing, the words "believes," "thinks," "anticipates," "plans," "expects," "estimates" and similar expressions are intended 
to identify forward-looking statements. 

Management cautions that these statements are qualified by their terms and/or important factors, many of which are outside our 
control and involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors, that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from 
the statements made including, but not limited to, the following: 

o Our ability to successfully integrate the Bang Energy® business and recognize the anticipated benefits of the transaction; 
<> Our ability to successfully transition the acquired Bang Energy® beverages to the Company's primary bottlers/distributors; 
• Our ability to procure shelf space, retain customers and increase sales of the acquired Bang Energy® beverages; 
o Our ability to consolidate operations and/or rationalize brands acquired from CANarchy and Bang Energy®; 
" Our ability to achieve profitability within our Alcohol Brands segment; 
• Our ability to absorb, mitigate or pass on cost increases to our bottlers/distributors and/or consumers; 
• The impact of rising costs, interest rates and inflation on the discretionary income of our consumers; 
• Uncertainties associated with an economic slowdown or recession that could negatively impact the financial condition of our 

customers and could result in a reduced demand for our products; , 
• The impact of the military conflict in Ukraine as well as tensions across the Taiwan Straits, Israel and Gaza, including supply 

chain disruptions, volatility in commodity and energy prices, increased economic uncertainty and escalating geopolitical 
tensions; 

o Fluctuations in growth and/or growth rates (positive or negative) of the domestic and international energy drink categories 
generally, including in the convenience and gas channel (which is our largest channel) and the impact on demand for our 
products resulting from deteriorating economic conditions and/or financial uncertainties; 

• The impact of temporary or permanent facility closures, production slowdowns and disruptions in operations experienced by 
our manufacturing facilities, our suppliers, and/or bottlers/distributors, and/or co-packers, and/or breweries, including any 
material disruptions on the production and distribution of our products; 

• Disruption to our and/or our copackers' manufacturing facilities and operations due to severe weather, natural disasters, climate 
change, labor-related issues, production difficulties, capacity limitations, or other causes, which could impair our ability to 
produce or deliver finished products, resulting in a negative impact on our operating results; 

., Our ability to modify oµr manufacturing facilities to comply with safety, health, environmental, and other regulations; 
• The consolidation of co-packers leading us to increasingly rely on fewer co-packing groups, certain of which account for a 

large percentage of our co-packing capacity for our Monster Energy® drinks; 
• The impact of logistical issues and delays, including shortages of shipping containers and port of entry congestion; 
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• The human and economic consequences of a material reemergence of COVID-19, including new variants, as well as the 
measures that may be taken by governments and businesses (including the Company and its suppliers, bottlers/distributors, co­
packers, and other service providers) and the public at large to limit the spread of COVID-19, including, but not limited to, 
lockdowns, labor issues, delays, and/or decreased sponsorship, endorsement, sampling, and/or innovation activities, which may 
have an adverse impact on our business and operations; 

• We have extensive commercial arrangements with TCCC and, as a result, our future performance is substantially dependent on 
the success of our relationship with TCCC; 

• The impact of TCCC's bottlers/distributors distributing Coca-Cola brand energy drinks and possible reductions in the number 
of our SKUs carried by such bottlers/distributors and/or such bottlers/distributors imposing limitations on distributing new 
product SKUs; 

• The effect of TCCC being one of our significant stockholders and the potential divergence of TCCC's interests from those of 
our other stockholders; 

• Our ability to maintain relationships with TCCC system bottlers/distributors and manage their ongoing commitment to focus on 
our non-alcohol products; 

" Disruption in distribution channels and/or decline in sales due to the termination and/or insolvency of existing and/or new 
domestic and/or international bottlers/distributors; 

• Lack of anticipated demand for our products in domestic and/or international markets; 
• Fluctuations in our inventory levels or those of our bottlers/distributors, planned or otherwise, and the resultant impact on our 

revenues; 
• Unfavorable regulations, including taxation, age restrictions imposed on the sale, purchase, or consumption of our products, 

marketing restrictions, product registration requirements, tariffs, trade restrictions, container size limitations and/or ingredient 
restrictions; 

• The effect of inquiries from, and/or actions by, state attorneys general, the Federal Trade Commission (the "FTC"), the Food 
and Drug Administration (the "FDA"), the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (the "ATF"), municipalities, 
city attorneys, other government agencies, quasi-government agencies, government officials (including members of U.S. 
Congress) and/or analogous central and local agencies and other authorities in the foreign countries in which our products are 
manufactured and/or distributed, into the advertising, marketing, promotion, ingredients, sale and/or consumption of our 
products, including voluntary and/or required changes to our business practices; 

" Our ability to comply with laws, regulations and evolving industry standards regarding consumer privacy and data use and 
security, including, but not limited to, with respect to the General Data Protection Regulation and the California Consumer 
Privacy Act of 2018; 

• Our ability to achieve profitability and/or repatriate cash from certain of our operations outside the United States; 
• Our ability to manage legal and regulatory requirements in foreign jurisdictions, potential difficulties in staffing and managing 

foreign operations and potentially higher incidence of fraud or corruption and credit risk of foreign customers and/or 
bottlers/distributors; 

• Changes in U.S. tax laws as a result of any legislation proposed by the U.S. Presidential Administration or U.S. Congress, 
which may include efforts to change or repeal the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and the federal corporate income tax rate 
reduction; 

o Our ability to produce our products in international markets in which they are sold, thereby reducing freight costs and/or 
product damages; 

e Our ability to effectively manage our inventories and/or our accounts receivables; 
• Our foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to our sales, expenses, profits, assets and liabilities denominated in 

currencies other than the U.S. dollar, which will continue to increase as foreign sales increase; 
o The long-term impact of the United Kingdom's departure from the European Union (or "Brexit"); 
o Changes in accounting standards may affect our reported profitability; 
11 Implications of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development's base erosion and profit shifting project; 
o Any proceedings which may be brought against us by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), the FDA, the 

FTC, the ATF or other governmental agencies or bodies; 
• The outcome and/or possibility of future shareholder derivative actions or shareholder securities litigation that may be filed 

against us and/or against certain of our officers and directors, and the possibility of other private shareholder litigation; 
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• The outcome of product liability or consumer fraud litigation and/or class action litigation (or its analog in foreign jurisdictions) 
regarding the safety of our products and/or the ingredients in and/or claims made in connection with our products and/or 
alleging false advertising, marketing and/or promotion, and the possibility of future product liability and/or class action 
lawsuits; 

• Exposure to significant liabilities due to litigation, legal or regulatory proceedings, including litigation directed at the energy 
and alcohol beverage industries generally or at the Company in particular; 

• Intellectual property injunctions; 
., Unfavorable resolution of possible tax matters; 
• Uncertainty and volatility in the domestic and global economies, including risk of counterparty default or failure; 
" Our ability to address any significant deficiencies or material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting; 
• Our ability to continue to generate sufficient cash flows to support our expansion plans and general operating activities; 
" Decreased demand for our products resulting from changes in consumer preferences, including, but not limited to: changes in 

demand for different packages, sizes and configurations; changes due to perceived health concerns such as obesity, ingredients 
in our products or packaging, and alcohol abuse; changes due to product safety concerns and/or changes due to decreased 
consumer discretionary spending power; 

" Adverse publicity surrounding obesity, alcohol consumption, and other health concerns related to our products, product safety 
and quality, water usage, environmental impact and sustainability, human rights, our culture, workforce and labor and 
workplace laws; 

., Our ability to meet or comply with sustainability-related expectations, standards, and regulations, including forthcoming 
rules set forth by the SEC and European Commission; 

" Changes in demand that are weather or season related and/or for other reasons, including changes in product category and/or 
package consumption and changes in cost and availability of certain key ingredients including aluminum cans, as well as 
disruptions to the supply chain, as a result of climate change and poor or extreme weather conditions; 

" The impact of unstable political conditions, civil unrest, large scale terrorist acts, the outbreak or escalation of armed hostilities, 
major natural disasters and extreme weather conditions, or widespread outbreaks of infectious diseases (such as the COVID-19 
pandemic), or unforeseen economic and political changes and local or international catastrophic events; 

o The impact on our business of competitive products and pricing pressures and our ability to increase or maintain our market 
share as a result of actions by competitors, including unsubstantiated and/or misleading claims, false advertising claims and 
tortious interference, as well as competitors selling misbranded products; 

• The impact on our business of trademark and trade dress infringement proceedings brought against us relating to any of our 
brands, which could result in an injunction barring us from selling certain of our products and/or require changes to be made to 
our current trade dress; 

• Our abi]ity to implement and/or maintain price increases, including through reductions in promotional allowances; 
• An inability to achieve volume growth through product and packaging initiatives; 
• Our ability to sustain the current level of sales and/or achieve growth for our Monster Energy® brand energy drinks and/or our 

other products, including our Strategic Brands and Alcohol Brands; 
• Our ability to implement our growth strategy, including expanding our business in existing and new sectors, such as the alcohol 

beverage sector; 
" The inherent operational risks presented by the alcohol beverage industry that may not be adequately covered by insurance or 

lead to litigation relating to alcohol marketing, advertising, or distribution practices, alcohol abuse problems and other health 
consequences arising from excessive consumption of or other misuse of alcohol, including death; 

• Our i~ability to transition distribution agreements in our Alcohol Brands segment and/or the impact of higher costs to change 
distributors for our alcohol beverages; 

" The impact of criticism of our products and/or the energy drink and/or alcohol beverage markets generally and/or legislation 
enacted (whether as a result of such criticism or otherwise) that restricts the marketing or sale of energy drinks and/or alcohol 
beverages (including prohibiting the sale of energy and/or alcohol drinks at certain establishments or pursuant to certain 
governmental programs), limits caffeine or alcohol content in beverages, requires certain product labeling disclosures and/or 
warnings, imposes excise and/or sales taxes, limits product sizes and/or imposes age restrictions for the sale of energy and/or 
alcohol drinks; 

• Our ability to comply with and/or resulting lower consumer demand and/or lower profit margins for energy drinks and/or 
alcohol beverages due to proposed and/or future U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations and/or proposed or existing 
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laws and regulations in certain foreign jurisdictions and/or any changes therein, including changes in taxation requirements 
(including tax rate changes, new tax laws, new and/or increased excise, sales and/or other taxes on our products and revised tax 
law interpretations) and environmental laws, as well as the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and regulations or rules made 
thereunder or in connection therewith by the FDA. In addition, our business may be adversely impacted by changes in other 
food, drug or similar laws in the United States and internationally, especially those changes that may restrict the sale of energy 
and/or alcohol drinks (including prohibiting the sale of energy and/or alcohol drinks at certain establishments or pursuant to 
certain governmental programs), limit caffeine or alcohol content in beverages, require certain product labeling disclosures 
and/or warnings, impose excise taxes, impose sugar taxes, limit product sizes, or impose age restrictions for the sale of energy 
and/or alcohol drinks, as well as laws and regulations or rules made or enforced by the ATF and/or the FTC or their foreign 
counterparts; 

e Disruptions in the timely import or export of our products and/or ingredients including flavors, flavor ingredients and 
supplement ingredients due to port congestion, strikes and related labor issues or otherwise; 

• Our ability to satisfy all criteria set forth in any model energy and/or alcohol drink guidelines, including, without limitation, 
those adopted by the American Beverage Association, of which we are a member, and/or any international beverage 
associations and the impact of our failure to satisfy such guidelines may have on our business; 

e The effect of unfavorable or adverse public relations, press, articles, comments and/or media attention; 
• Changes in the cost, quality and availability of containers, packaging materials, aluminum cans or kegs, the Midwest and other 

premiums, raw materials, including flavors and flavor ingredients, and other ingredients and juice concentrates, and our ability 
to obtain and/or maintain favorable supply arrangements and relationships and procure timely and/or sufficient production of all 
or any of our products to meet customer demand; 

o Any shortages that may be experienced in the procurement of containers and/or other raw materials including, without 
limitation, water, flavors, flavor ingredients, supplement ingredients, aluminum cans generally, PET containers used for our 
Monster Hydro® energy drinks, 24-ounce aluminum cap cans, 19.2-ounce cans and 550ml BRE aluminum cans with resealable 
ends; 

• Limitations in procuring sufficient quantities of aluminum cans; 
• In order to secure sufficient quantities of aluminum cans and sufficient co-packing availability in the future, we may be required 

to commit to minimum purchase volumes and/or minimum co-packing volumes. In the event that we over-estimate future 
demand for our products and therefore may not purchase such minimum quantities in full, or utilize such minimum co-packing 
volumes in full, we may incur claims and/or costs or losses in respect of such shortfalls; 

• The impact on our cost of sales of corporate activity among the limited number of suppliers from whom we purchase certain 
raw materials; 

• Our ability to pass on to our customers all or a portion of any increases in the costs of raw materials, ingredients, commodities 
and/or other cost inputs affecting our business; 

• Our ability to penetrate new domestic and/or international markets and/or gain approval or mitigate the delay in securing 
approval for the sale of our products in various countries; 

• The effectiveness of sales and/or marketing efforts by us and/or by the bottlers/distributors of our products, most of whom 
distribute products that may be regarded as competitive with our products; 

• Unilateral decisions .by bottlers/distributors, buying groups, convenience and gas chains, grocery chains, mass merchandisers, 
specialty chain stores, e-commerce retailers, e-commerce websites, club stores and other customers to discontinue carrying all 
or any of our products that they are carrying at any time, restrict the range of our products they carry, impose restrictions or 
limitations on the sale of our products and/or the sizes of containers of our products and/or devote less resources to the sale of 
our products; 

• The impact of certain activities by competitors and others to persuade regulators and/or retailers and/or customers in certain 
countries to reduce the permitted or maximum container sizes for _our products from those currently being sold and marketed by 
us; 

e The impact of possible trading disputes between our bottler/distributors and their customers and/or one or more buying groups 
which may result in the delisting of certain of the Company products, temporarily or otherwise; 

• The effects of retailer consolidation on our business and our ability to successfully adapt to the rapidly changing retail 
landscape, including, but not limited to, competition from new entrants, consolidations by competitors and retailers, and other 
competitive activities; 

• Our ability to adapt to the changing retail landscape with the rapid growth in e-commerce retailers; 
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• The effects of bottler/distributor consolidation on our business; 
• The costs and/or effectiveness, now or in the future, of our sponsorships and endorsements, marketing and promotional 

strategies; 
• The success of our sports marketing, social media and other general marketing endeavors both domestically and internationally; 
• Possible product recalls and/or reformulations of certain of our products and/or market withdrawals of certain of our products 

due to defective and/or non-compliant formulas or production in one or more jurisdictions; 
• The failure of our bottlers and/or co-packers to manufacture our products on a timely basis or at all; 
,. Our ability to make suitable arrangements and/or procure sufficient capacity for the co-packing of any of our products both 

domestically and internationally, the timely replacement of discontinued co-packing arrangements and/or limitations on co­
packing availability, including for retort production; 

• Our ability to make suitable arrangements for the timely procurement of non-defective raw materials; 
• Our inability to protect and/or the loss of our intellectual .property rights and/or our inability to use our trademarks, trade names 

or designs and/or trade dress in certain countries; 
• Volatility of stock prices which may restrict stock sales, stock purchases or other opportunities as well as negatively impact the 

motivation of equity award grantees; 
• Provisions in our organizational documents and/or control by insiders which may prevent changes in control even if such 

changes would be beneficial to other stockholders; 
• Any disruption in and/or lack of effectiveness of our information technology systems, including a breach of cyber security, that 

disrupts our business or negatively impacts customer relationships, as well as cybersecurity incidents involving data shared with 
third parties; and 

• Succession plans for and/or the recruitment and retention of senior management, other key employees and our employee base in 
general. 

The foregoing list of important factors and other risks detailed from time to time in our reports filed with the SEC is not 
exhaustive. See the section entitled "Risk Factors" in our Form 10-K and in Item lA of this Quarterly Report for a more complete 
discussion of these risks and uncertainties and for other risks and uncertainties. Those factors and the other risk factors described therein 
are not necessarily all of the important factors that could cause actual results or developments to differ materially from those expressed in 
any of our forward-looking statements. Other unknown or unpredictable factors also could harm our results. Consequently, our actual 
results could be materially different from the results described or anticipated by our forward-looking statements, due to the inherent 
uncertainty of estimates, forecasts and projections and may be better or worse than anticipated. Given these uncertainties, you should not 
rely on forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date that they 
were made. We expressly disclaim any duty to provide updates to forward-looking statements, and the estimates and assumptions 
associated with them; after the date of this report, in order to reflect changes in circumstances or expectations or the occurrence of 
unanticipated events except to the extent required by applicable securities laws. 

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

There have been no material changes in our market risks during the three-months ended September 30, 2023 compared with the 
disclosures in Part II, Item 7 A of our Form 10-K. 
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures - Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's 
management, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of the design 
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the 
end of the period covered by this report. Based upon this evaluation, the Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer have 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are adequate and effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in 
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in rules and forms of the SEC and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including its principal executive and 
principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting - There were no changes in the Company's internal controls over 
financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2023, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 

ITEM!. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements - Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies: Litigation in Part I, Item 1, of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

ITEMlA. RISK FACTORS 

In addition to the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes, you 
should carefully consider the risks discussed in "Part I, Item lA- Risk Factors" in our Form 10-K. If any of these risks occur or continue 
to occur, our business, reputation, financial condition and/or operating results could be materially adversely affected. We also note that 
the risk factors described in this report and our Form 10-K are not the only risks facing our Company, and such additional risks or 
uncertainties that we currently deem to be immaterial or are unknown to us could negatively impact our business, operations, or financial 
results. 

ITEM2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS 

On June 14, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for the purchase of up to $500.0 
million of the Company's outstanding common stock (the "June 2022 Repurchase Plan"). During the three-months ended September 30, 
2023, the Company purchased approximately 3.3 million shares of common stock at an average purchase price of $55.52 per share for a 
total amount of approximately $182.8 million (excluding broker commissions), which exhausted the availability under the June 2022 
Repurchase Plan. 

On November 2, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for the purchase of up to an 
additional $500.0 million of the Company's outstanding common stock (the "November 2022 Repurchase Plan"). During the three­
months ended September 30, 2023, the Company purchased approximately 4.0 million shares of common stock at an average purchase 
price of $54.26 per share, for a total amount of approximately $217.1 million (excluding broker commissions), under the November 2022 
Repurchase Plan. As of November 6, 2023, $282.8 million remained available for repurchase under the November 2022 Repurchase 
Plan. 

The aggregate amount of the Company's outstanding common stock that remains available for repurchase under all previously 
authorized repurchase plans is $282.8 million as of November 6, 2023. 

The following tabular summary reflects the Company's repurchase activity during the quarter ended September 30, 2023: 

Period 
Jul 1- Jul _31, 2023 
Aug 1 - Aug 31, 2023 
Sep 1- Sep 30,2023 

1Excluding broker commissions paid. 
2Net of broker commissions paid. 

Total Number 
of Shares Average Price 
Purchased per Share' 

$ 
$ 

7,293,834 $ 54.83 -

56 

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 
as Part of Publicly 
Announced Plans 

or Programs 

Maximum Number ( or 
Approximate Dollar 
Value) of Shares that 

May Yet Be Purchased 

$ 

Under the Plans or 
Programs (In 
thousands)' 

$ 
7,29_3.,834 _ $ • 

682,838 .. 
682,838 
_282,838 
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During the three-months ended September 30, 2023, 135 shares of common stock were purchased from employees in lieu of 
cash payments for options exercised or withholding taxes due for a total amount of $7,688. While such purchases are considered 
common stock repurchases, they are not counted as purchases against the Company's authorized share repurchase programs. Such shares 
are included in common stock in treasury in the s1ccompanying consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2023. 

ITEM3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES 

None. 

ITEM4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 

ITEMS. OTHER INFORMATION 

During the three-months ended September 30, 2023, none of the Company's directors or officers adopted, modified or 
terminated a Rule 1Db5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 1Db5-1 trading arrangement (each as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). 
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS 

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the ComPfil)y_(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our 
Form 8-K dated June 27, 2023). 

3.2 Third Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company_(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Form 8-K dated June 
27, 2023). 

31.1 * Certification by Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13A-14(!!) or 15D-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,. 
as adoJ)ted P-ursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

31.2* Certification by Co-Chief Executive Officer Jlursuant to Rule 13A-14(!!) or 15D-14(!!) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as adopted Jlursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

31.3* Certification by Chief Financial Officer Jlursuant to Rule 13A-14(a) or 15D-14(!!) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,...illi 
adoJ)ted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ' 

32.1 * Certification by Co-Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoJ)ted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.2* Certification by Co-Chief Executive Officer Jlursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Jlursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.3* Certification by Chief Financial Officer Jlursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted JlUrsuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

101 * The following financial information from Monster Beverage Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended September 30, 2023, formatted in iXBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the 
three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income for the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of 
Stockholders' Equity for the three- and nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, (v) Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows for the nine-months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, and (vi) the Notes to Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

104* The cover page from Monster Beverage Corporation's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 
2023, formatted in iXBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language) and contained in Exhibit 101. 

* Filed herewith 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Date: November 6, 2023 

Date: November 6, 2023 

MONSTER BEVERAGE CORPORATION 
Registrant 

/s/ RODNEY C. SACKS 
Rodney C. Sacks 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and Co-Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ HILTON H. SCHLOSBERG 
Hilton H. Schlosberg 
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(a) OR 15D-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE 

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Rodney Sacks, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Monster Beverage Corporation; 

EXIIlBIT 31.1 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement .of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors ( or persons performing the equivalent 
function): 
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Date: 

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

November 6, 2023 /s/ Rodney C. Sacks 
Rodney C. Sacks 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(a) OR 15D-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE 

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Hilton Schlosberg, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Monster Beverage Corporation; 

EXIIlBIT 31.2 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this· report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and lSd-lS(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and lSd-15(£)) for the registrant and have: 

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
function): 
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Date: 

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

November 6, 2023 /s/ Hilton H. Schlosberg 
Hilton H. Schlosberg 
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive 
Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(a) OR 15D-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE 

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Thomas Kelly, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Monster Beverage Corporation; 

EXIflBIT 31.3 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated, subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors ( or persons performing the equivalent 
function): 
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Date: 

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

November 6, 2023 /s/ Thomas J. Kelly 
Thomas J. Kelly 
Chief Financial Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

EXHIBIT 32.1 

In connection with the quarterly report of Monster Beverage Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), the undersigned, Rodney C. Sacks, Chairman 
of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

Date: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

November 6, 2023 Isl Rodney C. Sacks 
Rodney C. Sacks 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and Co-Chief Executive Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

EXIIlBIT 32.2 

In connection with the quarterly report of Monster Beverage Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), the undersigned, Hilton H. Schlosberg, Vice 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar banes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

Date: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

November 6, 2023 /s/ Hilton H. Schlosberg 
Hilton H. Schlosberg 
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive 
Officer 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

EXHIBIT 32.3 

In connection with the quarterly report of Monster Beverage Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), the undersigned, Thomas J. Kelly, Chief 
Financial Offic'er of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that: 

Date: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

November 6, 2023 Isl Thomas J. Kelly 
Thomas J. Kelly 
Chief Financial Officer 

Case 22-17842-PDR    Doc 2806-3    Filed 02/13/25    Page 69 of 69


